

# Assessment of Immunological Responses to Tumour Antigens Relevant to the Development of Therapeutic Cancer Vaccines

Thesis submitted by

## Shraddha Rane

То

The Nottingham Trent University In the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

April 2015

#### **Copyright statement**

This work is the intellectual property of the author. You may copy up to 5% of this work for private study, or personal, non-commercial research. Any re-use of the information contained within this document should be fully referenced, quoting the author, title, university, degree level and pagination. Queries or requests for any other use, or if a more substantial copy is required, should be directed in the owner(s) of the Intellectual Property Rights.

*This thesis is dedicated to both of my grandfathers, Mr. Keshav Rane (12<sup>th</sup> Dec, 1915-4<sup>th</sup> June, 2003) and Mr. Rajaram Palande (17<sup>th</sup> Feb, 1932-9<sup>th</sup> July, 2002).* 

#### Acknowledgement

This PhD project was kindly funded by the John and Lucille van Geest foundation and all the work was undertaken at the John van Geest cancer research centre. To begin with, I would like to thank Prof. Robert Rees for his constant support and guidance throughout the course of PhD. A big thanks to Dr. Stéphanie McArdle for her constant support, invaluable knowledge, guidance and being there for literally everything. A special thanks to Dr. David Boocock, first for joining my supervisory team and for his valuable guidance and support.

I would like to thank Prof. Graham Ball for his help with statistical analysis of the data; Prof. Graham Pockley for his valued guidance during the course of my PhD; Dr. Murrium Ahmad, Andy Marr and Daniel McDonald for their help with animal work; Steve Reeder for his help and support in the lab management, Pearl Whitehall for all the help throughout, Dr. Morgan Mathieu for his guidance in the beginning of my PhD and all the staff of JvGCRC and NTU for their constant support. I would like to extend my thanks to all of my lovely fellow PhDs- Jaimy, Izhar, Susan, Devika, Suman, Bader, Yvonne, Jay, Izhar, Gopal, Graham, Vinaya, Matt, Simon, Divya, Magda for the support and all the fun we had in and outside the lab.

I would also like to thank my (to be) in laws for their support and patience during my thesis write up. A special thanks to the love of my life, my husband to be, Deepak for his patience, encouragement and for being there through thick and thin. I am indebted to my Mummy, Pappa and my brother, Sagar, for loving and supporting me, for having faith in my faith...letting me fly across the boundaries in spite of all the hurdles. This PhD is yours Mummy-Pappa as much as it's mine, although in different countries, we lived through it together.

I would like to thank Almighty for guiding me through difficult time (and keeping me sane most

of the times <sup>()</sup>, and for blessing me with a wonderful life.

#### Contents

Figures Tables Abbreviations

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Cancer	1
1.2 What is cancer?	1
1.3 Causes of cancer	2
1.3.1 Environmental carcinogens	3
1.3.2 Infectious pathogens	3
1.3.3 Disruption of epigenetic processes	4
1.4 Genetics of cancer	5
1.4.1 Proto-oncogenes and oncogenes	6
1.4.2 Tumour Suppressor Genes (TSG) and inhibition of tumour suppression	9
1.5 p53, the guardian of genome and executioner: an ideal candidate for cancer immunotherapy	
1.5.1 Mutations in <i>p</i> 53	
1.6 The immune system and cancer	
1.6.1 Adaptive and Innate immunity and cancer	
1.6.2 The humoral response	
1.6.3 The cell mediated response	
1.6.4 MHC and antigen presentation (exogenous and endogenous pathways)	
1.6.5 Hard and soft loss of MHCs	
1.6.6 Immune evasion/immune suppression	
1.7 The prostate gland and cancer	
1.7.1 Anatomy and physiology of prostate gland	
1.7.2 Prostate cancer and its diagnosis	
1.7.4 Conventional cancer treatments	
1.7.4.1 Chemotherapy	42
1.7.4.2 Radiotherapy	42
1.7.4.3 Surgery	43
1.7.4.4 Hormonal therapy	43
1.7.5 Current treatments for PrCa and their limitations	
1.7.6 Immunotherapy for PrCa	
1.7.6.1 PrCa vaccines	
1.7.6.1.1 Approaches to PrCa vaccine therapy	44
1.8 Boosting immune responses: adjuvants and agonists	54
1.9 Aims of the research	58
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	59
2.1 Materials	59
2.1.1 Reagents	59

2.1.2 Media:-Culture media was prepared and used within a month	60
2.1.3 Materials for Flow Cytometry:	61
(i) Permeabilisation solution: Fixation solution:	61
(ii) FACS buffer:	61
2.1.4 ELISpot Assay Reagents	
( <i>i</i> ) Kits	62
(ii) Buffers for ELISpot assay	62
2.1.5 ELISA	63
2.1.6 Materials for CTL Assays	
(i) Radio-isotope for CTL release Assay	63
(ii) Radio-isotope for Proliferation Assay	63
2.1.7 P53 sequences	
2.1.7.1 Human p53 sequence, accession #P04637	
2.1.7.2 Mouse p53 sequence, accession # P02340	65
2.1.8 Peptides	
2.2: Methods	67
2.2.1 Peptides	67
2.2.2 Animals	
2.2.3 Cell lines	67
2.2.4 Immunisations	69
2.2.4.1 Peptide immunisation procedure	69
2.2.4.2 Gene Gun immunisation procedure	
2.2.4.3 Plasmid (IB-p53)	
2.2.4.4 Spio-peptide immunisation	
2.2.5 IFNγ ELISpot assay	
2.2.6 Flow cytometry	
2.2.7 Immunofluorescence	
2.2.8 Human PBMCs	
2.2.8.1 Ex vivo ELISpot assay	
2.2.0.2 ELISpoi assay after in vitro sumulation	
2.2.9 Cillolliulli Release Assay	
(i) Constant of muting CTL s	
(i) Generation of murine CTLS	
(II) PDMCS	
2.2.9.2 Target cells	
2.2.9.5 Maximum and spontaneous release	
2.2.10 Promeration of APCs [Ports manney dominal Day drifts Calls (PMDCs) consustion]	//
2.2.10.1 Preparation of APCs [Bone marrow aerived Denaritic Cells (BMDCs) generation]	
2.2.10.2 In vitro peptide re-sitmulation of splenocytes	
2.2.10.3 Proliferation assay	
2.2.10.3.1 Murine splenocytes and peptide pulsed BMDCs proliferation	
2.2.10.3.2 PBMCs proliferation assay in response to p53 class II peptides	
CHAPTER 3: P53 PEPTIDE SCREENING AND THE MUTANTS OF INTEREST, 175 AND 27	3 81
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Differences in the two categories of the p53 mutants	
3.3 Rationale of the study	
3.4 Results	
3.4.1 Murine and human p53 protein sequence homology	

<ul> <li>3.4.2 Identification of immunogenic p53 peptides <i>in silico</i> using syfpeithi algorithm</li> <li>3.4.3 Assessment of immunogenicity of the p53 peptides in the HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mic 3.4.3.1 Assessment of immunogenicity of selected p53 peptides in the HHDII/DR1 double transgenic mice immunised with p53-175 cDNA</li> </ul>	87 e 88 <i>K/O</i> 91
3.4.3.2 Assessment of immunogenicity of selected p53 peptides in HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/C immunised with p53-273 cDNA	) <i>mice</i> 94
3.5 Discussion	98
CHAPTER 4: P53 AS A POTENTIAL CANDIDATE FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY	104
4.1 Introduction	104
4.1.1 Development of a vaccination strategy	104
4.1.1.1 Anti-CD40 antibody and CpG agonist combination as an adjuvant for T-cell activation	107
4.2 Rationale of the study	109
4.3 Results	109
4.3.1 Development of the tumour model	109
4.3.1.1 The MC38 murine colon carcinoma as a model for immunotherapy	109
4.3.2.2 Development of an immunisation strategy using anti-CD-40 antibody and a TLR agonist: in v	vitro
immune responses	120
4.3.3 In vivo immunotherapy model	127
4.3.3.1 Boost can be detrimental in the therapy model	127
4.3.3.2 Comparison of the p53 peptide therapy with/without CpG and/or anti-CD40 antibody in the i	n vivo
tumour models	132
4.4 Discussion	135
OH A DEED 5. A SCREEMENT OF IMMUNICCENTICITY OF THE SET FOTED D52 DEDTIDES IN 7	
PROSTATE CANCER PATIENT PBMCS	пне 141
5.1 Introduction	141
	142
5.2 Rationale of the study:	143
5.3 Patient details	144
5.4 Assessment of PSA	147
5.5 ELISpot performed with freshly thawed PBMCs stimulated with class I and class II p53 peptides	148
5.6 Stimulation of PBMCs in vitro and assessment of immune response: <sup>51</sup> Cr release (cytotoxicity), <sup>3</sup> Thymidine incorporation assays	H 151
5.7 Assessment of regulatory T-cells in PrCa patient PBMCs	153
5.8 Discussion	157
CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION	161
6.1 Immunotherapy for prostate cancer: general considerations and current status	161

6.2 p53 peptide-based immunotherapy	164
6.3 The p53 peptide repertoire is dependent on the site of mutation	165
<b>6.4 Enhancing the immunogenicity of the peptides</b>	<b> 167</b> 168
6.5 Booster immunisation can be detrimental for overall survival in a therapeutic setting	170
6.6 Peptide specific PrCa patient immune responses to p53	171
6.7 Conclusion and future work	173
REFERENCES	175
APPENDIX I	205
APPENDIX II	207
APPENDIX III	208

Figures
Figure 1.1. Causes of cancer
Figure 1.2. Proto-oncogenes when mutated to oncogenes gives rise to cancerous cell growth with the help of hyperactive growth promoting protein
<i>Figure 1.3. Conversion of normal cell into cancerous cell due to transforming retroviruses.</i> <i>Diagrammatic</i>
Figure 1.4. Functions of p53 in the cell cycle
<i>Figure 1.5. p53 mediated signal transduction pathway. In the presence of transcription factor protein that</i>
Figure 1.6. Diagrammatic representation of different types of cells involved in induction of immune responses against invaders
Figure 1.7. The overview of the two arms of the imuune system
Figure 1.8. Structure of MHC class I and MHC class II molecules
Figure 1.9. Exogenous and endogenous antigen processing pathways
Figure 1.10. The structure of the prostate gland
Figure 1.11. Gleason grade scoring of PrCa tissue section
Figure 1.12. Stages of prostate cancer. (Figure adapted from www.bladdrecontrol.com) 40
<i>Figure 2.1. BM-DC isolation and culture</i>
Figure 2.2. Bone marrow derived cells under 10x/0.25 and 20x/0.40 magnification
Figure 3.1. p53 hotspot mutations
<i>Figure 3.2. Homology between human and murine p53 sequences</i>
Figure 3.3. Schematic representation of the experimental design
Figure 3.4. The IFN <sub>γ</sub> response obtained ex vivo from splenocytes of the mice immunised with p53-175 cDNA using gene gun
Figure 3.5. The IFNy response obtained from splenocytes (of the mice immunised with p53- 175 cDNA using gene gun) after in vitro stimulation with peptides for 5 days
Figure 3.6. The IFN $\gamma$ response obtained ex vivo from the splenocytes from the mice immunised with p53-273 cDNA using gene
gun

Figure 3.7. The IFNy response obtained after in vitro stimulation from the splenocytes of the mice immunised with p53-273cDNA using gene gun
Figure 4.1. Schematic representation of the ImmunoBody vector
Figure 4.2. p53 and H-2K <sup>b</sup> expression in MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells
Figure 4.3. p53 expression in MC38 murine colon carcinoma tumour sections112
Figure 4.4. Determination of the tumour growth rate using MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells in C57BL/6 mice
Figure 4.5. Comparison between two methods of immunisations, peptide and immunobody immunisation
Figure 4.6. Comparison between two methods of immunistaions, peptide and immunobody immunisation after in vitro stimulation of splenocytes
Figure 4.7. Comparison between two methods of immunisations, peptide and spio immunisation
Figure 4.8. Comparison of IFNy response obtained from the groups of mice immunised with spio-peptides with/without IFA in PBS after in vitro stimulation of splenocytes
Figure 4.9. p53 peptide based immunotherapy strategies
Figure 4.10. Schematic representation of the immunisation regime and experiments performed ex vivo and after in vitro stimulation. Figure 4.11. Comparison of IFN $\gamma$ response obtained using ELISpot assay performed ex vivo immediately after splenectomy for mice immunised with different immunisation strategies
Figure 4.11. Comparison of IFNy response obtained using ELISpot assay performed ex vivo immediately after splenectomy for mice immunised with different immunisation strategies123
Figure 4.12. Comparison of IFNy response obtained using the ELISpot assay performed after in vitro peptide stimulation of splenocytes from mice immunised with p53 peptides and/or immune adjuvants
Figure 4.13. Comparison of percent cytotoxicity assay performed after in vitro peptide stimulation of the splenocytes from the group of mice immunised with anti-CD-40 and CpG TLR agonist with p53 peptides strategy
Figure 4.14. Comparison of IFNy response obtained using ELISpot assay and counts per minute using the ${}^{3}H$ thymidine incorporation proliferation in response to in vitro peptide stimulation of the splenocytes from the groups of mice immunised with different immunisation/treatment strategies

Figure 4.15. Schematic representation of the therapy experiment with immunisations at different time points
Figure 4.16. The survival curves obtained from the mice treated with the developed vaccine given at different time points
Figure 4.17. The percentage of the tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs)
Figure 4.18. Comparison of tumour growth in the groups of mice treated with different immunisation regimes
Figure 5.1. Schematic representation of the experimental design using PrCa patient PBMC
Figure 5.2. 1The PSA level of the patients selected for the study
Figure 5.3. Represents the IFNy response obtained using ELISpot assay
Figure 5.4. The immune responses obtained following the in vitro stimulation of PrCa patient PBMCs
Figure 5.5. The percentage of regulatory T-cells present in the PrCa patient PBMCs 155

Tables           Table 1.1. Viral infections causing cancer in humans
Table 1.2. Tumour suppressor genes and types of cancer induced
Table 1.3. p53 targeting cancer vaccines    18
Table 1.4. The prostate cancer immunotherapy clinical trials currently ongoing
Table 1.5. List of potential adjuvants
Table 1.6. TLR agonists approved by FDA for use in humans    56
Table 2.1 Reagents   59
Table 2.2. Cell line and culture media
Table 2.3. Antibodies for flow cytometry    62
Table 2.4. Laboratory plastic ware, glassware and sharps
Table 2.5. Electrical Equipments    64
Table 2.6. p53 class I and class II peptide sequences
Table 2.7. Cell line and culture media
Table 3.1. Mutations in p53 amino acid positions and frequency of alteration in the top 6 "hotspot" mutations.83
Table 3.2. Common missense mutations at "hot spot" residues within the p53 gene sequence.
Table 3.3. Comparison of structure and some functions of p53 175 and 273 mutants
Table 3.4. 1p53 wt class I peptides grouped according to their HLA A-0201/H2-K <sup>b</sup> bindingscore88
Table 3.5. p53 class II peptides ranked according to their HLA-DR1 binding       88
Table 3.6. Summary of the total number of mice responding to p53-specific peptides in in vitroELISpot assays following immunisation with p53-175 cDNA.94

#### Tahl

<i>Table 3.7. Summary of the frequency of IFNy ELISpot response following immunisation with p53-273 cDNA</i>	98
Table 5.1. Clinical data of the prostate cancer patients used in this study	16
Table 5.2. Summary of the immune assays performed using PrCa PBMCs stimulated with p5class I and class II peptides	3 56

### Abbreviations

TAA	Tumour Associated Antigens
PrCa	Prostate Cancer
PVP	Poly venyl pyrolidin
ACT	Adoptive cell transfer
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
APC	Antigen-presenting cells
AZAC	5'-aza-2'-deoxycytidine
BM-DC	Bone marrow-derived dendritic cells
CAF	Cancer associated fibroblast
CDC	Complement dependent cytotoxicity
CDRs	Complementarity determining regions
CEA	Carcinoembryonic antigen
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CLIP	Class II-associated invariant peptide
CML	Chronic myeloid leukaemia
CRPC	Castration resistant PC
СТ	Cancer/testis antigens
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
DC	Dendritic cells
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DRE	Digital Rectal Examination

DRiPs	Defective ribosomal products
DTH	Delayed-type hypersensitivity
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EP	Electroporation
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor
HAGE	Helicase antigen
HAMA	Human-anti-mouse antibody responses
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HPV	Human papillomavirus
HSC	Haematopoietic stem cells
HSP	Heat shock protein
HSV	Herpes simplex virus
HTLV	Human T cell leukaemia virus
IB	Immunobody
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin

IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL	Interleukin
IL-2	Interleukin-2
ITAM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
LAK cells	Lymphokine-activated killer cells
LCM	Laser capture microdissection
LCMV	Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
LHRH	Leuteinising Hormone Releasing Hormone
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
mAbs	Monoclonal antibodies
MDSC	Myeloid-derived suppressor cells
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MICA/B	MHC class I related protein A/B
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
NK	Natural killer cells
NKG2D	NK cell activating receptor
OCT	Optimal Cutting Temperature
PAP	Prostatic acid phosphatase
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PrCa	Prostate cancer
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PI	Propidium iodide
Poly.I.C	Polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid
PSA	Prostate-specific antigen

PSCA	Prostate stem cell antigen
PSMA	Prostate-specific membrane antigen
Rb	Retinoblastoma
RER	Rough endoplasmic reticulum
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RRP	Radical retropubic prostatectomy
RT	Room temperature
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEREX	Serological analysis of recombinant cDNA expression libraries
SiRNA	Small interfering RNA
STEAP1	Six-transmembrane epithelial antigen of the prostate 1
TAA	Tumour-associated antigens
TAM	Tumour-associated macrophages
TAP	Transporter-associated protein
TARP	T cell receptor gamma alternate reading frame protein
TBC	Total blood cells
Тс	Cytotoxic T cells
T <sub>CM</sub>	Central memory T cells
TCR	T cell receptor
TEM	Effector memory T cells
TGFb	Transforming growth factor b
Th	T helper lymphocytes

TIL	Tumour infiltrating lymphocytes	
TLR	Toll-like receptor	
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor	
TRAMP	Transgenic adenocarcinoma of mouse prostate	
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand	
Treg	T Regulatory cells	
Trp-1	Tyrosinase-related protein-1	
Trp-p8	Tyrosinase-related protein-8	
TSG	Tumour-suppressor genes	
TUMAP	Tumour-associated peptide	
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor	
VitE	Vitamin E	

#### Abstract

P53 protein that has been referred to as the "guardian of genome". It acts to suppress tumour development through mechanisms involving cell cycle arrest, DNA repair, senescence and apoptosis. Loss of the tumour-suppressive activity in p53 is a frequent event, occurring in more than 50% of all types of human cancers, mostly via point mutations. This very common genetic event is often associated with trans-dominant suppression of the wild type (wt) p53 or gain of oncogenic function independent of the wt protein. A wide range of p53 mutations are frequently found in the "hot spot" region responsible for promoting carcinogenesis. In the current study, two mutations, located at amino-acid 175 and 273 of the protein, were selected due to the two opposite effects they have on the protein conformation. Indeed, mutation at position 175 linearises the protein completely whereas mutation at position 273 retains the 3D structure of the protein but abolishes the DNA binding site. In both cases the protein loses its tumour suppressor characteristic. We hypothesise that these two mutants will be processed differently and give rise to a different peptide repertoire but maybe with some peptides in common. Therefore, HHDII/DR1 mice were immunised with the cDNA of either of these mutants and responses against predicted peptides were assessed *ex-vivo* using ELISpot assays. Responses against p53-193-201 was shown to be mutation specific and was not therefore pursued. On the other hand responses against peptides p53-322-329 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) could be detected in both the groups and were chosen for further study. Importantly the sequence of these peptides are the same in both human and murine p53 sequences. A vaccination strategy was developed using anti-CD-40 antibody and CpG TLR agonist to enhance the immunogenicity of the selected p53 peptides in the *in vivo* system. The developed strategy successfully demonstrated prolonged survival of the MC38 (naturally express mutated p53) cell-induced tumour bearer C57BL/6 mice in therapeutic vaccination setting and was found to be associated with enhanced tumour-infiltrating CD8<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes (TILs).

Prostate cancer (PrCa) is one of the most predominant types of cancer in the UK male population with high morbidity and mortality. Although studied for a long time and having a FDA approved PrCa vaccine (PROVENGE<sup>®</sup>), due to limitations of the vaccine a robust, and patient specific treatment for PrCa still remains to be determined. P53 is found to be overexpressed and/or mutated in the PrCa and is associated with advanced stage of cancer and age of the patient. In the current study, p53-322-329 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides showed immunogenic responses in the patients with various grades of PrCa when assessed using different functional assays. Collectively, identified p53 class I and class II peptides appear to be highly relevant in the context of the PrCa vaccine development. Assessing the p53 mutation status in the cancer patient is essential in the development and success of the immunotherapy.

#### **Chapter 1 Introduction**

#### 1.1 Cancer

Cancer is one of the principal reasons of death worldwide (http://globocan.iarc.fr/pages/fact\_sheets\_cancer.aspx), which is projected to reach up to 12 million by 2030 (www.who.int/cancer/en). Number of deaths recorded in 2008 due to cancer were found to be more than AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria combined (www.who.int/cancer/en). According to Cancer Research UK statistics, 2010, it was reported that a total of 157,275 deaths from cancer occurred in the UK with 46% of deaths caused due to lung, colorectal, breast and prostate cancers.

#### 1.2 What is cancer?

Cancer was first described, in the latter half of nineteenth century and beginning of the twentieth century, as the conversion of normal cells, giving rise to descendant cells forming neoplastic tumour masses (Weinberg, 2007). Cancer is a complex disease in which normal cells no longer respond to the regulatory signals of cell proliferation, differentiation, survival and cell death leading to the accumulation of the cells within the tissue, where inflammation tissue occurs, causing damage (www.nature.com/subjects/cancer). These tumour can be local (benign and noninvasive) or malignant, leading to metastasis in later stages. Any cell type in the body is capable of undergoing malignant transformation (Zingade, 2001). Cancers are mainly of epithelial origin giving rise to carcinomas, which may be either squamous cell carcinomas (from protective cell layers) or adenocarcinomas (from secretory epithelia) (Bickers and Lowy, 1989). Non-epithelial malignant tumours include: hematopoietic cancers (originates from circulatory and immune system cells), sarcomas (from mesenchymal cells), neuroectodermal tumours (from nervous system components), and for some other types of tumours, a loss of tissue-specific characters give rise to anaplastic carcinomas (Preston-Martin *et al.*, 1990). Cancer progresses through various stages and grades from benign to metastatic. Benign tumours can be categorised into hyperplastic (normal tissue appearance but with abundant cell number) or metaplastic (displacement of normal cells mostly) and dysplastic tumours is a transition state between benign and malignant e.g., polyps, adenomas, warts, papillomas which are classified benign but cytologically abnormal cells present in the basement membrane sack-like structures. Malignant tumours spread beyond the boundaries and metastasise to the other body organs (Mahadevan and Hart, 1990). Studies carried out previously have proved that different components that may cause cancer, where transformation of a single cell into a cancer cell occurs due to genetic alteration as a result of physiological and/or environmental and /or genetic alterations (Baylin and Jones, 2011; Sharma *et al.*, 2010; Sandoval and Esteller, 2012).

#### 1.3 Causes of cancer

Induction of cancer involves alterations in the genome giving rise to uncontrolled cell proliferation, potential to "infect" any organ of the body and metastasise (Zingde, 2001). Cancer arises from a single cell and is described as a multistage process. It has been observed in preclinical studies that the initiation process of cancer is irreversible, after which further phenotypic alteration occur (Zingde, 2001). The causes of cancer initiation, development and progression of disease is represented in figure 1.1.



#### 1.3.1 Environmental carcinogens

Human beings are continually exposed to different types of agents which can cause genetic alterations leading to cancer. Chemical carcinogens, eg., asbestos, arsenic, aflatoxin found in food items), and tobacco smoke [4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK) and benzo(*a*)pyrene (BaP)] can lead to lung and skin cancer (Hecht *et al.*,994; www.cancerresearchuk.org). Physical carcinogens, e.g., ultra-violet rays, and ionising radiations can lead to malignancies (Belpomme *et al.*, 2007).

#### 1.3.2 Infectious pathogens

Biological carcinogens such as viruses, e.g., Human Papilloma Virus (HPV), Hepatitis C Virus (HCV), and Hepatitis B Virus (HBV) can cause cell transformation. HPV inhibits apoptotic signals by inhibiting the host cell signaling cascade of p53 and retinoblastoma (Rb) genes which control cellular proliferation, via interaction with E6 and E7 viral proteins (Song *et al.*, 1999). HBV is responsible for the induction of Reactive Oxygen

Species (ROS) that leads to tumourigenesis (Jackson and Loeb, 2001). Furthermore, some bacteria, such as *Helicobacter pylori*, cause chronic ulceration with links to the development of gastric cancer (Eslick *et al.*, 1999; <u>www.cancerresearchuk.org</u>). Some of the viruses causing of human cancers are listed in Table 1.1.

Virus	Virus family	Targeted cells	Type of malignancy	References
$EBV^1$	Herpesviridae	B cells, oropharyngeal epithelial cells, lymphoid	Burkitt's lymphoma Nasopharyngeal carcinoma	de-The et al., 1991
HTLV-1 <sup>2</sup>	Retroviridae	T-cells	Non-Hodkin's lymphoma	de-The et al., 1991
HHV-8 <sup>3</sup>	Herpesviridae	Endothelial cells	Kaposi's sarcoma, body cavity lymphoma	Chang et al., 1994
$\mathrm{HBV}^4$	Hepadnaviridae	Hepatocytes	Hepatocellular carcinoma	IARC, 1994
HCV <sup>5</sup>	Flaviviridae	Hepatocytes	Hepatocellular carcinoma	Read <i>et al.</i> , 1963; Joske <i>et al.</i> , 1972
HPV <sup>6</sup>	Papillomaviridae	Cervical epithelial	Cervical carcinoma	Wong and Gruber, 1994; Galloway, 1994
JCV <sup>7</sup>	Polyomaviridae	Central nervous system	Astrocytoma, glioblastoma	Richardson, 1961; Enam <i>et al.</i> , 2004

Table 1.1. Viral infections causing cancer in humans

<sup>1</sup>Ebstein Barr Virus, <sup>2</sup>Human T-Lymphotropic Virus, <sup>3</sup>Human Herpes Virus, <sup>4</sup> Hepatitis B Virus, <sup>5</sup>Hepatitis C Virus, <sup>6</sup>Human Papilloma Virus, <sup>7</sup>John Cunningham Virus

#### 1.3.3 Disruption of epigenetic processes

Aberrations in the epigenetic mechanisms given the integrity of chromatin are capable of malignant transformation (Sharma *et al.*, 2010). Along with genetic alterations, epigenetic aberrations are also required for initiation and progression towards cancer and modifying events include DNA methylation, covalent modification of histones, nucleosome positioning and microRNA gene silencing, which often impacts on the activation of oncogenes and the silencing of tumour suppressor genes (Sharma *et al.*, 2010). Epigenetic events are reversible and may be important in developing new cancer therapies. Some cancer treatments linked to epigenetic events include: reversing inversed methylation patterns in leukaemia and lymphoma using 5-azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine

(Kantarjian *et al.*, 2006), and the use of FDA approved histone deacetylase inhibitors, Vorinostat and Romidepsin, in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL) and acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) (Marks & Breslow, 2007; Klimek *et al.*, 2008).

#### **1.4 Genetics of cancer**

Under normal circumstances, cells constantly divide and proliferate, and cell transformation leading to uncontrolled cell growth, and cancer, is a relatively rare event. In normal cell division and proliferation the events are tightly regulated via different checkpoints at different cell cycle stages. The genetic material of the "mother cell" is copied and transferred to the descendant cells in the process of cell division and proliferation. Any alteration in the genetic material or sign of cellular damage is monitored on a regular basis by checkpoint events. If the genetic damage is irreversible and further proliferation may lead to a potential threat to the body, the cells undergo programmed cell death or apoptosis (Wyllie et al., 1980). The concept of programmed cell death to control cancer growth was established by functional studies (Adams and Cory, 2007; Lowe et al., 2004; Evan and Littlewood, 1998). To maintain tissue integrity, cells undergo senescence and with every replication cycle the non-coding DNA sequence on the telomeres undergo partial degradation. These events are under close surveillance by the immune checkpoints, and cancer cells acquire the capacity to overcome these checkpoint surveillance mechanisms through further mutations. Genetic alterations are therefore the cause of cancer, where the cell is programmed to escape mechanisms such as apoptosis and gain the ability to divide uncontrollably. Hence, cancer is accepted as clonal where a primary cell may gain further mutation with subsequent division (Stratton et al., 2009) and acquire the classical hallmarks of a cancer cell. It was shown by Fearon and Vogelstein (1990) in a colon carcinoma model that the cell must obtain mutation in at least 5 genes, each of which should enable the cell to adapt and grow in the host. Some examples are, down regulation of *NKX3.1* homeobox gene through promoter methylation in prostate cancer (Asatiani *et al.*, 2005) that leads to oxidative stress and DNA damage (Ouyang *et al.*, 2005; Bowen & Gelmann, 2010); the loss or reduction of cell cycle associated *PTEN* tumour suppression proceeds to gradual progression to an androgen independent phenotype in prostate cancer (Mulholland *et al.*, 2006), and up-regulation of a histone-lysine N-methyltransferase encoded by *EZH2* gene has been associated with late stage metastatic disease promoting Ras and NF- $\kappa$ B pathways found deregulated in many cancers (Chiaradonna *et al.*, 2008; Sun & Xiao, 2003). The development of PrCa is slow and asymptomatic and may reach an advance stage before symptoms are apparent.

Various stages are involved in carcinogenesis, including: irreversible cell initiation process, promotion facilitating the expression of commenced phenotype and progression are shown in pre-clinical models (Zingde, 2001) and further programming towards a malignant phenotype through a series of gene mutations. All stages encompass subtle point mutations and chromosomal alterations (Zingde, 2001). The genes responsible for the cancerous transformation of the cell are known as "oncogenes" (Zingde, 2001) and promote cellular growth by various mechanisms. Tumour suppressor genes suppress the uncontrolled cellular growth and control tumourigenesis, but when mutated they act in a similar way to oncogenes (Zingde, 2001).

#### 1.4.1 Proto-oncogenes and oncogenes

In the 1970s, the genomes of mammals and birds were shown to contain a group of protooncogenes that regulate normal cell proliferation and differentiation (Stehelin *et al.*, 1974). Alterations in these genes affect the function or structure of the proteins encoded and leads to over-active growth-promoting genes causing cancer and were subsequently termed oncogenes (Bishop, 1985). Oncogenes were first identified in 1969 (Huebner and Todaro, 1969) associated with avian sarcoma virus B77 and the *src* gene. Various oncogenes were later identified to have viral origins (Toyoshima, 1983), and oncogenes present in the DNA of human tumour cells were found in a diverse range of malignancies including neuroblastoma, leukaemia, carcinomas and sarcomas (Slamon *et al.*, 1984). Oncogenes were primarily identified in transforming retroviruses: Rous sarcoma virus, avian erythroblastosis virus, Harvey sarcoma virus (Bishop, 1991). Although genetic mutations caused by exposure to chemical or physiological carcinogens and were found to be related to those carried by transforming retroviruses, a common repertoire of the proto-oncogenes could be activated by either retrovirus or via somatic mutations (Der *et al.*, 1982 and Parada *et al.*, 1982). Somatic mutations could be further divided into two categories: one that causes structural alterations in encoded protein and another that causes deregulation expression of the encoded protein (Der *et al.*, 1982 and Parada *et al.*, 1982).

Normal proto-oncogenes gives rise to controlled cell division whereas mutated ones, called as oncogenes, give rise to cancerous cell growth. These concepts are represented diagrammatically in figure 1.2, and transformation of proto-oncogene into oncogene due to retroviral infection is shown in figure 1.3.



Excess production of normal growth stimulating protein

**Figure 1.2.** Proto-oncogenes when mutated to oncogenes gives rise to cancerous cell growth with the help of hyperactive growth promoting protein. (Figure is adapted from <u>www.bio.utexas.edu</u>)



**Figure 1.3.** Conversion of normal cell into cancerous cell due to transforming retroviruses. Diagrammatic representation of cancer cell formation from normal cell due to transforming retro virus mediated proto-oncogene conversion into oncogene. (Diagram is adapted from <u>http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic-art/101396/58074/Cancer-causing-retroviruses</u>).

Normal cells require growth signals such as, diffusible growth factors, extra cellular matrix (ECM) components or cell-to-cell adhesion molecules (Zingde, 2001). These factors help transformation from a dormant G0 state to proliferative state (Zingde, 2001). In some cancers, oncogenes are over-expressed, coding for growth factors such as, *sis*, platelet-derived growth factor  $\beta$  (PDGF $\beta$ ) required by the cancer cells. These signals transduce growth stimulatory signals resulting in cell proliferation (Zingde, 2001). Some of the growth factors encoded by oncogenes are EGF-R/erbB-2 which is overexpressed in breast cancer (Zingde, 2001). Structural changes in the growth factor receptors (e.g., c-fms) are capable of ligand independent signaling and cancer induction (Zingde, 2001). Cancer cells are also capable of switching extracellular receptors (integrins) to transmit pro-growth signals to the cell (Zingde, 2001) and oncogenes are capable to act across tissue and species boundaries to induce cell transformation (Stehelin *et al.*, 1976).

#### 1.4.2 Tumour Suppressor Genes (TSG) and inhibition of tumour suppression

The proteins encoded by proto-oncogenes are responsible for providing growth stimulating signals and promoting cell proliferation (Heldin and Westermark, 1984). When proto-oncogenes transform into oncogene (due to genetic aberrations) cell growth stimulating signals regulation gets disrupted leading to uncontrolled cell proliferation (Barbacid, 1987). To control cell proliferation, another mechanism operates, mediated by tumour suppressor genes (Perry and Levine, 1993). TSG when present in their normal state control cell growth and respond to DNA damage. The protein activities of TSGs are intrinsic to the cell cycle checkpoint responses, inhibition of cell growth, induction of cellular senescence, cell differentiation, DNA damage and repair, promotion of apoptosis and the prevention of tumour progression (Jakobisiak *et al.*, 2003; Sherr, 2004). Loss of function mutation in TSG results in uncontrolled cell proliferation which leads to various types of cancers. The "two-hit" mutation theory proposed by Knudson (1971) stating that a germline mutation of

one allele of a gene predisposes an individual to cancer following somatic mutation in the second allele holds true for most TSGs. Fifteen years later, the discovery of the first TSG isolated from retinoblastoma, and termed the Rb gene (Friend *et al.*, 1986; Peters and Vousden, 1997) is commonly found to be defective in multiple cancers through its role as a checkpoint control element during cell transition into S phase of the cell cycle. Germ line mutation along with somatic mutation in the second Rb allele leads to cancer formation (Peters and Vousden, 1997). Chromosome 13 may be damaged or a part of this chromosome, containing the Rb locus, is deleted, which alters the normal role of Rb in mitosis. Normally Rb prevents the cell from entering into the synthesis phase by binding to the transcription factor, E2F. During cell cycle phosphorylation of Rb is regulated periodically and hyperphosphorylation of Rb inhibits its interaction with E2F, as a result of which uncontrolled cell growth occurs and tumours form (Peters and Vousden, 1997).

In contrast to proto-oncogenes, genetic mutations in both alleles of a tumour suppressor gene results in alteration of normal protein function through processes such as loss of hetrozygosity, methylation, cytogenic aberrations, and polymorphisms (Teh *et al.*, 1999). In hereditary cancer syndromes, defective TSG expression pre-disposes individuals to a further mutation of the gene that leads to cancer. Patients with familial adenomatous polyposis have an increased risk of developing colorectal cancer due to mutations that reduce the activity of the adenomatous polyposis coli (*APC*) gene. *APC* operates within the Wnt signalling pathway, targeting free  $\beta$ -catenin for ubiquitination, preventing the transcription of *cyclin D1* and *MYC* genes which are responsible for cell cycle advancement to S phase (Vogelstein & Kinzler, 2004). Germline mutations in the stability genes *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* also predispose individuals to breast and ovarian cancer (King *et al.*, 2003). Various TSGs identified are given in Table 1.2 (adapted from Fearon, 1997 and Marsh and Zori, 2002).

Tumour Suppressor Genes	Cancer Type		
$Rb^{1}$	Retinoblastoma		
<i>p53</i>	Many types of cancer		
BRCA1/BRCA2	Breast and ovarian cancers		
p161NK4a	Oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma		
THY1	Nasopharyngeal carcinoma		
<i>NF1</i> <sup>2</sup>	Many types of cancer		
~			

 Table 1.2.
 Tumour suppressor genes and types of cancer induced

<sup>1</sup>Retinoblastoma tumour suppressor gene, <sup>2</sup>Neurofibromatosis type 1

From the above, it can be stated that cancers develop by acquiring mutations in growth promoting oncogenes. On the other hand cancer inactivates recessive mutations in TSG along with epigenetic abnormalities which are important in the expression of these suppressor genes (Weinstein, 2000). All of these changes demonstrate the lethal effects of mutagens, germline mutations and genomic uncertainties attained in the process of tumour development (Weinstein, 2000). Both proto-oncogene and tumour suppressor genes are involved in signal transduction pathways and act in synergy. Any alteration in these genes affects the pathway, giving rise to uncontrolled cell proliferation which leads to cancer.

Gene mutations leading to the loss or functional impairment of the p53 protein represents perhaps the most frequent genetic alteration event observed in cancer. The p53 gene acts as a transcription factor controlling the activation and inhibition of many genes and functions at the nexus of all cell cycle signalling pathways. The importance of p53 and Rb as TSG and their network of associated proteins are important as they are both commonly defective across several types of cancer and virtually all oncoviruses directly or indirectly inactivate both p53 and Rb TSG pathways leading to tumour formation (Vogelstein & Kinzler, 2004).

## **1.5 p53, the guardian of genome and executioner: an ideal candidate for cancer immunotherapy**

p53 is a nuclear protein which shuttles to the cytoplasm, becomes degraded by the proteasome into peptides, some of which are presented on the cell surface in the context of

MHC antigens (O'Keefe *et al.*, 2003, Townsend *et al.*, 1985). p53 protein is encoded by the *p53* gene which is located on chromosome 17p13.1 (Vogelstein *et al.*, 2000; Petitjean *et al.*, 2007b) and was originally discovered as a complex along with simian virus 40 (SV40) large T antigen (Lane and Crawford 1979 and Linzer and Levine, 1979). Initially suggested as a pro-oncogene, wild type and mutant forms of p53 were shown to possess several functions subsequently (Freed-Pastor *et. al*, 2012). It is widely accepted that mutations in p53 are very common genetic events in cell transformation in human cancers (Levine and Oren, 2009).

Wt p53 controls cell division through different mechanisms such as repair of DNA damage, apoptosis or cell cycle arrest, acting as a transcription factor. p53 in its active form promotes the production of p21, which forms a complex with the cell division-stimulating protein, cdk2. On formation of this complex, cells cannot progress to the next stage of cell division. Any damage or mutation to p53 due to alteration in the environment due to hypoxia, stresses, DNA damage, onco-gene activation can alter the function of tumour suppression which in turn leads to uncontrolled cell proliferation. Mutation in p53 prevents DNA binding and lack of p21 production leads to failure in p21-cdk2 complex formation. The cells no longer receive the "stop" signal and divide uncontrollably (Harper *et al.*, 1995). Figure 1.4 gives the overview of the mechanism.



DNA repair Cell cycle arrest Apoptosis

**Figure 1.4.** Functions of p53 in the cell cycle. Shows rescue of damaged cells by p53 by activating p21 gene under normal circumstances. Mutation in p53 abolishes the binding site of the protein to the DNA. Lack of p21 causes uncontrolled cell division.

p53 is activated in response to diverse cellular stress signals including nucleotide deprivation, oncogene activation and hypoxia following which p53 orchestrates stress-specific pathways. Most significantly p53 is instrumental in conserving cell function *via* protein activation essential for DNA repair by initiating cell cycle arrest in the event of DNA damage or triggering programmed cell death if the damage is too great (Bertram, 2000; Horn & Vousden, 2007).

1.5.1 Mutations in *p53* 

There are different types of mutations found in the p53 gene, at different locations such as; position 273, 248, 196, 213, 245, 282, and 306 (Olivier *et al.*, 2010) which can be divided into two categories: one that affects the structure and the other affects the conformation of the p53 protein. In the present research, the two types of mutations are represented by: p53-175 (structural alteration) and p53-273 (conformational alteration) (Liu *et al.*, 2010).

Mutation at the location 175 changes the arginine to histidine (R-H) and linearises the protein. Mutation at the 273 location abolishes the binding site of the protein to the DNA, thus losing the tumour suppressor function of the protein. Mutation in the p53 gene gives rise to the accumulation of the protein within the cell (Rivlin *et al.*, 2014). Mutations in p53 give rise to tumour initiation, promotion, aggressiveness and metastasis while going through the multistep process of malignant transformation (Rivlin *et al.*, 2014). Mutant p53 protein not only loses its tumour suppressive character but has been shown to gain oncogenic function leading to cells growth and survival (Olivier *et al.*, 2010).

#### 1.5.1.1 Somatic mutations

Somatic mutations occur in more than 50% of human cancers (Wang *et al.*, 2013) with 38-50% of ovarian, oesophageal, colorectal, head and neck, larynx and lung cancers, demonstrating p53 mutations. 5% of primary leukaemias, sarcomas, testicular cancer, malignant melanoma and cervical cancers also possess mutated p53 (IARC TP53 database; Pititjean *et al.*, 2007b; Olivier *et al.*, 2010). Somatic mutations appear to be more frequent in advanced or aggressive cancer subtypes (Wang *et al.*, 2004a; Langerod *et al.*, 2007). Within the DNA binding Domain, 175, 145 and 173 hotspot codon mutations represent 60% of the CpG mutations and 196, 213, 245, 282, 306 residues represents 26% of mutations (Olivier *et al.*, 2010).

#### 1.5.1.2 Germ line mutations

Germ line mutations are located in highly conserved regions of exons 5-8 (Kleihues *et al.*, 1997).Germline mutations are distributed similarly to that of the somatic mutations located at the "hot spots" regions (Olivier *et al.*, 2010). In germ line mutations, point mutations are most common followed by splice mutations and insertions. G:C-A:T are the most commonly found transitions followed by G:C-T:A and A:T- G:C (Kleihues *et al.*, 1997). Germ line mutations arise spontaneously compared with somatic mutations (Olivier *et al.*, 1997).

2010). P53 is found to be mutated in 50% of breast cancers, soft tissue and bone cancers. These are followed by adrenocortical sarcomas, brain tumours, gastric, colorectal and ovarian cancer that occurs at early age within the general population (Oliver *et al.*, 2003). Some other less frequent types of cancers associated with germ line mutations are choroid plexus carcinoma, papilloma, Wilms' tumour, and malignant phyllodes tumours (Birch *et al.*, 2001; Gonzalez *et al.*, 2009).

Individuals with deleterious mutation in the p53 gene are 15% more likely to develop cancer at the age of 15 years, 80% or more in 50 year old women and 40% in 50 year old men (Soussi, 2000). In the case of p53, one allele is lost and the second undergoes mutation (Esrig *et al.*, 1993). Wild type p53 has a half-life of 6-30 mins whereas the mutated p53 forms the complexes with heat-shock protein (hsp70) and can be stable for hours (Esrig *et al.*, 1993). P53 mutations are frequently found in the conserved regions of the central DNA binding domain of the protein (Attardi and Jacks, 1999). Residues within the "hot spot" mutations are responsible for maintaining the integrity of DNA-binding surface structure or in initiating DNA contact. On this basis they are classified as "contact mutants" (residues R248 and R273) or "structural mutants" (residues R175, G245, R249, R282) (Joerger et al., 2007). The protein possesses an acidic N-terminal transactivation subdomain, containing proline-rich regions that contains a secondary transactivation domain, DNA-binding domain, an oligomerisation domain which contains a nuclear export signal and a C-terminal regulatory domain that contains three nuclear localisation signals. The great majority of mutations are clustered in the central most conserved region (Freed-Pastor et al., 2012). The most frequently found "hot spot" mutations are listed in the table 3.1. The different p53 mutations, their frequency of alteration and their categories are given in Table 3.2.

#### Cancer peptide vaccines

van Der Bruggen et al., introduced the cDNA cloning technique to identify genes and peptides from tumour-antigens in 1991 followed by the technique to identify genes and peptides by host immune system using autologous antibodies by Chen et al., 1997. These reports resulted in providing a large number of antigens and peptides as cancer vaccines. Melanoma antigen gene-1 (MAGE-1) derived peptide vaccine came up as the first peptide vaccine in the clinical trials (Hu et al., 1996). Earlier generation of peptide vaccines were composed of one to several MHC-class I restricted peptides of a single HLA type. The peptides were imulsified in a clinical grade incomplete Freund's adjuvant, Montanide ISA51, or pulsed on antigen presenting cells and used for vaccination (Yamada et al., 2013). Various types of peptide vaccines have been developed since then targeting various cancer antigens. Multivalent long peptide vaccine/ synthetic long peptide vaccines, as the name suggests are pool of long peptide vaccines which are taken up by APCs for processing and presentation by MHC class I and class II (Yamad et al., 2013). Kenter et al., carried out a phadse I study of high risk HPV 16 E6 and 7 overlapping long peptides in end stage cervical cancer patients using a cocktail of long peptide covering entire proteins in montanide ISA51. At 12 months of follow up patients showed clinical responses to the peptide vaccine (Kenter et al., 2008). Different types of peptide vaccines have since been in use in cancer therapy including multipeptide vaccines (consisting of both CTL and Th peptides), peptide cocktail vaccines (different peptides with different peptide binding affinities loaded onto APCs), hybrid peptide vaccines (a peptide fused with two peptides, eg., Ii-Key / HER-2 / neu), personalised peptide vaccines (to match the pre-existing immunity of each patient) and peptide pulsed dendritic cell vaccines (Rahma et al., 2012). *P53 targeting acnecr vaccines*
Since p53 is found to be mutated/over-expressed in more than 50% of different types of cancers (Vogelstein et al., 2000), there have been various attempts to develop a p53 cancer vaccine. In all of these trials either whole p53 gene and/or overlapping p53 peptides/ synthetic long peptides from the immunogenic regions of the protein were used for vaccine development (Table 1.3, adapted from Vermeiji et al., 2011). For the current study, the main focus was to identify the immunogenic p53 class I and class II wt peptides in silico and assess their immunogenicity in the selected p53-175 and p53-273 mutants of interest and develop cancer vaccination strategy targeting p53 by recruiting wt p53 in prostate cancer (PrCa). Levels of p53 are controlled by Mdm2 and p19<sup>ARF</sup>, the upstream regulators. MDM2 is a E3 ligase which is specific to p53 and is the cellular antagonist of the protein (Moll and Petrenko, 2003). MDM2 monoubiquitinates p53, a crucial step in degradation of the protein by both nuclear and cytoplasmic proteasome (Moll and Petrenko, 2003). Apoptosis is a complex cellular mechanism which can be activated either by p53 or by extracellular signals (Drake et al., 2006). Alterations in the apoptotic function allow cancer cells to escape several types of physiologic stresses (Drake *et al.*, 2006). Cancer cells find a number of mechanisms to inactivate the apoptotic function in order to survive, including activation of Akt/PKB firing, increase in anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 related proteins, inactivation of p52 via alterations in the p53 gene or its upstream regulators, methylation of proapoptotic promoters, inhibition of caspases (Drake et al., 2006). p53 mediated signal transduction pathway is shown in figure 1.5. It has also been found that mutated and wt p53 can give rise to same types of tumours. Interestingly, mutant p53 has found to have more lifespan and dominant over that of wt.

<b>Table 1.3.</b> 1	p53 targeting cance	vaccines
---------------------	---------------------	----------

Immunisations with	Protein/ Peptides	Type <sup>2</sup>	Patients	Clinical trial	Reference
full length wt <sup>1</sup> p53	Wt	a recombinant replication-defective adenoviral vector encoding rAd/hup53, to	urogenital-, lung cancer, malignant schwannoma	Pilot study	Kuball <i>et al.</i> , 2002
full length wt p53	Wt	recombinant virus	colorectal cancer	Phase I/II	Menon <i>et al.,</i> 2003
Idiotypic vaccine, CDR regions of human anti-p53 antibody	CDR <sup>8</sup> regions of human anti- p53 antibody	Idiotypic p53 vaccine	breast, colorectal, non-small- cell lung, renal, prostate, head- and neck, hemangiopericytoma, esophageal cancer	Phase I	Lomas <i>et al.</i> , 2004
65–73 (RMPEAAPPV), 264–272 (LLGRNSFEV), 187–197 (GLAPPQHLIRV) 149–157 (SLPPPGTRV), 139–147 (KLCPVQLWV), 103– 111 (YLGSYGFRL)	Wt modified	DC based (CTL epitopes)	Advanced breast cancer	Phase I	Svane <i>et al.</i> , 2004
P53 gene	Wt	recombinant virus	small cell lung cancer	Phase I/II	Antonia <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006
65–73 (RMPEAAPPV), 264–272 (LLGRNSFEV), 187–197 (GLAPPQHLIRV) 149–157 (SLPPPGTRV), 139–147 (KLCPVQLWV), 103– 111 (YLGSYGFRL)	Wt modified	DC based (CTL epitopes)	Advanced breast cancer	Phase II	Svane <i>et al.</i> , 2007
70-99 (APPVAPAPAAPTPAAPAPAPSWPLSSSVPS) 86–115 (APAPSWPLSSSVPSQKTYQGSYGFRLGFLH) 102–131 (TYQGSYGFRLGFLHSGTAKSVTCTYSPALN) 126–155 (YSPALNKMFCQLAKTCPVQLWVDSTPPPGT) 142–171 (PVQLWVDSTPPPGTRVRAMAIYKQSQHMTE) 157–186 (VRAMAIYKQSQHMTEVVRRCPHHERCSDSD) 174–203 (RRCPHHERCSDSDGLAPPQHLIRVEGNLRV) 190–219 (PPQHLIRVEGNLRVEYLDDRNTFRHSVVVP) 206–235 (LDDRNTFRHSVVVPYEPPEVGSDCTTIHYN) 224–248 (EVGSDCTTIHYNYMCNSSCMGGMNR)	Overlapping wt	SLPs <sup>3</sup> emulsified in Montanide ISA-51	Ovarian cancer patients	Phase II	Leffers <i>et al.</i> , 2009

p53.1: 1-78; p53.2: 70-115; p53.3: 102-155; p53.4: 142-203; p53.5: 190-248; and p53.6: 241-393.	Overlapping wt	SLPs emulsified in Montanide ISA-51	Metastatic colorectal cancer	Phase I	Speetjens et al., 2009
full-length wt p53 gene	Wt	Ad.p53DC vaccine plus indoximod.	Adult patients with metastatic solid tumors that were p53+ (>5% nuclear staining by IHC),	Phase I/II	Soliman <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2010
264-272	Wt	1. Peptide admixed with GM- CSF and emulsified in Montanide ISA-51	Stage III, IV or high recurrence risk ovarian cancer patients	Phase II	Rahma <i>et al.</i> , 2010, 2011
		2. CD-40 ligand matured DCs pulsed with p53-264-272 peptide			
<b>a</b> a 70-248, 25–30 amino acid long overlapping peptides	Wt	SLPs in Montanide ISA-51 with low dose cyclophosphamide	Ovarian cancer	Phase II	Vermeij <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2011
Aa <sup>4</sup> 70-235 (224-248 excluded due to low yield and purity)	Wt	SLPs with IFNγ	Colorectal cancer patients	Phase I/II	Zeestraten <i>et al.</i> , 2012
full-length wt p53 gene	Wt	Ad.p53DC <sup>5</sup> vaccine with or without ATRA <sup>6</sup>	Extensive stage SCLC <sup>7</sup>	Phase II	Iclozan <i>et al.,</i> 2013

<sup>1</sup>Wild type, <sup>2</sup>type of vaccine, <sup>3</sup>synthetic long peptides, <sup>4</sup>amino acid, <sup>5</sup>Autologous DCs expressing p53 after infection with adenovirus encoding full-length wtp53, <sup>6</sup>all trans retinoic acid, <sup>7</sup>small cell lung cancer, <sup>8</sup>complementarity determining regions



**Figure 1.5.** *p53* mediated signal transduction pathway. In the presence of transcription factor protein that inhibits cell growth is produced after transcription and translation processes. When non-functional transcription factor is presented due to mutations in p53 gene, it cannot trigger transcription due to which protein which inhibits cell division cannot be produced and uncontrolled cancerous cell division occurs. (Diagram is adapted from www.gopixpic.com)

# 1.6 The immune system and cancer

The immune system is the body's natural shield against invading pathogens and consists of different cells (figure 1.6) which recognise foreign antigens and invading pathogens. But the gradual realisation of the importance of the immune system in cancer etiology arose from observations in immuno-deficient animals and in patients with immuno-suppressive

therapy (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). In the late 19<sup>th</sup> century Dr. William Coley devised the first anti-cancer vaccine that involved triggering the immune system using bacterial toxins (Coley, 1893) and in 1909, the concept of immunosurveillance was first formulated by Dr. Paul Ehrlich who suggested that cell transformation is a frequent occurrence in humans and such cells are recognised and eliminated by the immune system before they become clinically apparent. In more recent times, several studies have confined the importance of both innate and adaptive immunity against tumours with the identification of tumour-specific circulating T lymphocytes as well as tumour reactive antibodies in the blood of cancer patients (Valmori *et al.*, 2000; Schlichtholz *et al.*, 1992). Similarly, the release of cellular stress induced signals and the loss of surface MHC class I expression appear to activate natural killer (NK) cell-mediated tumour cell lysis (Long & Rajagopalan, 2002). With knowledge of the complicated processes that orchestrate the anti-tumour response, several strategies to utilise the immune system in therapy have been proposed.



**Figure 1.6.** Diagrammatic representation of different types of cells involved in induction of immune responses against invaders. (Diagram has been adapted from <u>www.uta.edu/chagas/images/immusys.jpg</u>)

# 1.6.1 Adaptive and Innate immunity and cancer

The innate immunity is considered to be the "non-specific" arm of the immune system that includes defences present constitutively, capable of responding rapidly against pathogenic infection and eliminating any invaders. Several natural effector cells have been identified, such as NK cells, NKT cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T-cells originating from lymphoid progenitor and phagocytic cells e.g., macrophages and DCs derived from a myeloid lineage. These cells perform their function through interaction of cell-surface pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) with pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (associated with a wide range of conserved surface molecules of microbial origin). On the other hand, damage-

associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) are also recognised by PRRs during cellular damage (Seong & Matzinger, 2004) followed by phagocytosis. Likewise, NK cells release cytotoxic granules to induce either apoptotic or osmotic lysis of target cells. A family of transmembrane protein structures, considered to be most important types of PRRs, toll-like receptors (TLR), are common among vertebrates and invertebrates. Ten functional members have been classified according to their known agonists in mammalians: TLR recognition of peptidogylans (TLR2), double stranded RNA (TLR3), lipopolysaccharide and viral proteins (TLR4), flagellin (TLR5) and unmethylated CpG DNA motifs (TLR9) (Imler *et al.*, 2001; Akira & Takeda, 2004). TLR mediated signalling pathways include NFκB and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) capable of inducing proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines and expression of co-stimulatory molecules essential for the induction of adaptive immunity via APCs (Kawai *et al.*, 2001; Medzhitov, 2001).

It has been suggested that cells of the innate immune system are comparable to adaptive immune responses in detecting nearby tumour cells and that endogenous danger signals released by damaged cells, principally uric acid (Shi *et al.*, 2003) or through exposure to certain inherent biological signals of the tumour itself (Seong & Matzinger., 2004) are implicated in the activation of innate immune responses. Pro-inflammatory responses may be induced through the activation of TLRs by agonists, eg. heat-shock proteins (HSPs), high-mobility group protein B1 (HMGB1) and ECM derivatives (hyaluronic acid and heparin sulphates) (Dunn *et al.*, 2004) and a number of danger signals produced by tumours. In NK cells, NKG2D acts as an activation receptor capable of triggering NK mediated tumour cell lysis and induce NK cells to secrete IFN $\gamma$ , a potent pro-inflammatory stimulator, which is capable of inhibiting angiogenesis, metastasis and induces the recruitment of lymphocytes. IFN $\gamma$  also activates the adaptive T lymphocyte response through the maturation of macrophages and DCs which in turn release IL-12 which enhances anti-tumour CD8<sup>+</sup> CTL and further promotes NK cytotoxicity. NKG2D serves as a co-stimulatory receptor for TCR-activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T- cells (González *et al.*, 2008). NK cells have also been found to recognise MHC class I molecules via specific surface receptors (Killer inhibiting receptors (KIRs), lectin-like receptor 1 (LIR-1) and CD94-NKG2A) that all act to inhibit NK cytotoxic activity. A frequent immune evasion mechanism, known as "the missing-self", the absence or insufficient concentration of MHC class I expression on the cell surface, leads to NK mediated cell lysis (Moretta & Moretta, 2004).

"Unconventional" T-cell populations have been studied recently with regard to their role in bridging innate and adaptive immune responses. NKT cells represent a subset of CD3<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes expressing CD1d-restricted TCR on their surface, which differ from the conventional  $\alpha\beta$  TCR that are limited to recognise glycolipid antigens via PRR from bacterial origin rather than peptide/MHC. Phenotypically, NKT cells closely resemble cells of the innate immune system with NK-like features: rapid production of IFNy, IL-4 and GM-CSF upon activation, exhibit NK-like killing, and fail to generate immunological memory (Berzofsky & Terabe, 2009; van Kaer et al., 2011). Similarly, mature γδ T-cells form a functionally distinct subgroup that provides them with both innate and adaptive characteristics. These cells are capable of recognising microbial invaders (V82 T-cells) and transformed cells (V $\delta$ 1 T cells) independent of antigen presentation and MHC antigenexpression, eliciting both NK cell and CTL anti-tumour effector responses, and appear to have immunological memory (Holtmeier & Kabelitz, 2005; Kalyan & Kabelitz, 2013). These two populations provide evidence for an overlapping component that encompasses both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system (Kim et al., 2007). Figure 1.7 represents the overview of the immune system.

The most effective cross-talk between the innate and adaptive immune systems occurs through B lymphocytes, macrophages and DCs, via antigen capture, processing and presentation. DCs are considered to be the "professional" antigen presenting cells (APCs) that have been intensely researched to establish their identity and clinical utility. DCs are derived from bone-marrow progenitor cells and are designated as the sentinels of the immune system, positioned at the antigen entry points of the body. Due to surface projections (dendritic processes) similar to those found on neurons, the cells are named as Dendritic Cells (DCs). DCs were discovered by Steinman *et al.*, in 1972 and efficiently present proteins and peptides to T and B lymphocytes (Steinman, and Cohn, 1973). DCs are key to the primary immune response induction (Kushwah and Hu, 2011) which leads to the development of immunological memory (Hart, 1997). DCs reside in the periphery in an immature state. On encounter with damaged or infected cells, DCs begin to engulf cellular debris by phagocytosis and following antigen uptake, migrate to the draining lymph nodes. They undergo maturation which culminates in the upregulation of surface MHC antigen and co-stimulatory molecules, CD40 and B7. In addition, DCs process captured proteins into short peptides which are then displayed onto MHC molecules present on the cell surface. In the lymph nodes, DCs activate naive CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells differentiating them into antigen-specific effectors T-cells. The maturation status of DCs is important in generating functional effector T-cells (Steinbrink et al., 2009; Palucka & Banchereau, 2012).



**Figure 1.7.** *The overview of the of the immune system. (Adapted from Biology by Campbell and Reece, 2008)* 

# 1.6.2 The humoral response

Humoral immunity is generated through antigen-dependent activation of B lymphocytes by DCs leading to either memory B cells or their clonal proliferation and terminal differentiation into antibody-secreting plasma cells. Circulating antibodies (Ab) can facilitate the ingestion of cells by phagocytic macrophages through antibody opsonisation, a process involving FAb mediated binding of antigen and activation of Fc receptors on the surface of macrophages. Similarly antigen bound antibodies can attract complement molecules to induce cell clearance *via* macrophages. Critically, B lymphocytes are

themselves able to recognise and engulf soluble forms of their cognate antigen and display processed antigens bound to MHC class II molecules on their surface to T lymphocytes (Noeile et al., 1992; Spriggs et al., 1993). Following B lymphocyte and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell interactions, a further co-stimulation signal (via CD40/CD40L) activate B cell proliferation (Noeile et al., 1992; Spriggs et al., 1993). Meanwhile CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells begin secreting cytokines to drive the development of a Th2 (CD4 phenotype) response. Plasma cells are unable to generate a high-titre of antibodies without of cognate CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells. This has led to the identification of numerous TAA through serological identification of antigens by recombinant expression cloning (SEREX), suggesting that humoral responses are capable of inducing antibody mediated anti-tumour responses concomitant with T-cell activation (Li et al., 2004). During their development, B lymphocytes undergo negative selection to antigens in the bone marrow. Studies have demonstrated that an increase in B cell tumour infiltrates correlate with a poor prognosis in patients with metastatic disease (Dong et al., 2006), contrary to other findings which associate them with improved survival (Nzula et al., 2003; Kotlan et al., 2005). Although it is evident that the humoral response is detrimental to the effectiveness of the anti-tumour responses, it is becoming clear that the correct Th1/Th2 CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell balance relative to CD8<sup>+</sup> and B-cell responses is critical to promote tumour rejection (Kao et al., 2006; DiLillo et al., 2010).

#### 1.6.3 The cell mediated response

The cell mediated response is comprised of three functional classes of T lymphocytes which are capable of inducing antigen-specific responses following their activation by APCs. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes or CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells recognise and eliminate infected or transformed cells. T helper lymphocytes (Th) or CD4<sup>+</sup> can differentiate into two further subtypes of effector cells: T helper 1 lymphocytes (Th1 cells, involved in promoting CTL

responses through APC signalling and drives the activation of macrophages) and T helper 2 lymphocytes (Th2 cells, promote the development of a humoral response *via* B-cell interaction) (Fearon and Locksley, 1996).

On interacting with CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells DCs undergo further maturation which facilitates differentiation and expansion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells into antigen specific CTL (Schoenberger *et al.*, 1998). This helps activated CTL and Th cells to migrate to the site of the tumour and initiate antigen-specific killing of tumour cells expressing the same antigen through the release of cytolytic toxins or through the activation of death-inducing signal receptors on the cell-surface of targets. This represents the mobilisation of cellular components involved during the adaptive response (Schoenberger *et al.*, 1998).

# 1.6.4 MHC and antigen presentation (exogenous and endogenous pathways)

In the early 1950s, Gorer and Snell found that every mammalian species possesses a tightly linked cluster of genes that constitutes the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC). These are important in intercellular recognition and in discrimination between self and non-self. These genes are organised within a continuous stretch of DNA, localised on chromosome 6 and are known to as the HLA complex in humans and H-2 complex in mice (located on chromosome 17) (Trombetta *et al.*, 2005). In both species, the genes are classified into class I, class II and class III MHC genes (Trombetta *et al.*, 2005). MHC class I and class II antigens function as highly specialised antigen presenting molecules. They present the class I or class II peptides to the T-cell and are responsible for activating the immune system (Trombetta *et al.*, 2005). MHC class III antigens are not related to class I and class II proteins and are responsible for the secretion of proteins that form the complement system (Trombetta *et al.*, 2005). The structure of MHC class I and class II and class II molecules is shown in figure 1.8.



**Figure 1.8.** Structure of MHC class I and MHC class II molecules. They are structurally distinct, but homologous proteins. Both are characterised by presence of an extracellular, peptide-binding cleft and pair of Ig domains and is anchored to the cell membrane through transmembrane segments. (Figure is adapted from Airaldi, 2014).

# Exogenous and endogenous processing of antigens

The immune system continuously assesses the intra and extracellular proteins for indications of infection or transformed cells. This process is mediated through MHC class I and class II molecules which present peptide fragments to T-cells and activates the immune system to invade the infection. These MHC-peptide complexes are generated within APCs and presented to T-cells. The peptides and MHC molecules are generated in one of two classical antigen presentation pathways. Typically, MHC class I molecules bind peptide fragments from intracellular sources (e.g. viral and altered self proteins) and are presented to CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell whereas MHC class II molecules present proteins arising from extracellular sources as a consequence of phagocytic activity by the APCs (Bevan, 1976; Shen & Rock, 2006). The processing and presentation of antigens via MHC class I and class I pathways are illustrated in figure 1.9.

Endogenous peptides destined for surface presentation by MHC class I molecules undergo degradation by a multi-catalytic complex, proteasome. Proteasomes are responsible for the ubiquitination of all miss-folded, damaged or foreign cytoplasmic proteins that have been covalently tagged with ubiquitin molecules (Michalek et al., 1993). Proteasomes contain three IFNy-inducible immunoproteasome subunits, LMP2, LMP7 and MECL-1 which induce proteasomal protease activity allowing transportation of peptide fragments to the ER via transporters associated with antigen processing (TAP) molecules. MHC class I antigens and peptides are assembled within the ER lumen through the co-ordination of the peptide loading complex which consists of tapasin, ERp57, calreticulin and TAP molecules. The MHC heavy chain ( $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 2$  and  $\alpha 3$  components) are stabilised by the glycoprotein binding chaperon protein called calnexin before binding with  $\beta$ 2m and tapasin mediate the editing and loading of high affinity peptides onto the MHC class I molecule (Praveen et al., 2010). The binding of peptides enhances the structural stability of the MHC molecule and the complex is exported out of the ER to the Golgi complex. CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcell-mediated immune response is induced after this complex is exocytosed to the cell surface via transporter vesicles (Praveen et al., 2010).

Although having similar structure and intracellular function of antigen processing, the assembly of the MHC class II molecules is significantly different. Exogenous proteins enter the cell *via* intracellular endosomal vesicles and as endosomes advance further into the cell the pH environment within them falls, which activates acid proteases (such as cathepsins) to degrade antigens into short peptide fragments (Parham, 1999; Nordeng *et al.*, 1998; Busch *et al.*, 2000). In the ER lumen, MHC class II  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chain are assembled in a dimer upon synthesis. During this stage, an additional chaperon chain molecule invariant chain (Ii) associates to form a heterodimer and prevents binding of polypeptides to the peptide binding groove (Parham, 1999; Nordeng *et al.*, 1998; Busch *et al.*, 2000).

The hetrodimer complexes are exported to the Golgi complex and trafficked through the cytoplasm *via* exocytic vesicles. Ii gets degraded leaving a small region, CLIP, inside the binding groove (Kasai *et al.*, 1998). CLIP detaches from the MHC class II allowing high affinity peptides-MHC complex formation (Kasai *et al.*, 1998). The vesicle containing the MHC class II-peptide complex shuttles towards the plasma membrane for presentation to CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells leading to induction of immune response (Robinson and Delvig, 2002).

Although the two pathways mediate extracellular and intracellular routes, these divisions are not strictly adhered to. Endogenous antigens internalised by DCs can generate peptide-MHC class I complexes that are cross-presented to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Bevan, 1976; Shen & Rock, 2006). Similarly, endogenous proteins which are independent of the proteasome and TAP complexes may lead to peptide-MHC class II complexes recognised by CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (Li *et al.*, 2008). Although the mechanisms for cross-presentation are not fully determined, reports suggest that exogenous antigens escape through translocators into the cytostol or through phagosome-ER fusion leading to MHC class I presentation (Shen & Rock, 2006). Importantly, the mechanisms of cross-presentation can be exploited to induce antigenspecific immune responses stimulating both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells.



**Figure 1.9.** Exogenous and endogenous antigen processing pathways. Intracellular antigens are processed into short peptides by the proteasome. The short peptides generated are then transported to RER by TAP to interact with MHC I molecules. The MHCI-loaded peptide complex is then transported to cell surface for recognition by  $CD8^+$  T-cells. Extracellular antigens are internalised by APC and is processed within the lysosomes. MHC II molecule generated at the RER is associated with Ii (Invariant chain) thereby preventing the class I peptides uptake by MHC class II. The MHC II-li complex is transported to the endosomal compartment where it fuses with the endosome. Once in the endosome, Ii degrades and is replaced by CLIP which prevents pre-mature binding of peptide to MHC II molecule. The endosomal compartment later fuses with the lysosome where CLIP is replaced by the peptide. The peptide-MHC complex is then moved to the plasma membrane for presentation to CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell (Image adapted from www.qiagen.com).

# 1.6.5 Hard and soft loss of MHCs

Studies by Garrido *et al.* (2010) showed the altered expression of MHC class I molecules in solid tumours and cancer cell lines. Genetic, epigenetic, transcriptional and posttranscriptional events cause reversible regulatory abnormalities (reversed with cytokine treatment) or irreversible structural defects (Garrido et al., 2010) to MHC which are classified as: regulatory or "soft" and "hard" defects respectively (Garrido et al., 2010). Three of the 6 classical normally expressed MHC class I genes can be lost in tumours in a somatic cell (Garrido et al., 2010). This mechanism is associated with loss of heterezygocity (LOH) in HLA-ABC harbouring chromosome 6, a frequently found mechanism in irreversible MHC class I alterations (Melano et al., 2002; Garrido et al., 2010). Another irreversible MHC defect/ total loss of MHC class I expression is caused by LOH on chromosome 15 that encodes beta-2 miroglobulin and homologous gene mutation (Benitez 1998; Paschen, 2003; Garrido et al., 2010). Garrido et al. (1997) also indicated that mutations, deletions and somatic recombination can result in irreversible loss of MHC (Garrido, 1997). Mutations in the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) gene leads to HLA Class I loss and has been reported in lung cancer and melanoma (Chen et al., 1996; Seliger, et al., 2003), and resistance to IFNy-mediated up-regulation of HLA class I expression may lead to tumour escape resulted due to defects in the Jak-STAT components of IFN-mediated signalling pathway (Rodriguez et al., 2007; Abril et al., 1996). Thus, tumour cells express low levels of MHC class I which cannot be up-regulated and this helps them in immune escape mechanisms (Seliger et al., 2008).

Defects in the gene regulation of HLA class I heavy chain, b2m and the components of the antigen-processing machinery (APM) results in down-regulation of MHC class I antigen expression (Romero *et al.*, 2005) and can be reversed. Epigenetic modifications can be reversed *in vitro* with pharmacologic agents inducing DNA hypomethylation or inhibiting histone deacetylation (Serrano *et al.*, 2001). It was proved that T-cell immune-selection results in the loss of MHC class I phenotype in tumours (Garcia-Lora, 2001) and prevalence of "soft" or "hard" MHC lesions in the tumour cells is crucial in malignant cell targeting by T lymphocytes (Garrido *et al.*, 2010).

# 1.6.6 Immune evasion/immune suppression

Tumours are capable of evading the immune system (Thakur *et al.*, 2013) and escape antitumour immune responses (Drake *et al.*, 2006). The tumour microenvironment also support encourages the activity of myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC), T regulatory cells (TRegs), tumour associated macrophages (TAMs) that impede effector T-cell functions (Thakur *et al.*, 2013) along with secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines that inhibit the DC maturation and mutated or absence of immunomodulatory molecules (Tien *et al.*, 2005; Miller *et al.*, 2006 and Rabinovich *et al.*, 2007).

# Myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs)

MDSCs contribute to immune suppression within tumour microenvironment (Ostrand-Rosenberg & Sinha, 2009). Accumulation, activation and expansion of MDSCs is driven by various factors of which STAT3 is arguably the most important transcription factor (Gabrilovich *et al.*, 2009; Gabrilovich *et al.*, 2009; Bronte *et al.*, 2007; Kozin *et al.*, 2010; Levy *et al.*, 2002). In a study conducted in PrCa patients with progressing disease following immunotherapy an increased immunosuppressive effect due to MDSCs compared to the control population was demonstrated (Vuk-Pavlovic *et al.*, 2010 and Gustafson *et al.*, 2010). It was concluded that elimination of these MDSCs may improve the anti-tumour response and effect of immunotherapy (Vuk-Pavlovic *et al.*, 2010 and Gustafson *et al.*, 2010). In another study it was suggested that aATC are capable of suppressing MDSC differentiation and their suppressive activity by down regulating COX2, PGE2 and ARG1. This suppression is due to Th1 cytokines and chemokines (IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2, CXCL9 and CXCL10) (Thakur *et al.*, 2012). MDSC and tumour cell targeting immunotherapies will prove beneficial in boosting the efficacy of future treatment.

### <u>Regulatory T-cells (TRegs)</u>

TRegs are critical in immune suppression against cancer cells hence promote tumour growth (Hurwitz *et al.*, 1999). CD4<sup>+</sup> TRegs (5-10%) are responsible for inducing tolerance against self-antigens whereas the lack of TRegs can lead to autoimmunity (Hiura *et al.*, 2005). Tang *et al.* (2012) suggested a mechanism of TReg expansion following androgen ablation that possibly results in tumour progression. It was shown that low-dose cyclophosphamide can decrease TReg activity and improve the efficacy of the immunotherapy. In the same study it was also shown that the increasing ratio of T<sub>eff</sub>/T<sub>reg</sub> to CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells may be due to cyclophosphamide inhibition of TRegs while stimulating the effector T-cells at the same instance (Green *et al.*, 2009).

#### Modulation of tumour microenvironment

Components such as IL-10 and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), IDO, expression of negative co-stimulatory ligands PDL-1 and CTLA-4 and the presence of TRegs and MDSCs represents the biggest challenge for successful immunotherapy (Robinovich *et al.*, 2007; Vanneman *et al.*, 2012). Combination strategies of vaccines with those that inhibit or alleviate the immunosuppressive microenvironment may prove helpful in enhancing the effect of tumour immunotherapy. For example, imatinib (inhibits IDO) (Balchandran *et al.*, 2011), sunitinib (antagonises MDSCs and TReg cells) (Ozao-choy *et al.*, 2009), cyclophosphamide (eliminates TRegs) (Ghiringhelli *et al.*, 2004) and gemcitabine (kills MDSCs) (Suzuki *et al.*, 2005).

# 1.7 The prostate gland and cancer

### 1.7.1 Anatomy and physiology of prostate gland

The prostate is a walnut size gland in the male reproductive system located between the urinary bladder and penis. The term prostate has originates from Greek word "prohistani" and means "to stand in front of". The prostate is the largest male accessory gland, which surrounds the urethra near urinary bladder (Kumar and Majumder, 1995), responsible for the secretion of semen that nourishes and protects the sperm cells and expels them through the urethra during ejaculation (Ross *et al.*, 2010). Histologically, the prostate gland is divided into central, transition and peripheral zones. Figure 1.10 represents the structure of prostate gland.



**Figure 1.10.** *The structure of the prostate gland. (The figure is adapted from Hammerich et al., 2009 and Dr. Andrew Yip, 2013.)* 

The peripheral zone is comprised of 70% glandular tissue and is present at the bottom and the back of the prostate gland near the rectum. This zone of prostate cancer comprises of simple, round to oval acini and a loose stroma of muscle (Ross *et al.*, 2010). This is the area most susceptible to malignant transformation (Walsh and Worthington, 2007; Ayala

and Wheeler, 2006; and Zelefsky et al., 2008). The central zone is cone-shaped and forms 25% of the prostate, found towards the base of the prostate and encompasses the ejaculation ducts (Hammerich et al., 2009). This zone is characterised by large and complex acini with papillary infoldings, and compact stroma of interlacing smooth muscle bundles (Ross et al., 2010). The transition zone surrounds prostatic urethra (Walsh and Worthington, 2007), and is made up of simple, small and round acini with a compact stroma (Ross et al., 2010). The prostate gland of an adult man is composed of branched ducts (made of stratified epithelium) separated by the basal lamina composed of a fibroblast stroma and a smooth muscle envelope. The prostate gland develops from the epithelium and mesenchyme of the urogenital sinus (UGS) (Marker et al., 2003 and Wu et al., 2007). The adult prostate consists of branched ducts (made of stratified epithelium) that are separated by the basal lamina (composed of a fibroblast stroma and smooth muscles) (Marker et al., 2003 and Wu et al., 2007). The luminal layer of prostate epithelium is characterised by cytokeratin 8 (CK8) and CK18, specific intermediate filaments, and also contains secretory cells that are dependent on androgen for their survival and differentiation (Marker et al., 2003 and Wu et al., 2007). The normal epithelium of the prostate is composed of: secretory, basal and neuroendocrine cells. 73% of the epithelium consist of secretory cells expressing PSA, PAP and androgen receptors and has the least proliferative capacity (Ross et al., 2010). The basal cells are flattened, attenuated cells and are present at the base of the prostate gland and assist in reproducing secretory cells and have the highest rate of proliferation (Ross *et al.*, 2010). The neuroendocrine cells are the least common, and although their function is unknown, they do express PSA and androgen receptors (Ross et al., 2010). The prostate contains copious amount of pluripotent stem cells which help prostate to support cell replication, differentiation and morphogenesis throughout adult life (Abate-Shen and Shen, 2000 and Marker et al., 2003). Any damage to these progenitor cells results in uncontrolled cell proliferation and transformation resulting into benign prostate hyperplasia and prostate cancer (Abate-Shen and Shen, 2000 and Marker *et al.*, 2003).

#### 1.7.2 Prostate cancer and its diagnosis

Prostate cancer is the most prevalent cancer in men in UK. It is the sixth leading cause of mortality of men in the world (Jeman *et al.*, 2011). In 2009, 40,800 men were diagnosed with prostate cancer in the UK alone, in 2010 around 10,700 men actually died of the disease (www.cancerresearchuk.org). Prostate cancer develops slowly; this can be an advantage for immunotherapeutic interventions giving more time to vaccinate patients when the tumour is still small. Other conditions of the prostate such as, prostatitis, enlarged prostate, and hyperplasia may occur and for the diagnosis of prostate cancer the prostate-specific antigens (PSA) test is common and widely used to assess blood PSA levels. PSA is secreted by the epithelial glands in the prostate (Tse *et al.*, 2014), and serves to liquefy the semen which helps in increasing the sperm motility (Lilja and Abrahamsson, 1988). Dr. Donald F Gleason assessed patients from 1960-75 with long-term follow up. The grade

was determined using the histologic pattern of the carcinoma cell arrangement, where 9 pathologies were integrated into 5 grades (Humphrey, 2004) as shown in the figure 1.11. This is the dominant method of classification used routinely world-wide.



### Prostatic Adenocarcinoma (Histologic grades), D. F. Gleason, M. D.

**Figure 1.11.** Gleason grade scoring of PrCa tissue section. Dr. D. F. Gleason developed a scoring system to determine the disease status. GG is determined using the histologic pattern of the carcinoma cell arrangement. There are 9 patterns were integrated into 5 grades. Figure above shows the histology section of the prostate tissue. (The diagram is adapted from Humphreys, 2004 and www.prostate.com)

The determined stages the cancer are using the TNM system. of (http://www.nhsinform.co.uk/Health-Library/Articles/C/cancer-of-the-prostate/staging). In this method stages T1-T4 represent localised tumour and assesses how much the cancer has spread within the prostate and surrounding tissue. N describes lymph node involvement and is categorised as NX, N0 and N1, whereas M describes cancer spread outside of the pelvis to, for example, the bone and is categorised as MX, M0 and M1. Both Ν and Μ are symbolic of metastatic disease (http://www.pcf.org/site/c.leJRIROrEpH/b.5835079/k.FF5F/Staging the Disease.htm).

Figure 1.12 shows the development of prostate cancer and its' progression in different stages.

Stage I, the initiation stage where a small cancerous lump is present in the one lobe of the prostate gland, but is confined to the gland.

Stage II, the cancer has developed in both the lobes of the prostate gland.

Stage III, the cancer has metastasised to the regional lymph nodes.

Stage IV, where the cancer has spread to the distant organs, especially the bone.



Figure 1.12. Stages of prostate cancer. (Figure adapted from www.bladdercontrol.com)

# 1.7.3 The pathophysiology of PrCa

The pathophysiology of PrCa is poorly understood and complex interaction between genetic and environmental factors, such as, infectious agents, dietary carcinogens and hormonal imbalances, have been reported to play a fundamental role in PrCa pathophysiology, which can result in chronic inflammation which drives prostate carcinogenesis and neoplastic progression (Balistreri et al., 2014). Although PrCa is diagnosed in older men, evidence suggests that the process of malignant transformation is initiated much earlier on (Merrimen et al., 2013). PrCa incidences progress rapidly in men over 50 years (Balistreri et al., 2014), and is classified as an adenocarcinoma when normal semen-secreting prostate gland cells transform to cancer cells (Merrimen et al., 2013). At an early onset the appearance of small 'clumps' of cancer cells is confined in the prostate gland; this condition is termed prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN), commonly found in peripheral zone (Merrimen et al., 2013) (Figure 1.12A). Although not all patients with high-grade PIN (HGPIN) develop invasive disease, PIN is characterised by 'cancer-like cells' that multiply and show metastatic characteristics (Merrimen *et al.*, 2013). The strong association of PIN with progressive abnormalities has excited researchers to propose its use as an intermediate marker in the development of PrCa (Sakr et al., 1999). The most common site of metastasis of PrCa are the bones, lymph nodes, lungs, liver, the rectum and the bladder (Bubendorf et al., 2013) a process which is associated with the recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) (Jung et al., 2013). The recruitment of MSC into the prostate tumours is facilitated by CXCL16, a ligand for CXCR6. CXCR6 is responsible for converting MSCs into cancer associated fibroblast secreting CXCL12 (Jung et al., 2013), and the interaction between CXCL12 on CAFs and CXCL4 (present on tumour cells) is responsible for epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and metastasis to distant organs (Jung et al., 2013).

# 1.7.4 Conventional cancer treatments

Cancer has been treated with traditional therapies to date including surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy and most recently with hormonal therapy. Even after using these therapies on large scale to treat cancer patients, these therapies could not prove themselves to be the ultimate remedy for cancer.

### 1.7.4.1 Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy involves usage of cytotoxic drugs to inhibit rapidly growing cancerous cells. These drugs target cancerous cells and uses characteristic of cell to undergo apoptosis. Around 50 different types of drugs which are available for cancer chemotherapy which can either be given alone or in combinations. For example, Methotrexate can be used for the treatment of Acute Lymphatic Leukaemia (ALL) along with some lymphomas, osteosarcoma, choriocarcinoma (Chabner and Roberts, 2005) and vincristine can be used in combination with other drugs for the treatment of ALL, hodgkin's and non-hodgkin's lymphoma (Moxley *et al.*, 1967). There are high chances of cancerous cells to become resistant to certain type of drug. To avoid this, combination of different drugs is used. Chemotherapy also has severe side effects on the normal cells of patients.

#### 1.7.4.2 Radiotherapy

Cancerous cell can also be targeted by using ionizing radiations in small doses of 1.8-2.0 Gray given at specific time intervals (Kim and Tannock, 2005). Radiotherapy uses the method of attacking the DNA of the cancerous cells to kill them. But this therapy is seemed to be effective on well-oxygenated cells and not on hypoxic cells which can proliferate in near future. It has also been observed in some of the cancer cases that chemo and radiotherapeutic regimes can increase the proliferation rate of cancer in contrast to decrease them (Kim and Tannock, 2005).

# 1.7.4.3 Surgery

Surgical removal of cancer is most effective method used till now to remove cancerous cells from cancer site. Surgery can prove to be effective when used in combination with chemo and/or radiotherapy. Yet being widely used to treat tumours, this treatment also has its own drawbacks. Even after advances in the treatment there are high chances of recurrence of the tumour at surgery site as it is difficult to remove all the cancerous cells from tumour site, for example, brain tumours. This method of cancer treatment needs to be implemented at early stages of cancer as it can prove hardly palliative if the cancer metastasised.

#### 1.7.4.4 Hormonal therapy

Hormonal therapy another method of cancer treatment. It is limited to certain types of cancers depending on hormone secretion such as prostate cancer. However this treatment has its limitation as cancer cells become resistant after specific time period. And the therapy cannot be used to treat cancer at advanced stage (Denmeade and Isaacs, 2002).

#### 1.7.5 Current treatments for PrCa and their limitations

For localised PrCa, three treatment options are used routinely, watchful waiting, radical retropubic prostatectomy (RRP) and radiotherapy. For advanced disease, treatments such as chemotherapy and hormonal ablation have been preferred traditionally. RRP performed under general or local anaesthesia, is executed to precisely dissect the relatively bloodless field and facilitate optimal cancer control (Fu *et al.*, 2011). Emerging new techniques, such as laparoscopic and robotic prostatectomy, are becoming more attractive due to their benefits of reduced surgical trauma and morbidity (Patel *et al.*, 2007). However, this traditional treatments may have adverse effects on the quality of life of patients with advanced stage cancer. Commonly found side effects of prostatectomy include incontinence, sexual dysfunction, bleeding, infection, visceral injuries and deep vein

thrombosis in some rare cases (Patel *et al.*, 2007). More than 60 years ago Huggins and Hodges identified PrCa as an androgen dependent tumour and following the discovery various trials have been undertaken to reduce testosterone, levels such as bilateral orchiectomy, LHRH (Leuteinising Hormone Releasing Hormone) agonists, anti-androgens and oestrogens (Shahinian *et al.*, 2012). Although successful initially, these treatments do not combat androgen independent PrCa and the risk of metastasis with no cure available (Shahinian *et al.*, 2012). At this stage of disease treatment options are limited.

### 1.7.6 Immunotherapy for PrCa

# 1.7.6.1 PrCa vaccines

Vaccines have long been used in a prophylactic setting against infectious disease since the development of the smallpox vaccine 200 years ago by Jenner (Jenner, 1798). Vaccines in general act by stimulating protective immune responses against unique target antigens expressed by the pathogen (Michael *et al.*, 2013). This approach has been adopted for treating various malignancies such as prophylactic vaccination against hepatitis B that reduced the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma and, human papilloma virus (HPV) which is effective against cervical, vaginal and vulvar cancers caused by HPV (Lai *et al.*, 2013; Jemal *et al.*, 2013). The application of a vaccine in a therapeutic setting is more challenging and in the majority of cases relies on targeting mutated or over-expressed gene products. Often targeting "self-antigens" leads to a state of immune tolerance and combating metastatic widespread requires a combination of therapies. However, a number of clinical trials have shown that the majority of patients with PrCa can mount a vigorous anti-tumour response to vaccination despite the advanced age and disease progression level (Sheikh *et al.*, 2013, Gulley *et al.*, 2013). PAP, PSMA are the antigens that have been used in the development of vaccines for the treatment of castration-resistant disease.

1.7.6.1.1 Approaches to PrCa vaccine therapy

#### DC based vaccines and adjuvants

DCs are the professional APCs and are capable of inducing T and B-cell responses via the mechanism of antigen processing and presentation (Liu, 2001). In developing prostate cancer vaccination strategies several methods have been used: peptide vaccines, virally packaged antigens, DNA-based antigen-expressing vectors and cell-based DCs vaccination promoting tumour-specific T-cell responses (Fong *et al.*, 1997; Mcneel *et al.*, 2001; Kaufman *et al.*, 2004; DiPaola *et al.*, 2006; Arlen *et al.*, 2007; Higano *et al.*, 2009; Madan *et al.*, 2009 and Tjoa *et al.*, 1998). Also, using TAA, GM-CSF, TLR as adjuvants to boost the immune responses have also been under investigation (Parmiani *et al.*, 2000; Ali *et al.*, 2000). In addition, granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and toll like receptor (TLR) agonists (Bacillus Calmette-Guérin [BCG] and CpG), tumour modulating factors, have been used as adjuvants in DC based vaccines (Ivasaki *et al.*, 2004 and Iwasaki *et al.*, 2010).

# <u>PROVENGE<sup>®</sup> (Sipuleucel-T)</u>

PAP is a specific antigen having prostate restricted expression (Ross *et al.*, 2010). PRPVENGE<sup>(R)</sup> is the first prostate cancer vaccine approved by FDA and consists of autologous DCs from the patient transfected in vitro with the expression vector encoding the full length human prostatic acid phosphatase gene and human GM-CSF (Thakur *et al.*, 2013). Although this approach was shown to be effective in improving the overall survival in PrCa patients, the vaccine has its limitation including the preparation time, and the cost.

#### GM-CSF-Modified Tumour Cell Vaccines

The GVAX<sup>®</sup> (Cell Genesys, Inc., South San Francisco, CA, USA) vaccine is consists of genetically modified tumour cells which are engineered to secrete GM-CSF, constructed from two allogeneic prostate cancer cell lines, LN-CaP and PC-3. The recent study showed a degree of efficiency phase I and phase II clinical trials but the phase III clinical trial was

discontinued. One of the reasons for the lack of clinical effect could be the advanced disease status of the patient population selected, which may have demonstrated a better response in low grade cancer with prior chemotherapy (Thakur *et al.*, 2013), and a latest study demonstrated feasibility and safety of GVAX plus ipilimumab (monoclonal antibody) combination in mCRPC patients (Van den Eertwegh *et al.*, 2012). Ipilimumab works by blocking Cytotoxic T lymphocyte Antigen-4 (CTLA-4) on the T-cell surface, which is a known negative regulator of T-cell activation (McCoy and Gros, 1999).

#### ProstVac VF

ProstVac-VF is a prostate-specific antigen (PSA) targeted therapeutic vaccine. It is comprised of recombinant vaccinia and fowlpox viral vaccine to PSA and three costimulatory signals (B7.1, ICAM-1, and LFA-3, known as Tricom) (Maan *et al.*, 2009) and enhances antigen uptake by DCs which results in induction of immune response by presentation to T-cells. Both vectors contain the transgenes for PSA and Tricom. ProstVac uses a heterologous prime-boost regime, and the rationale for using two viruses in a strategy was to avoid neutralizing antibody effect generated against viral antigens following the first vaccinia virus inoculation and boost with the fowlpox virus (Madan *et al.*, 2009). The study showed clinical benefits in the castration-resistant PrCa patients providing rationale for combination method with no clinically significant or synergistic toxic effects (Antonarakis *et al.*, 2012 and Madan *et al.*, 2012).

#### DNA vaccines

Pre-clinical studies with PAP encoding DNA vaccine immunisation have shown promising CD4 and CD8 responses and potent humoral and cellular immune responses (Johnson *et al.*, 2007; Hawkins *et al.*, 2002; Johnson *et al.*, 2006; Pavlenko *et al.*, 2004, and Saif *et al.*, 2013). In a study performed at our centre targeting PAP derived peptide incorporated into an Immnunobody vaccine (DNA-based) tumour regression in the TRAMP mouse model

was induced following therapeutic vaccination (Saif *et al.*, 2013). It has been proven therefore that DNA vaccines targeting PAP combined with other antigens of interest in the heterologous immunisation strategies could be used to enhance the immunity against PrCa TAAs (Thakur *et al*, 2013).

# HER2 "Positive" CRPC and Armed Activated T-Cell (ATC) Therapy

Overexpression of Her2/*neu* (HER2) is reported to be high in PrCa patients (Sanches *et al.*, 2002; Visakorpi *et al.*, 1992; and Bartlett *et al.*, 2005). Better survival and lower relapse rate was shown in the patients with HER2 positive (2+ or higher on IHC) over those of HER2 negative prostate cancers (Nishio *et al.*, 2006). Over-expression of HER2 is an ideal target in CRPC patients for ATC armed with anti-CD3  $\times$  anti-Her2 bispecific antibody (Her2Bi) (Nishio *et al.*, 2006). Boosted long-lasting anti-tumour responses was observed in the patients immunised with this vaccine (Nishio *et al.*, 2006). Hence this strategy on its own or in combination with the traditional therapies shows a promising approach to benefit PrCa patients.

# Immune modulators

Chemotherapy and radiotherapy act directly on cancer cells exerting cytotoxic effects (Wada *et al.*, 2009; Ghiringhelli, 2009 and green *et al.*, 2009). Although effective, these traditional therapies produce side effects in patients. A phase II clinical trial was successfully carried out to determine if PSA encoding poxviral vaccine was capable of inducing PSA-specific T-cell response in combination with radiotherapy in clinically localised PrCa patients (Nesslinger *et al.*, 2010). The study concluded that this vaccination regime was safe for the groups of PrCa patients, which showed PSA-specific T-cell induction (Nesslinger *et al.*, 2010).

In giving immunotherapy with or without combination with chemo or radio therapy, it is important to note that the immunotherapy effects are often seen some time after immunisation and it is important to consider this in determining the scheduling of therapy for the PrCa patients.

#### *Targeting check-point inhibitors using antibody-based immunotherapy*

Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and programmed death-1 (PD-1), the two immunologic regulators are known to avert immune-mediated tissue damage (Pardoll, 2012; Harvey, 2012; Green et al., 1994; Walunas, 1994; Krummel et al., 1995; Pentcheva-Hoang et al., 2007; Chemnitz et al., 2004), but are also known to inhibit immune responses to tumour antigens. Both CTLA-4 and PD-1 are up-regulated with Tcell activation, with tumour cells expressing PD-L1, PD-L2 the ligands for PD-1. Hence in order to develop a successful immunotherapy, inhibition of immunosuppressive mechanisms is important (Whiteside, 2010). CTLA-4 is exclusively present on T-cells and was the first immune checkpoint receptor to be clinically targeted and regulates the amplitude of the early stages of T -cell activation. In a preclinical model the combination therapy with CTLA-4 and GM-CSF proved effective compared to the treatments with individual components, suggesting that this method may prove beneficial to the PrCa patient treatments (Fong et al., 2009). Prostate and melanoma tumour infiltrating CD8 Tcells expressed high levels of PD-1 and impaired effector mechanisms. Notably, B7-H1/PD-1 also formed a molecular defense against CTLs (Hirano et al., 2005) indicating the reversal mechanism of PD-1 signaling and its effects on the tumour cell killing (Freeman et al., 2000; Hamanishi et al., 2007). From all the above trials it is important to consider the tumour microenvironment before designing and beginning with a large scale clinical trial. P53 was found to be mutated in 48% of prostate cancer patients in a study using prostate tissue specimens and metastatic lesions (Chi et al., 1994). Frequencies of p53 mutations are found to be ranging from 4-60% in the localised disease (Moul, 1999). Studies were undertaken to investigate the upstream of androgens, such as AR and its

effects on p53 and prostate cancer (Rokhlin *et al.*, 2008). It was shown in the same study that microRNA-34a and 34c play crucial role in p53-mediated apoptosis in PrCa (Rokhlin *et al.*, 2008). p53 have been studied in the context of its association with progression of prostate cancer. The prostate cancer clinical trials currently undergoing different phase clinical trials are listed in table 1.4 (adapted from <u>www.clinicaltrials.gov</u> and Bellonne *et al.*, 2014).

Tumours can avoid immunesurveillance by stimulating immune inhibitory receptors that turn off established anti-tumour immune response (Intlekofer and Thompson, 2013). According to the cancer immunesurveillance hypothesis, the sentinel thymus-dependent cells of the body constantly surveyed host tissue for nascently transformed cells (Burnet, 1970). After several decades, the concept of cancer immunosurveillance expanded to incorporate both adaptive and innate immunity (Dunn, Old and Schreiber, 2004). According to the recent work, it was shown that the immune system may also promote the emergence of primary tumours with reduced tumerigenicity, capable of immune escape (Shankaran *et al.*, 2001). The findings gave rise to new concept of cancer immunoediting encompassing host protective and tumour sculpting functions of the immune system thoughout tumour development mechanism (Dunn et al., 2002, 2004). Cancer immunoediting is a dynamic process composed of 3 E's: emilination, equilibrium and escape. Elimination represents the concept of immunosurveillance, equilibrium is the period of immune-mediated latency after incomplete tumour destruction. In this phase the tumour cells can be maintained chronically or sculpted by "immune editors" and produce new tumour cell variants (Dunn, Old and Schreiber, 2004). Escape refers to the out growth of the tumour cells which have crossed the barriers of the equilibrium phase (Dunn, Old and Schreiber, 2004).

CTLA-4 and PD-1Rs represent two T-cell-inhibitory receptors with independent mechanisms of action. Preclinical investigations revealed that CTLA-4 enforces an activation threshold and attenuates proliferation of tumour-specific T lymphocytes (Intlekofer and Thompson, 2013). In the clinical trials recruiting CTLA-4 blockade, Ipilumimab antibody, was pioneer demonstrating improved survival in the stage IV melanoma patients (Hodi et al., 2010). PD-1 functions primarily as a stop signal that limits T-cell effector function within a tumor. By blocking either of these receptors a sustained anti-tumour response can be generated (Intlekofer and Thompson, 2013). Anti-PD-1 antibody, Nivolumab, have shown promising results in diverse range of tumours including melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and lung cancer (Hamid et al., 2013, Topalian et al., 2014, Brahmar et al., 2012, and Topalian et al., 2012). Recent evidence from preclinical models highlights the pivotal role of the Programmed Death-1 (PD-1) T-cell coreceptor and its ligands, B7-H1/PD-L1 and B7-DC/PD-L2, in maintaining an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. Encouraging early clinical results using blocking agents against components of the PD-1 pathway making it an important target for cancer immunotherapy (Topalian et al., 2012). After successful trials with combination of Ipilumimab and Nivolumab in pre-clinical trials, the combination has also demonstrated distinct pattern of atitumour immunity with rapid tumour regression in a substantial proportion of melanoma patients (Curran et al., 2010, Topalian et al., 2012). Although both PD-1 and CTLA-4 act to dampen T-cell activation via shared signaling pathways, differences in sites of action have been proposed to help understand the differences in patterns of autoimmunity as well as antitumor effects with PD-1 and CTLA- 4 blockade (Das et al., 2015). It was shown in the study that combining anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 therapies have better response than the two therapies given individually (Das et al., 2015). Blood/tumor tissue from 45 patients undergoing single or combination immune checkpoint

blockade were selected for the study conducted by Das et al. It was shown that blockade of CTLA-4, PD-1, or combination of the two leads to distinct genomic and functional signatures in vivo in purified human T-cells and monocytes. Therapy-induced changes were more prominent in T-cells and involve largely nonoverlapping changes in coding genes, including alternatively spliced transcripts and noncoding RNAs. Pathway analysis revealed that CTLA-4 blockade induces a proliferative signature predominantly in a subset of transitional memory T-cells, whereas PD-1 blockade instead leads to changes in genes implicated in cytolysis and NK cell function. Combination blockade leads to nonoverlapping changes in gene expression, including proliferation-associated and chemokine genes. The results demonstrated that inspite of having shared property of checkpoint blockade, Abs against PD-1, CTLA-4 alone, or in combination have distinct immunologic effects in vivo (Das et al., 2015).

Table 1.4.	The prostate	cancer immunotherapy	clinical trials	currently ongoing
	1	1.4		

Trial no.	Title	Phase	Patient conditions	Investigators	
NCT01688492	Combining ipilimumab with abiratorone acetate plus prednisone in chemotherapy and immunotherapy-naïve patients with progressive metastatic CRPrCa <sup>1</sup>	I-II	chemotherapy and immunotherapy-naïve patients with progressive metastatic CRPrCa <sup>1</sup>	Daniel C Danila, MD	
NCT01530084	Ipilimumab and GM-CSF immunotherapy for PrCa	II	chemotherapy-naïve patients with progressive metastatic CRPrCa <sup>1</sup>	Lawrence Fong, MD	
NCT00711334	NY-ESO phase I study for PrCa	Ι	Patients with androgen- independent prostate carcinoma	Teresa G Hayes, MD, PhD	
NCT01696877	A neoadjuvant study of androgen ablation combined with cyclophosphamide and GVAX vaccine for localised PrCa	I-II	Patients with high-risk localised PrCa undergoing radical prostatectomy	Emmanuel Antonarakis, MD	
NCT01420965	Sipuleucel-T, CT-011 and cyclophosphamide for advancedPrCa	II	Patients with advanced CRPrCa	Samir Khleif, MD	
NCT01140373	Adoptive transfer of autologous T-Cells targeted to PSMA <sup>2</sup> for treatment of castrate metastatic PrCa	Ι	castrate metastatic PrCa	Susan Slovin, MD,PhD	
NCT00450463	Vaccine therapy with PROSTAVAC/TRICOM and flutamide vs flutamide alone to treat PrCa	II	Patients with androgen insensitive, non-metastatic (D0.5) PrCa	Ravi A Madan, MD	
NCT01487863	Concurrent vs sequential treatment with Sipuleucel-T and abiraterone in men with metastatic CRPrCa	II	Patients with metastatic CRPrCa	Study director: Andrew C Stubbs, PhD	
NCT00583024	Phase II study of adenovirus/PSA vaccine in men with hormone-refractory PrCa (APP22)	II	Patients with hormone-refractory PrCa	David M Lubaroff, PhD	
NCT01322490	A phase 3 study of a recombinant vaccinia virus to treat metastatic PrCa	III	Patients with few or no symptoms from metastatic, CRPrCa	James L Gulley, MD and Philip Kantoff, MD	
-------------	--	-----	--	--	
NCT00583752	Phase II study of adenovirus/PSA vaccine in men with recurrent PrCa after local therapy APP21	II	patients with recurrent PrCa after local therapy	David M Lubaroff, PhD	
NCT01477749	Sipuleucel-T manufacturing demonstration study	II	Patients with metastatic CRPrCa referring to European manufacturing facility	Study director: Andrew C Stubbs, PhD	
NCT01338012	Sipuleucel-T in metastatic CRPrCa patients previously treated on dendreon study P-11 (NCT00779402)	II	patients previously treated on dendreon study P-11	Study director: Robert Sims, MD	
NCT01685489	A phase 1b dose escalation trial of PSK <sup>®</sup> /placebo with docetoxel to treat metastatic CRPrCa	Ι	Patients with metastatic CRPrCa	Celestia Higano, MD	
NCT01436968	Phase 3 study of ProstAtak <sup>TM</sup> with standard radiation therapy for localised PrCa (PrTK03)	III	Patients with localised PrCa	Several PI	
NCT01522820	Vaccine therapy with or without sirolimus in treating patients with NY-ESO-1 expressing solid tumours	Ι	Patients with recurrent PrCa	Kunle Odunsi	

<sup>1</sup>castration-resistant prostate cancer <sup>2</sup>prostate-specific membrane antigen

# **1.8** Boosting immune responses: adjuvants and agonists

Adjuvants are the substances admixed or given along with vaccine to enhance the immunogenicity of the vaccine as they are capable of boosting the immune response of weak antigens (Dubensky *et al.*, 2010). This also allows reduced use of antigen in the vaccine and the total number of vaccinations (Banzoff *et al.*, 2009; Schwarz *et al.*, 2009). They are particularly of interest in the context of cancer immunotherapy in order to boost the vaccine-specific T- and B-cell responses and to engage components of the innate immune system (McCartney *et al.*, 2009; O'Hagan *et al.*, 2009) by enhancing the magnitude, breadth, quality, and longevity of antigen specific immune responses with minimal toxicity. Adjuvants are being used clinically targeting general population for increasing vaccine response, increasing the mean antibody titeres and/or the fraction of subjects that develop protective immunity, concomitant with an increase in seroconversion (Coffman *et al.*, 2010).

Freund's incomplete adjuvant (IFA) is the most commonly used adjuvant in animal models, known to induce a weak, Th2 immune response. Various adjuvants have been trialed along with cancer vaccine administration to date and are listed in table 1.5. Adjuvants may achieve a qualitative alteration of the immune response (Coffman *et al.*, 2010), provide conversion of a Th1 response to Th2, enhance CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses, and increase the generation of the effector T-cell memory response with some of them promoting the speed of immune response post prime (Galli *et al.*, 2009; Khurana *et al.*, 2010; Vandepapeliere *et al.*, 2008; Galli *et al.*, 2006; Khurana *et al.*, 2010).

List of potential adjuvants	Innate receptor pathway activated	Immune responses
Alum (licensed)	NLRP3 inflammosome	Th1 and Th2
AS04 (licensed)	TLR4 and inflammasome	Th1
MF59 and AS03 (licensed)	Tissue inflammation	Th1 and Th2
Incomplete Freund's adjuvant (IFA)	p24 stimulation	Induction of T-cell responses against HLA-A2 restricted epitopes in melanoma
Montanide ISA51		Strong T-cell lymphoproliferative response
<u>Microbial derivatives (natural and</u> <u>synthetic)</u>		
Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL)	TLR4	Enhanced Th1 responses
Detox (MPL + CWS) OM-174 (lipid A derivative, E. coli), OM-triacyl	<i>In vitro</i> maturation of human dendritic cells	Induction of cellular and humoral responses in melanoma patients
Modified LT (genetically modified bacterial toxins [heat-labile enterotoxin, cholera toxin] to provide nontoxic adjuvant effect)		Balanced Th1 and Th2 responses
CpG ODN	TLR9	Th1 immunity with CD8 T-cell induction
<u>Immunoadjuvant</u>		
Cytokines: (IL-2, IL-12, GM-CSF, Flt3)		Enhanced antibody responses
Accessory molecules (B7.1)		Enhanced cellular responses by providing co-stimulatory signals to T
Poly-IC	TLR3, MDA5	Th1, CD8 T cells
Flagellin, flagellin antigens, flagellin Proteins	TLR5	Th1+Th2
Imiquimods	TLR7, TLR8, or both	Th1, CD8 T cells (when conjugated)
CAF01	Mincle	Th1, Th17
ISCOMs and ISCOMATRIX	?	Th1+Th2, CD8 T cells

# Table 1.5. List of potential adjuvants

TLR agonists are potential adjuvants, known to activate DCs, augmenting T-cell responses and downregulating the suppressive effects of TRegs. They promote both adaptive and innate anti-tumour immunity and affect the tumour microenvironment. TLR 3, 4, 7, 8, and 9 are the most promising TLR agonists for use alongside vaccination strategies (Cheever, 2008).

It has also been observed that inoculation of BCG into established tumours leads to regression and prevention of metastasis (Zbar and Tanaka, 1971). It is being used in phase I and II clinical trials, targeting melanoma, colorectal and breast cancers, and neuroblastoma. It is also involved in phase III clinical trials targeting melanoma and colon and lung cancer (Vacchelli *et al.*, 2012). Various TLR agonists approved are listed in table 1.6. Immunotherapy combining the use of TLR agonists together with chemotherapy or radiotherapy seems to be a promising approach, for example, the use of cyclophosphamide to control TRegs, antiandrogens that enhance T-cell infiltration into the tumour, and anthracyclines that appear to increase the potential for antigen presentation within the tumour environment.

Agonist	TLR	Status/Malignancy	References
Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG)	TLR2/4	FDA approved for Bladder carcinoma, phase I and II clinical trials for melanoma, colorectal, breast cancers, and neuroblastoma. In phase III clinical trials targeting melanoma and colon and lung cancer	Zbar and Tanaka, 1971, Vacchelli <i>et al.</i> , 2012
Monophosphoryl lipid A	TLR2/4	FDA approved, incorporated in Cervarix <sup>®</sup> in the form of AS07 targeting HPV-associated cervical cancer	Schiffman <i>et al.</i> , 2012)
Imiquimod	TLR7	FDA approved targeting actinic keratosis and basal cell carcinoma. In phase I and II- as a single agent or in combination with other therapies for the treatment of brain, breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer, melanoma, neuroblastoma, sarcoma, and non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC). Phase II and III - as a single agent targeting cervical cancer and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC)	Drobits <i>et al.</i> , 2012, Vacchelli <i>et al.</i> , 2012

<b>Table 1.6.</b>	TLR agonists ap	proved by FDA	for use in humans
-------------------	-----------------	---------------	-------------------

CD40 is a tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member expressed broadly on antigenpresenting cells (APC) such as dendritic cells, B cells, and monocytes as well as many nonimmune cells and a range of tumors. Agonistic CD40 mAb have been shown to activate APC and promote anti-tumor T cell responses and to foster cytotoxic myeloid cells with the potential to control cancer in the absence of T-cell immunity (Eliopolous et al., 2004; van Kooten and Banchereau, 2000). Signaling via CD40 to APC is thought to represent a major component of T cell help and mediates in alree part the capacity of Th to license APC. Ligation of CD40 on DC induces increased surface expression on surface costimulatory and MHC molecules, production of proinflammaotry cytokines and enhanced T-cell triggering (van Kooten and Banchereau, 2000). Along with use of agonistic mAb, recombinant CD40L and CD40 gene therapy have been tested in aptients with promising primary outcomes (Vonderheide, 2007). CD40 agonist was first used in the clinical trial for advanced squamous cell cancer patients in the form of CD40L which showed long term complete remission (Vonderheide, 2001). Similarly, CP-870,893 have also shown clinical efficacy in advanced cancers (Vonderheide, 2007). Due to potential synergy between the chemotherapy (to release tumor antigen) and CD40 agonists (to activate APC), CP-870,893 has been tested in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel and gemcitabine. Objective tumor regressions were observed in about 20% of patients in each study (Beatty et al., 2011). Dacetuzumab, a weaker CD40 agonist than CP-870,893, has shown single-agent activity when given intravenously every week, especially in patients with diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL). Stable disease but not tumor regression was observed with dacetuzumab in multiple myeloma and CLL (Advani et al., 2009; Hussein et al., 2010; Furman et al., 2010). The startegies using an anti CD40 antibody aim to activate DC, macrophages, or both.

Immunologically, direct tumor cytotoxicity accomplished by CD40 agonists is hypothesized to provide a source of tumor antigen that can be processed and presented by host APC which are simultaneously activated.

# **1.9** Aims of the research

In the current study the main aim was to develop a vaccination strategy targeting the two mutant forms of p53: 175 and 273. The first aim was to identify the HLA-A2 restricted immunogenic p53 peptides and then develop a vaccination strategy. Next aim was to assess the efficacy of the developed strategy in the pre-clinical tumour model and finally, to assess the peptide-specific circulating T-cells in prostate cancer patient PBMCs.

# **Chapter 2: Materials and Methods**

# 2.1 Materials

Reagents were stored as per manufacturer instructions and used before the expiry date.

2.1.1 Reagents	
Table 2.1. Reagents      Reagents	Company (Catalogue no.)
Culture Media	
1640 RPMI	Lonza (BE12-167F)
Phosphate buffer saline (DPBS)	Biowittaker (BE17-512F)
DMEM	Biowittaker (BE12-604F)

### Supplements added to culture media Fungizone Lonza (17518) **HEPES Buffer** Biowittaker (BE17-737F) Foetal Calf Serum L-Glutamine Lonza (BE17-603E) Penicillin/Streptomycin Biowittaker (DE17-603E)

2-Mercaptoethanol

## **Cell culture reagents**

Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) Trypan blue Incomplete Freud's Adjuvant(IFA) Polyinosinic polycytideylic acid (Poly I. C) Geneticin (G418) Gentamycin **GM-CSF** mIL-2Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA)

Thermo scientific(SV30160.03) Sigma-Aldrich (M3148)

Sigma-Aldrich (D2650) Sigma-Aldrich Sigma-Aldrich (T8154) Sigma-Aldrich (F5560) Sigma-Aldrich (27-4110-01)

Sigma-Aldrich (A1720) Sigma-Aldrich (G1914) R & D Systems (415M2-050) R & D Systems (402-ML-100) Advanced Protein roducts (12659)

# **Chemical reagents**

Acetic acid	Fisher scientific (10041250)
Ethanol	BDH
Vitamin E	Sigma-Aldrich (47786)
Dextran Sulfate	Sigma-Aldrich (42867)
Isoton	Beckman Coulter (8546859)
Gold microcarrier	BioRad (165-2263)
Liquid Nitrogen	British Oxygen Company
Presept	Johnson and Johnson (13GD585)
Tween 20	Promega (P1379)
PVP (Poly Venyl Pyrolidine)	Sigma-Aldrich (PVP40)
Isopropanol	Sigma-Aldrich (19516)
Magnesium chloride (MgCl <sub>2</sub> )	Fisher Scientific (M2670)
Paraformaldehyde	Sigma-Aldrich (F1635)
Phenyl/Chloroform/Isoamyl alcohol	Sigma-Aldrich (P2069)
Potassium acetate (KOAc)	Sigma-Aldrich (P1190)
Sodium azide (NaN3)	Sigma-Aldrich (S-8032)
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	Fisher Scientific (7760)
Spermidine	Sigma-Aldrich (S0266)
Tris	Fisher Scientific (9310)
Trizma base	Sigma-Aldrich (T3253)
2-methylbutane (Isopentane)	Acros Organics (1264-70010)
CpG Oligonucleotide	MWG
Staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) from	Sigma-Aldrich (S4881)
Staphylococcus aureus	

2.1.2 Media:-Culture media was prepared and used within a month.

T cell media- RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 1% glutamine, 10% FCS, 20mM HEPES,
50 μM 2-ME, 50 U/mL penicillin, 50 μg streptomycin and 0.25 μg/mL fungizone

**BM-DC media-** RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 1% glutamine, 5% FCS, 20mM HEPES, 50 μM 2-ME, 50 U/mL penicillin, 50 μg streptomycin and 0.25 μg/mL fungizone **Cell culture media-** RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 1% glutamine, 10% FCS **Buffers-** *Trypan Blue: White cell counting solution:* 0.1% (v/v) solution of Trypan blue in PBS 0.6% (v/v) acetic acid in PBS

Cell line	Culture media used	
MC38	RPMI 1640 + 10% v/v FCS + 1% L-glutamine	
TRAMP	DMEM + 10% v/v FCS and 5mM L-glutamine	
RMA/S	RPMI 1640 + 10% v/v FCS + 1% 5mM L-glutamine	
LnCaP	RPMI 1640 + 10% v/v FCS + 1% 5mM L-glutamine+ Na	
	pyruvate+ Glucose+ Hepes buffer	
DU 145	RPMI 1640 + 10% v/v FCS + 1% 5mM L-glutamine	
FGK-45	RPMI 1640 + 10% v/v FCS + 1% 5mM L-glutamine	

Table 2.2. Cell line and culture media

### 2.1.3 Materials for Flow Cytometry:-

## Buffers for flow cytometry

- (i) Permeabilisation solution: Fixation solution:
- 1% (v/v) paraformaldehyde in PBS 70% (v/v) ethanol in PBS
- (*ii*) FACS buffer:
- 0.1% (w/v) BSA
- 0.02% (w/v) NaN3

1X PBS

Table 2.3. Antibodies for flow cytometry		
Antibody	Manufacturer	
RaM CD11c (FITC)	Serotec	
Purified mouse anti-p53	BD Pharmingen	
Alexa fluor 568 goat anti mouse	Invitrogen	
Ani mouse H2Kb (FITC)	eBioscience	
Mouse anti-human HLA-A2 (FITC)	AbD Serotec	
Anti-mouse CD3 (eFluor 450)	eBioscience	
Anti-mouse CD4 (PE-Cy7)	eBioscience	
Anti-mouse CD8 (eFluor 710)	eBioscience	
Mouse anti-human CD3 (ECD)	Beckman Coulter	
Mouse anti-human CD4 (PC5.5)	Beckman Coulter	
Mouse anti-human CD8 (Alexa Fluor 700)	Beckman Coulter	
Mouse anti human (Krome Orange)	Beckman Coulter	

# 2.1.4 ELISpot Assay Reagents

(i) Kits

•	Murine	<b>ELISpot</b>	assay	kit
---	--------	----------------	-------	-----

Murine IFNγ kit Mabtech (3321-2A)

Colour development kit Bio-Rad (170-6432)

# • Human ELISpot assay kit

Human IFNγ kit	R & D Systems (SEL285)

ELISpot blue colour development module R & D Systems (SEL002)

(*ii*) Buffers for ELISpot assay Wash Buffer- 0.05% Tween20 in PBS

Reagent Diluent- 1% BSA in PBS, pH7.2-7.4, 0.2µm filtered

Antibodies used for ELISpot assay:-

2.1.5 ELISA

• Buffers for ELISA

Wash buffer: Stop solution:

0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 in PBS 2N H2SO4

Block buffer: Substrate solution:

1% (w/v) BSA 1 volume colour reagent A (R&D Systems)

5% (w/v) sucrose 1 volume colour reagent B (R&D Systems)

0.05% (w/v) NaN3

Completed to final volume with PBS

Reagent diluent for IL-5: Reagent diluent for IFNy:

1% (w/v) BSA 0.1% (w/v) BSA

Completed to final volume with PBS 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20

Completed to final volume with PBS

# 2.1.6 Materials for CTL Assays

# (i) Radio-isotope for CTL release Assay

96 well Lumamax plates were purchased from PerkinElmer. <sup>51</sup>Chromium (<sup>51</sup>Cr) in the form of sodium, Chromate was purchased from Amersham International LTD.

# (ii) Radio-isotope for Proliferation Assay

96 Uni/Filter plates were purchased from PerkinElmer. [<sup>3</sup>H]-Thymidine (<sup>3</sup>Thy) was purchased from Amersham International Ltd.

 Table 2.4. Laboratory plastic ware, glassware and sharps

 Item
 Company

T25 tissue culture flasks

Sarstedt, UK

5 mL, 10 mL and 25 mL pipettes	Sarstedt, UK
20 mL Universals	Sterilin, UK
Centrifuge tubes (15 mL)	Sarstedt, UK
Centrifuge tubes (50 mL)	Sarstedt, UK
FACS Tubes	Elkay, UK
10 mL, 20 mL Syringes	Becton Dickenson
BD Microlance 3 needles	Becton Dickenson
24 well flat bottom culture dishes	Sarstedt, UK
Pasteur Pipettes	Sarstedt, UK
1.2 mL eppendorf tubes	Sarstedt, UK
0.5 mL eppendorf tubes	Sarstedt, UK
Pipette tips <1 mL	Sarstedt, UK
Petri dishes	Sterilin, UK
Haemocytometer	Weber
Scalpels	Swann Morton Ltd.
0.2 µm filters	Sartorious, UK
0.5-10 µL tips	Sartorious, UK
20-100 µL tips	Sartorious, UK
200-1000 µL tips	Sartorious, UK

 Table 2.5. Electrical Equipments

Equipment	Manufacturer
Refrigerated Centrifuge	Sanvo
(Mistral 1000, MSE)	
-80° C freezer	Ultima II, Reveo
Class II Safety Cabinets	Walker
37° C Incubator	Forma Scientific
96 well plate harvester	Packard
Drying cabinet	Scientific Laboratory Supplies Ltd
Water Baths	Grant Instruments

Confocal Microscope	Leica
Light Microscope	Nikon
Microcentrifuge, Microcentaur	MSE
Flow cytometer, Gallios	Beckman Coulter
Cell Harvester, Filtermate harvester	Packard
Gene Gun	BioRad
Nano Drop ND8000	LabTech International

### 2.1.7 P53 sequences

### 2.1.7.1 Human p53 sequence, accession #P04637

MEEPQSDPSVEPPLSQETFSDLWKLLPENNVLSPLPSQAMDDLMLSPDDIEQWFTEDPGPDEAPRMPEAAPPVAPAPAAPTPAAPAPAPSWPLSSSVPSQKTYQGSYGFRLGFLHSGTAKSVTCTYSPALNKMFCQLAKTCPVQLWVDSTPPPGTRVRAMAIYKQSQHMTEVVRRCPHHERCSDSDGLAPPQHLIRVEGNLRVEYLDDRNTFRHSVVVPYEPPEVGSDCTTIHYNYMCNSSCMGGMNRRPILTIITLEDSSGNLLGRNSFEVRVCACPGRDRRTEEENLRKKGEPHHELPPGSTKRALPNNTSSSPQPKKKPLDGEYFTLQIRGRERFEMFRELNEALELKDAQAGKEPGGSRAHSSHLKSKKGQSTSRHKKLMFKTEGPDSD

### 2.1.7.2 Mouse p53 sequence, accession # P02340

MTAMEESQSD ISLELPLSQE TFSGLWKLLP PEDILPSPHC MDDLLLPQDV EEFFEGPSEA LRVSGAPAAQ DPVTETPGPV APAPATPWPL SSFVPSQKTY QGNYGFHLGF LQSGTAKSVM CTYSPPLNKL FCQLAKTCPV QLWVSATPPA GSRVRAMAIY KKSQHMTEVV RRCPHHERCS DGDGLAPPQH LIRVEGNLYP EYLEDRQTFR HSVVVPYEPP EAGSEYTTIH YKYMCNSSCM GGMNRRPILT IITLEDSSGN LLGRDSFEVR VCACPGRDRR TEEENFRKKE VLCPELPPGS AKRALPTCTS ASPPQKKKPL DGEYFTLKIR GRKRFEMFRE LNEALELKDA HATEESGDSR AHSSYLKTKK GQSTSRHKKT MVKKVGPDSD

<sup>1</sup> HLA A-0201/ <sup>2</sup> H2-K <sup>b</sup> octamer/nonamer/ decamer				S	Binding Score						
Human 263-272	Ν	L	L	G	R	Ν	S	F	Ε	V	26
Mouse 260-272	Ν	L	L	G	R	D	S	F	Ε	V	26
Human 245-253	G	М	Ν	R	R	Ρ	Ι	L	Т	Ι	25
Mouse 242-252	G	М	Ν	R	R	Ρ	Ι	L	Т	Ι	25
Human 322-330	Ρ	L	D	G	Ε	Y	F	Т	L		21
Mouse 320-327	L	D	G	Ε	Y	F	Т	L			23
Human 193-201	Η	L	Ι	R	V	Ε	G	Ν	L		22
Mouse 191-198	L	Ι	R	V	Е	G	Ν	L			13

Table 2.6. P53 class I and class II peptide sequences

<sup>1</sup> HLA-DRB1*0101/ <sup>2</sup> IA <sup>b</sup> - 15mers	Sequence															Binding Score
Human 108-123	G	F	R	L	G	F	L	Η	S	G	Т	A	K	S	V	31
Mouse 105-121	G	F	Η	L	G	F	L	Q	S	G	Т	A	K	S	V	31
Human 249-263	R	Ρ	Ι	L	Т	Ι	Ι	Т	L	Ε	D	S	S	G	Ν	26
Mouse 246-260	R	Ρ	Ι	L	Т	Ι	Ι	Т	L	Ε	D	S	S	G	Ν	26
Human 258-272	Ε	D	S	S	G	Ν	L	L	G	R	Ν	S	F	Ε	V	25
Mouse 255-269	Ε	D	S	S	G	Ν	L	L	G	R	Ν	S	F	Ε	V	25

# 2.1.8 Peptides

All peptides used in this study, described in table 2.2, were obtained synthesised commercially, with >90% purity, and their identity and purity was confirmed by mass spectrometry (Mocell Biotec, Genscript).

### 2.2: Methods

#### 2.2.1 Peptides

The p53 protein sequence was screened for predicted peptides binding to MHC class I (HLA-A2) and MHC class II (HLA-DR1) using the SYFPEITHI (www.syfpeithi.de) algorithm. Peptide epitopes with high binding scores were shortlisted. Peptides p53-193-201 (HLIRVEGNL), p53-322-330 (PLDGEYFTL), p53-245-254 (GMNRRPILTI), p53-108-122 (GFRLGLHSGTAKSV), p53-249-263 (RPILTIITLEDSSGN) and p53-258-272 (EDSSGNLLGRNSFEV) were synthesized and obtained from commercial sources. Class I (ISIWNPRL) and class II (ISIWNPRLLWQPIPV) epitopes from influenza were used as control peptides. All the peptides were dissolved in 100% DMSO and aliquoted with working concentration of 10 mg/mL.

### 2.2.2 Animals

Mouse class I (H2-K<sup>b</sup>) knockout C57BL/6 HLA-A2.1/-DR1 double transgenic (HHDII-DR1) animals were used for the current study. The strain was received as a generous gift from Dr. Lone (via CNRS, France). C57 BL/6 mice (colonies supplied by Charles River) were bred at the Nottingham Trent University facilities under a Home Office approved project license and in accordance to UK Home Office regulations.

# 2.2.3 Cell lines

MC38 murine colon carcinoma cell line was a generous gift from Prof. Albert DeLeo (University of Pittsburgh). TRAMP C1 cells were derived from transgenic TRAMP (Transgenic Adenocarcinoma of Mouse Prostate) C57 BL/6 mice (a kind gift from Professor Matteo Belloni, Fondazione San Raffaele Del Monte Tabor, Italy). LnCaP cell line was obtained from ATCC (ATCC CRL-1740, LnCaP clone FGC) and DU 145 cell line was obtained from ATCC (ATCC HTB-81). The culture conditions and media used are listed in the table below. RMA/S cell line was a generous gift from Dr. Colin Brooks (Newcastle University) and FGK-45 hybridomas were a generous gift from Prof. Kees Melief (University of Leiden, Netherlands).

Cell line	Tumour Type	Cell line features	Adherent or
			suspension
MC38	Murine colon	Naturally express mutated (242)	Adherent
	carcinoma	p53	
RMA/S		Naturally express empty MHC I	Suspension
		molecules on the cells surfaces	
TRAMP	Transgenic	Express prostate specific genes	Adherent
	adenocarcinoma	PSCA, PSMA and PAP	
	mouse prostate		
LnCaP (HLA-A2+)	Hypotetraploid	Express PAP, PSA, P53, T21	Adherent
	human cell line,		
	human prostate		
	carcinoma		
DU 145 (HLA-A2-)	Hypotriploid		Adherent
	human cell line,		
	human prostate		
	carcinoma		
FGK-45	Hybridoma	Source for anti CD-40 antibody	Suspension

 Table 2.7.
 Cell line and culture media

### **2.2.4 Immunisations**

#### 2.2.4.1 Peptide immunisation procedure

Mice were injected with anti-CD-40 antibody in the abdominal cavity using intraperitoneal (I.P.) route. Within 4-6 h after injecting anti-CD40 antibody they were immunised with the peptides (75 µg of class I and II peptide/mouse in the same mixture) emulsified in incomplete Freund's adjuvant (IFA) (Sigma-Aldrich) at a ratio of 1:1, with or without CpG Oligonucleotides CpG ODN1826 (5'-tccatgacgttcctgacgtt-3') (50 µg/mouse) via an injection into the base of the tail using intra muscular (I.M.) route. Immunisations were given on d 1 and boost on d 14 with the same immunisation regime, spleens were harvested a week after the final immunisation.

#### 2.2.4.2 Gene Gun immunisation procedure

Mice were immunised in the abdominal cavity with gold labeled DNA encoding p53-175 and p53-273 mutant proteins using the gene gun. Both the plasminds used for the gene gun immunization were kind gift from Dr. Stephanie McArdle (Nottingham Trent University). This was repeated at weekly intervals for a total of three immunisations. Between 7 to 10 days post final immunisation spleens were harvested for *in vitro* re-stimulation of splenocytes with relevant peptide prior to cytotoxicity assays.

Gold 'bullets' containing the gold labeled DNA were produced according to kit manufacturers protocol with the following adjustments. DNA to be labeled was made up to a working concentration of  $1\mu g/\mu L$  in dH<sub>2</sub>O in a final volume of  $18\mu L$ . This gave a dose of  $1\mu g$  of DNA/bullet/animal after production. Spermidine (1 mg/mL) was diluted to the working concentration of  $4\mu L$  in 544 $\mu L$  dH<sub>2</sub>O, and 100 $\mu L$  was added to 8.3 $\mu g$  gold (1 $\mu m$  particles) in a sonicated water bath. DNA was then added to the gold in the sonicated water bath followed by 100µL of 1M calcium chloride, added drop wise. The tube was then allowed to stand for 10 min at room temperature. Meanwhile; PVP was weighed and made to a final concentration of 0.025 mg/mL in ethanol and tubing for the bullets dried out using nitrogen gas. The tube containing the gold/DNA mixture was spun at 260g for approximately 15 s, the supernatant discarded and the pellet resuspended in ethanol in the sonicating water bath. This was repeated three times. After the final wash, the gold pellet was resuspended in 1 mL of 0.025 mg/mL PVP and transferred to a 15 mL centrifuge tube. The sample was sonicated then loaded into the tube using a syringe and the tubing turned through 180<sup>0</sup> and left for 10 s. The tubing was rotated on the prep-station for 30 s on setting 1 prior to turning on the nitrogen gas (set to 0.3-0.4 L/min) for approximately 15-20 min to allow the tubing to dry. Once dry, the tubing was cut to create the bullets which were then used in the gene gun as described previously.

### 2.2.4.3 Plasmid (IB-p53)

CDRs (Complementarity Determining Regions) within ImmunoBody<sup>®</sup> single heavy and light chain vectors were replaced with unique restriction sites. The p53 ImmunoBody<sup>®</sup> was generated using human IgG1 construct and complimentary oligonucleotides encoding the HLA-A2 restricted peptide of p53-322-330 (PLDGEYFTL) were annealed and incorporated into the CDRH2 site of the vector whereas the CD4 DR1 p53-249-263 (RPILTIITLEDSSGN) restricted helper epitope was inserted into the CDRL1 of the kappa chain. Sequences were confirmed and plasmid was amplified and isolated using a Qiagen EndoFree Maxi Prep kit follwoing manufacturer's instructions.

### 2.2.4.4 Spio-peptide immunisation

Iron nano-particles containing multiple binding sites for the class I and class II peptides were synthesised by Dr. Gareth Cave's group at the Nottingham Trent University. Spio coupled with p53-322-330 (75 $\mu$ g) and p53-249-263 (75 $\mu$ g) were immunised at the base of the tail of the C57BL/6 mice in PBS only and/or with and without IFA in PBS, at the base of the tail. The mice were boosted on d 15 and spleens were harvested 7 ds post boost.

#### 2.2.5 IFNγ ELISpot assay

IFN $\gamma$  ELISpot assays were performed according to manufacturer's protocol, Mabtec and R&D systems, for murine and human respectively on the day of splenectomy using 96-well ELISpot plates (Millipore). For each experiment ( $0.5 \times 10^6$  or  $1 \times 10^5$  cells per well), triplicate wells received 2 µg of class I and class II peptides. Triplicate control wells included irrelevant/no peptides at the same concentrations from the immunised mice and/or naïve control mice. The plates were developed after 48 h with BCIP/NBT (BioRad) for 30-45 min and were rinsed with tap water. Spots were quantitated with an ELISpot reader (Cellular Technology Limited). An animal was scored as positive when the response in the peptide containing well was at least twice that of control wells.

#### 2.2.6 Flow cytometry

2-5x10<sup>5</sup> cells were used per 12x75 mm polystyrene tube (Elkay) for Flow cytometry. Cells were washed and incubated for 30 min with conjugated primary antibody and appropriate isotype controls were used in each experiment following manufacturer's instructions for antibody dilutions. Following incubation with the antibody, cells were washed and resuspended in 500  $\mu$ l of Isoton prior to acquisition and analysis using a Beckman Coulter Gallios<sup>®</sup> flow cytometer and Kaluza<sup>®</sup> software.

### Intracellular staining

Cells were centrifuged, re-suspended and counted. They were then split into FACS tubes  $(1x10^{6}cells/tube)$  and were washed with 2mL of FACS buffer at 300g for 5min. cell surface markers of interest were stained at this stage prior to fixing and permeabilising the cells

Cell fixation

After centrifugation, supernatant was discarded and cell pellets were resuspended into the residual liquid. 100  $\mu$ l of fixative (IntraPrep, Beckman counter, reagent 1) was added to each tube. Tubes were vortexed vigorously and incubated for 15min at RT. Cells were then washed with 3mL PBS and centrifuged again.

Cell permeabilisation

Supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in the residual liquid. 100  $\mu$ l of permeabilisation buffer (IntrPrep, Beckman coulter, reagent 2) was added. Cells were then incubated for 15 min at RT in dark without mixing. After incubation, tubes were gently mixed and were washed with 3mL FACS buffer.

Supernatant was discarded after centrifugation and blocking agent was added. Antibody was then added to cells without washing at required concentration/volume as per manufactirer's protocol. Cells were gently mixed and incubated for 30min at RT in dark. Cells were washed again post incubation and secondary antibody was added (if primary antibody was unconjugated) and incubated again at RT for 30min in dark. Cells were then washed with FACS buffer twice, supernatant was discarded and isoton was added prior to analysis using flow cytometry.

### 2.2.7 Immunofluorescence

OCT embedded tumour tissues were sectioned, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 5 min at room temperature and blocked with 10% rat serum in 0.25% Triton-X100 in PBS for 30 min at room temperature. Purified primary antibodies were used for the assays (diluted as per manufacturer's instructions in blocking buffer) for 2 h at room temperature. Appropriate secondary antibodies and isotype controls were used in each experiment. Slides were mounted with fluorescent mounting media containing DAPI and studied under using a immunofluorescence/confocal microscope.

#### 2.2.8 Human PBMCs

A *ex vivo* ELISpot assay and a 10 d ELISPOT assay were performed to determine the precursor frequencies of peptide specific T cells.

2.2.8.1 Ex vivo ELISpot assay

On d 1 PBMCs were thawed using CTL-wash [10% CTL-wash supplement + RPMI-1640+ 0.2 µl/mL benzonase (250 IU/µL stock, free RNA, DNA removal)] The cells were rested for 2 h in complete medium [RPMI-1640 medium containing 5mM L-glutamine, 5% human AB serum, 0.2 µl/mL of Gentamicin (50 mg/mL stock)] in the incubator 37°C, 5% CO2. Cells were counted using trypan blue in 1:100 ratio in acetic acid and plated in the pre-coated (capture antibody, R&D systems) ELISpot plates with and without p53 peptides and appropriate controls. For class I peptide assessment, T2 cells were used as targets. The cells were labelled with p53-322-330 class I peptide overnight and used as target for the 24 h ELISpot assay. After 24 h, plates were washed and detection antibody was added overnight. Plates were developed next day according to manufacturer's protocol and IFN $\gamma$  response was assessed using CTL ELISpot reader.

#### 2.2.8.2 ELISpot assay after in vitro stimulation

On d 1 PBMCs were plated ( $2x10^{6}$  cells/mL) into 24 well plates in quadruplicates in 2 mL of RPMI-1640 medium containing 5mM L-glutamine, 5% human AB serum, 0.2 µl/mL of Gentamicin (50 mg/mL stock). The cells were incubated at 37°C, 5% CO2. On d 2, the media was replenished with IL-2 (20 U/mL) and IL-7 (5 ng/mL). On d 3, 5 µg/mL p53 peptides were added to respective wells. On d 7, 500ul of supernatants were collected for ELISA. The cells were then washed and replenished with fresh IL-2 (20 U/mL). IFN $\gamma$  ELISpot assay was performed on d 8 according to manufacturer's protocol (R&D Systems) and response was assessed by reading plates using CTL ELISpot reader.

2.2.9 Chromium Release Assay

#### 2.2.9.1 Effector cells

#### (i) Generation of murine CTLs

Spleens from immunised animals were harvested 7 days after final immunisation. Splenocytes were flushed from the spleen using same method mentioned above. These splenocytes were then washed, spun and counted to adjust concentration of cells at 5x10<sup>6</sup>cells/500µL per well into 24-well plate. These splenocytes were plated in 24-well plate and co-cultured with peptide pulsed LPS Blast. For LPS blast, spleens were harvested from naïve mice and cells were flushed out. LPS blasts were set up in a T75 flask by culturing 60x10<sup>6</sup> spleen cells in T-cell medium supplemented with 1mg of LPS, 7mg/ml of dextran sulphate and 40mg/ml of Vitamin E. After 48 hours, cells from LPS blasts were harvested, washed, re-suspended in 5ml of T-cell medium and irradiated with caesium for 8 minutes at the University of Nottingham. These LPS blasts were

washed again and pulsed with 10mg/mL of the relevant or irrelevant peptide for 1 hour at 37°C. After washing, these cells were used for *in vitro* re-stimulation of the splenocytes harvested from immunised mice. One week after the last immunisation, spleens were harvested, counted, resuspended and set up in a T25 flask at 25x10<sup>6</sup> cells/5ml. Finally, 5x10<sup>6</sup> irradiated and peptide-pulsed LPS blasts per 5ml were added to the splenocytes to make a final volume of 10ml in each T25 flask. These splenocytes were then used for *in vitro* cytotoxicity assays after depletion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells post 7 days *in vitro* culture, using a mouse CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell depletion kit (Stem Cell Technologies) according to manufacturer's protocol.

#### (ii) PBMCs

PBMCs were stimulated with and without 1µg peptides for 10 days and used as effector cells. On the day of assay, peptide stimulated splenocytes were harvested, counted using trypan blue and cell concentration was adjusted to  $5x10^{6}$ /mL in T-cell media. The cell suspension was serially diluted using T-cell media across a 96 well round bottom plate to give a range of effector: target ratios from a maximum of 100:1 and a minimum of 12.5:1 effectors to targets. The target cell suspension was then added to this at a volume of 100 µL/well in triplicate.

#### 2.2.9.2 Target cells

RMA/S, MC38 and TRAMP cells were used as targets for the <sup>51</sup>Cr assay using murine splenocyes. LnCaP and DU 145 cells were used for the <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay using prostate cancer patient PBMCs.

RMA/S cells were pulsed with the p53 class I peptide and irrelevant peptide overnight. Cells were peptide-pulsed by adding 1  $\mu$ L/mL of relevant peptide and irrelevant peptide respectively into T25 flasks and were incubated at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> overnight. Cells were harvested from the

flasks and spun and resuspended in residual media. MC38 and LnCaP naturally express mutant p53, needed no pulsing with p53 peptide. TRAMP and DU 145 were used as negative controls. On the day of assay cells were labeled with 1.85MBq <sup>51</sup>Cr 1 h at 37°C in a water bath. Cells were washed twice using CTL media and re-suspended in 1 mL of CTL media containing 1µL of peptide (RMA-S cells) and were incubated in a water bath at 37°C for 1 h. After incubation cells were washed with serum free media and spun at 300g for 3 min. Cells were re-suspended in 1 mL of T-cell media and were counted using trypan blue to adjust the concentration to  $5x10^4$ /mL using T-cell media and used as targets for chromium release assay.

#### 2.2.9.3 Maximum and spontaneous release

In order to calculate chromium release and effective cell lysis, the potential maximum and spontaneous release was measured and calculated. To simulate maximum release 100 $\mu$ L/well of targets cells were added to 70  $\mu$ L/well of T-cell media and 30 $\mu$ L/well of 1% SDS prepared in triplicate. Similarly 100  $\mu$ L/well of target cells were added to 100 $\mu$ L/well of T-cell media to determine spontaneous release.

The 96 well plates were incubated for  $4\frac{1}{2}$  h in a lead container at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. 50µL of the supernatant was transferred to Luma plates after the incubation period, without disturbing the cell pellet. The Luma plates were dried in oven for overnight and then counted using a top-count gamma counter.

The specific percentage lysis was calculated using the following formulae:

Results obtained by Cytotoxicity assay were valid when maximum to spontaneous release was <20%.

### 2.2.10 Proliferation assay

#### 2.2.10.1 Preparation of APCs [Bone marrow derived Dendritic Cells (BMDCs) generation]

Bone marrow derived cells from hind limbs of naïve mice of HHDII/DR1 double transgenic or C57BI/6 strain were isolated to culture and obtain DCs cells from bone marrow cells using GM-CSF as growth factor. Mouse hind limbs were isolated and muscles and knuckles were removed. Bone marrow was flushed out using BMDC media: (RPMI+5% (v/v) FCS+ 2 mM L-glutamine+ 10 mM HEPES+ 50 mM 2-mercaptoethanol+ 25 U/mL Penicillin/Streptomycin 0.25 mg/mL Fungizone+ 1 ng/mL mGM-CSF). Cells were washed, counted and plated out in 24-well plates at 1x10<sup>6</sup>/mL/ well using BMDC media containing 1 ng/mL of murine GM-CSF. Cells were washed with fresh media every 2 days for 7days. Fig. 2.1 shows the schematic representation of the steps involved in the generation of BMDCs.

Image shown in fig.2.2 shows matured DCs after 7 days culture in the BMDC media containing GM-CSF.



**Figure 2.1.** *BM-DC isolation and culture. The flow charts shows the steps involved in the harvesting and culture of BMDCs from naïve HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice and preparation of BMDCs as APCs.* 



Figure 2.2. Bone marrow derived cells under 10x/0.25 and 20x/0.40 magnification.

The day before proliferation assay, BMDCs were replated at  $0.5 \times 10^6$  cells/well and pulsed with 1 µg/mL of peptide of p53 class II peptide. Cells were rested for 4h and LPS was added at 1 µg/mL overnight for maturation of the cells. On the following day, BMDCs were washed twice in T cell media (RPMI+10% (v/v) FCS+ 2 mM L-glutamine+ 10mM HEPES+ 50 mM 2-mercaptoethanol+ 25 U/mL Penicillin/Streptomycin 0.25 mg/mL Fungizone) and resuspended in 1 mL BMDC media containing poly-IC (12.5 µg) for 2 h at 37°C, 5%CO<sub>2</sub>. The peptide-loaded matured DCs were then used as APCs for proliferation assays.

### 2.2.10.2 In vitro peptide re-stimulation of splenocytes

Splenocytes were flushed from the spleens of immunised mice 7 days post last immunization. Pellet was resuspended in 4 mL of T cell media, cells were then counted and plated in 24 well flat bottom plates at  $2x10^6$  cells/mL per well containing 1 µL/mL of Vitamin E and 1 µL/mL of p53 class II peptide in each well. Plates were left to incubate at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

 $CD8^+$  T were depleted from the splenocytes after 7 days of *in vitro* culture using a mouse  $CD8^+$  T-cell depletion kit (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The cells were used in proliferation assays at the concentration of  $5x10^4$ /well. On assessment with flow

cytometry using a Beckman Coulter Gallios® flow cytometer, the T-cell preparations were shown to be typically 90% free of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells.

#### 2.2.10.3 Proliferation assay

#### 2.2.10.3.1 Murine splenocytes and peptide pulsed BMDCs proliferation

For the assay, cells were co-cultured with  $5x10^3$  BMDCs pulsed with either the immunogenic or control peptide in quadruplicates in round-bottom 96-well plates. Cultures were incubated for approximately 60 h at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and <sup>3</sup>H thymidine was added at 37 kBq/well for the final 18 h. Plates were harvested onto 96 Uni/Filter plates (Packard Instrument) and counted after addition of scintillation liquid (Microscint 0, Packard) using a Top-Count counter (Packard). Results are presented as counts per min (cpm) as means of quadruplicates.

### 2.2.10.3.2 PBMCs proliferation assay in response to p53 class II peptides

PBMCs were cultured in the RPMI1640 media and plated at  $5x10^4$  cells/ well in the 96 well round bottom plated for approximately 60 h with and without peptides of interest. Cultures were incubated for approximately 60 h at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and <sup>3</sup>H thymidine was added at 37 kBq/well for the final 18 h. Plates were harvested onto 96 Uni/Filter plates (Packard Instrument) and counted after addition of scintillation liquid (Microscint 0, Packard) using a Top-Count counter (Packard). Results are presented as counts per min (cpm) as means of quadruplicates.

# Chapter 3: p53 peptide screening and the mutants of interest, 175 and 273

# **3.1 Introduction**

Loss of the tumour-suppressive activity in p53 is a frequent event in human cancer, occuring in more than 50% of all types of human cancer (Petitjean et al., 2007b; Rivlin et. al., 2011; Wang et al., 2013). P53 acts to suppress tumour development in a variety of ways, including: cell cycle arrest, DNA repair, senescence and apoptosis (Aylon et. al., 2011) (Figure 1.1). After several trials it was confirmed that not only wild type p53 but its subtype and /or mutations are responsible for the varying function of the p53 protein (Freed-Pastor et. al, 2012). It is also widely accepted that mutations in p53 are very common genetic events in human cell transformation (Levin and Oren, 2009). This "guardian of genome" is inactivated through missense mutations caused by alteration of single amino acid in the DNA binding domain of the p53 protein and carcinogenesis involves the concomitant loss of tumour suppression and gain of oncogene activity. P53 mutations in cancer progression are associated with trans-dominant suppression of wt p53 or gain of oncogenic function independent of wt p53. These two characters may be simultaneous events and their effects can be difficult to separate (Sigal and Rotter, 2000). P53 mutations are frequently found in the conserved regions of the central DNA binding domain of the protein (Attardi and Jacks, 1999).

P53 mutations that occur in the "hot-spot" regions are categorised into two types: class I mutations that occur in the DNA contact region either on the L3 loop or loop-sheet-helix motif of p53 protein, which support the structure of the DNA-binding surface and are hence classified as "contact mutants", usually involving residues R248 and R273. Contact mutants can also demonstrate conformational changes (Wong *et al.*, 1999), which results in alterations

in the way protein folding occurs (Bullock et. al., 2000). Class II mutations are those which occur in the areas important in maintaining conformational stability of the protein involving the L2 loop in the zinc region. These are also called "structural mutants", involving residues R175, G245, R249 and R282 (Cho et al., 1994; Joerger et al. 2007), known as the "demons" of the guardian of genome and an acidic N-terminal transactivation subdomain, which contains a proline-rich region that has a second transactivation domain, DNA-binding domain and oligomerisation domain harbouring a nuclear export signal and C-terminal regulatory domain containing three nuclear localisation signals. The majority of mutations are clustered in the central most conserved region (Freed-Pastor et al., 2012). Figure 3.1 (A) shows the p53 DNA binding domain and subdomains with hotspot mutations highlighted. The two regions circled in red, 273 and 175, are the two mutants selected for the current study as they represent the two categories of mutants discussed above (class I, contact mutants and Class II, conformation mutants). The most frequently occurring "hot spot" mutations are listed in the Table 3.1. and the different p53 mutation frequency and their category is summarised in Table 3.2.



**Figure 3.1** (A). *p53 hotspot mutations. The figure shows P53 protein transactivation domain, central DNA binding domain, tetramerisation domain and the C-terminal regulatory domain. Hotspot mutations are present on the DNA binding domain of the central region of the p53 protein. Different mutations have different frequencies. The two mutant proteins of interest, 175 and 273, are highlighted with red circles (the figure is adapted from Somasundaram et al., 2000).* 

Position	Frequency of alteration <sup>1</sup>
248	7
278	6.7
175	5.1
245	3.3
249	2.9
282	2.9

Table 3.1. Mutations in p53 amino acid positions and frequency of alteration in the top 6 "hot spot" mutations.

The table is adapted from (Freed-Pastor et al., 2012).

<sup>1</sup> shows the percent frequency of alteration.

Amino acid	Frequency of	Wild-type codon	Mutant	Category
residue	alteration		codon <sup>1</sup>	
R175H	4.6%	CGC	C <u>A</u> C	Conformation
R248Q	3.5%	CGG	C <u>A</u> G/C <u>AA</u>	DNA contact
R273H	3.1%	CGT	C <u>A</u> T	DNA contact
R248W	2.8%	CGG	<u>T</u> GG	DNA contact
G245S	2.85%	GGC	<u>A</u> GC	Conformation
R273C	2.75%	CGT	<u>T</u> GT	DNA contact
R282W	2.4%	CGG	<u>T</u> GG	DNA contact
R249S	1.8%	AGG	AG <u>T</u>	Conformation
G245D	0.68%	GGC	G <u>A</u> C	Conformation

The table is adapted from (Freed-Pastor et al., 2012).

<sup>1</sup> the underlined codon bases represent the mutated residues.

# **3.2 Differences in the two categories of the p53 mutants**

It was observed that the presence of the conformational mutant protein (p53-175) results in immortalisation of mammary epithelial cells (Cao *et al.*, 1997). This category of mutants showed a particularly high level of protection against etoposide drug-induced apoptosis as compared to DNA contact mutants (p53-273) (Blandino *et al.*, 1999). Conformational mutants have also been shown to be involved in disrupting the spindle check-point and polyploidy in Colcemid-treated Li-Fraumeni fibroblasts as opposed to the DNA contact mutants (Gualberto *et al.*, 1998), however no difference was observed in the protective effect of either categories of mutants against cisplatin-induced apoptosis (Blandino *et al.*, 1999). Also when assessed for

wild type (wt) p53 transcriptional activity, only the p53-273 mutant displayed activity, as opposed to other p53-175, 156, 248 and 280 mutants (Park *et. al*, 1994). Some of the key differences in the two mutants used in the present study are shown in the Table 3.3.

	273 ( <b>R</b> → <b>H</b> )	175 ( <b>R</b> → <b>H</b> )	References				
% folded	98	30	Bullock et. al., 2000				
Protection from apoptosis	Low	High	Blandino et al., 1999				
Spindle check-point disruption	$ND^1$	Yes	Gualberto et al., 1998				

**Table 3.3.** Comparison of structure and some functions of p53 175 and 273 mutants.

The table is adapted from (Sigal and Rotter, 2000). <sup>1</sup>ND, not done

In this study high scoring peptides for HLA-A0201 and HLA-DR0101 molecules were selected and evaluated for their immunogenicity in HHDII/DRI mice. HHDII/DRI mice, which combines the classic HLA transgene (HLA-A2.1/Db-h2m single chain, DR1) with selective knockdown of murine H-2 that restricts the whole MHC class I- derived T-cell repertoire to HLA-A2.1 and MHC class II repertoire to HLA-DR1 (figure 3.1 B) (Anthony *et al.*, 2004).



HHDII, MHC Class-I molecule, is chimeric HLA-A2

*Figure3.1 (B).* Genetically engineered HHDII/DR1 mice represent HHDII, chimeric MHC classI molecule (diagram adapted from Anthony, 2004).

# **3.3 Rationale of the study**

A wide range of p53 mutations occur and are responsible for promoting carcinogenesis. Two categories of p53 mutations were chosen for this study (figure 3.1-A), p53-175 and p53-273. Both categories of mutations lead to loss of tumour suppression function of the protein (Sigal A and Rotter V, 2000). Mutation at position 175 changes the arginine to a histidine (R-H) and linearises the protein whereas mutation at position 273 abolishes the DNA binding site of the

protein. It was therefore of interest to study these two mutants and assess their ability to induce anti-p53 immune responses (if any) following immunisation of HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice.

# **3.4 Results**

#### 3.4.1 Murine and human p53 protein sequence homology

In this study a HLA-A2 transgenic mouse model was used to identify the most immunogenic p53 peptides suitable for a vaccine candidate. HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice were selected for the study; these genetically engineered mice are also "knocked-out" for murine class I and class II gene. These represent human MHCs and are ideal pre-clinical models for the studies with clinical relevance. In order to identify immunogenic p53 peptides relevant for use in humans, murine and human wt p53 protein sequences were aligned in order to assess their sequence. The alignment is shown in figure 3.2, where sequence 1 is the wt human p53 protein sequence and sequence 2 is the wt murine p53 protein sequence. After aligning the murine and human p53 protein sequences, homology between the two sequences was assessed and was found to be >80%.

```
Seguence 1
            ---MEEPQSDPSVEPPLSQETFSDLWKLLPENNVLSPLPSQAMDDLMLSPDDIEQWFTED
Sequence 2
            MTAMEESOSDISLELPLSOETFSGLWKLLPPEDILP--SPHCMDDLLL-PODVEEFFE-
              ***.*** *:* *******.***** :::*. ..:.****:* *:*:*
Seguence 1
            PGPDEAPRMPEAAPPVAPAPAAPTPAAPAPAPSWPLSSSVPSQKTYQGSYGFRLGFLHSG
Seguence 2
            -GPSEALRVSGAPAAODPVTETPGPVAPAPATPWPLSSFVPSOKTYOGNYGFHLGFLOSG
            TAKSVTCTYSPALNKMFCQLAKTCPVQLWVDSTPPPGTRVRAMAIYKQSQHMTEVVRRCP
Sequence 1
            TAKSVMCTYSPPLNKLFCQLAKTCPVQLWVSATPPAGSRVRAMAIYKKSQHMTEVVRRCP
Sequence 2
            Sequence 1
            HHERCSDSDGLAPPOHLIRVEGNLRVEYLDDRNTFRHSVVVPYEPPEVGSDCTTIHYNYM
Seguence 2
            HHERCSDGDGLAPPQHLIRVEGNLYPEYLEDRQTFRHSVVVPYEPPEAGSEYTTIHYKYM
            CNSSCMGGMNRRPILTIITLEDSSGNLLGRNSFEVRVCACPGRDRRTEEENLRKKGEPHH
Sequence 1
Sequence 2
            CNSSCMGGMNRRPILTIITLEDSSGNLLGRDSFEVRVCACPGRDRRTEEENFRKKEVLCP
            ELPPGSTKRALPNNTSSSPQPKKKPLDGEYFTLQIRGRERFEMFRELNEALELKDAQAGK
Sequence 1
Sequence 2
            ELPPGSAKRALPTCTSASPPQKKKPLDGEYFTLKIRGRKRFEMFRELNEALELKDAHATE
            Sequence 1
           EPGGSRAHSSHLKSKKGQSTSRHKKLMFKTEGPDSD
Sequence 2
            ESGDSRAHSSYLKTKKGQSTSRHKKTMVKKVGPDSD
```

Key:

Sequence 1: Human p53

Sequence 2: Murine p53

**Figure 3.2.** Homology between human and murine p53 sequences. Figure shows the alignment of human and murine p53 sequences. The "\*" indicates the similarities and the "." indicates the difference in the amino acid residues between the human and murine sequence. The murine N-terminal sequence contains three additional (MTA) amino acids.

3.4.2 Identification of immunogenic p53 peptides in silico using syfpeithi algorithm

SYFPEITHI is an algorithm widely used for peptide prediction on the basis of the MHC class I and class II binding. In the current study human and murine wt p53 sequences were analysed using the syfpeithi software (<u>www.syfpeithi.de</u>) for peptide binding to human HHDII-DR1 and murine H2K<sup>b</sup> as both human and murine p53 sequences are homologous (figure 3.2) and the tumour model was developed in the C57BL/6 mice. The highest binding peptides were then selected for *in vitro* screening.

<sup>1</sup> HLA A-0201	Sequence										Binding Score
octamer/nonamer/ decamer											
Human 245-253	G	М	Ν	R	R	Ρ	Ι	L	Т	Ι	25
Human 322-330	Ρ	L	D	G	Ε	Y	F	Т	L		21
Human 193-201	Η	L	Ι	R	V	Ε	G	N	L		22

Table 3.4. p53 wt class I peptides grouped according to their HLA A-0201 binding score

<sup>1</sup>HLA A-0201, human MHC class I

Table 3.5. p53 class II peptides ranked according to their HLA-DR1 binding

<sup>1</sup> HLA-DRB1*0101 15mers	Sequence														Binding Score	
Human 108-123	G	F	R	L	G	F	L	Η	S	G	Т	A	K	S	V	31
Human 249-263	R	Ρ	Ι	L	Т	Ι	Ι	Т	L	Ε	D	S	S	G	Ν	26
Human 258-272	Ε	D	S	S	G	Ν	L	L	G	R	Ν	S	F	Ε	V	25

<sup>1</sup>HLA-DRB1\*0101, human MHC class II

3.4.3 Assessment of immunogenicity of the p53 peptides in the HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice

After screening the murine and human p53 protein sequence *in silico*, high binding score murine and human p53 peptides were selected and obtained commercially synthesised. These are listed in Tables (3.4) and (3.5). Lyophilised peptides were diluted to a 10 mg/mL final concentration in 100% DMSO. Peptides were stored in the -80<sup>o</sup> C and were used for the *in vitro* stimulation. In order to screen the p53 peptides from the two p53 protein mutants of interest (p53-175 and p53-273), HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice were immunised with gold carrying either pcDNA 3.1 p53-175 or pcmvneoBam p53-273 gene. Mice were immunised with 1µg of pcDNA per mouse via the intradermal route using the gene gun method of immunisation and received two booster immunisations at one week intervals. Splenocytes were harvested 7 days following the last boost. An *ex vivo* ELISpot assay was
performed on these freshly prepared splenocytes;  $0.5 \times 10^6$  splenocytes were plated per well in the ELISpot plate and 2 µg of class I and class II peptide (final peptide concentration) was added per well. Splenocytes ( $0.5 \times 10^6$ ) from the same preparation were stimulated for 5-7 days *in vitro* with 2 µg of class I and class II peptides/well in 24 well plate. ELISpot assays were repeated using these stimulated splenocytes. The *ex vivo* and *in vitro* stimulation methods are described in detail in methods chapter and are schematically represented in figure 3.3.



**Figure 3.3.** Schematic representation of the experimental design. HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice were immunised with p53-175 and/or p53-273 mutants using gene gun immunisation. The figure shows the different stages involved in the immunisation of HHDII/DR1 and /or C57BL/6 mice. Mice were immunised on day 1 and boosted twice at 7 days interval. Splenocytes were harvested and cultured 7 days post last booster immunisation. Splenocytes were used for ex vivo IFNy ELISpot assays. Splenocytes from same source were divided for class I and class II stimulation using LPS blasts and peptide alone respectively. Splenocytes were stimulated for 5 days with class I peptides and for 7-10 days for class II peptides. IFNy ELISpot assays and thymidine incorporation proliferation were performed using class I and class II restimulated splenocytes respectively. BMDCs generated form naïve mice were used as APCs for the proliferation assay to represent the class II peptides.

## 3.4.3.1 Assessment of immunogenicity of selected p53 peptides in the HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice immunised with p53-175 cDNA

To assess the immunogenicity of wt p53 class I and class II peptides (predicted by syfpeithi algorithm) from the p53-175 mutant of interest, HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice were immunised with pcDNA p53-175 mutant gene using gene gun immunisation and boosted twice at 7 days interval. Spleens were harvested 7 days after last booster. An *ex vivo* IFN $\gamma$ ELISpot assay was performed immediately after splenectomy. The selected p53 class I peptides (on the basis of syfpeithi binding scores), p53-322, p53-245, p53-193 were used at 2 µg/well working concentration together with an appropriate irrelevant peptide control or unstimulated splenocytes alone. P53 class II peptides were also assessed for immunogenicity by ELISpot assay using splenocytes from immunised mice. An ex vivo IFNy ELISpot assay was performed using class II p53 peptides, p53-108-123, p53-249-264 and p53-258-272, added at 2µg/ well of final concentration. An appropriate irrelevant peptide control or unstimulated splenocytes alone were used as controls. Figure 3.4 shows the response obtained from the ex vivo IFNy ELISpot assays towards p53 class I and class II peptides. In parallel splenocytes were plated at  $4x10^6$  / well and cultured with the respective class I respective class I peptides, p53-322, p53-245, p53-193 and class II peptides, p53-108-123, p53-249-264, p53-258-272 at 2µg/ well of final concentration for 5-7 days. These in vitro stimulated splenocytes were then harvested and the IFNy ELISpot assay was repeated using the same peptides. The results obtained are shown in the figure 3.5.



**Figure 3.4.** The IFNy response obtained from the splenocytes  $(0.5x10^6/well)$  of the mice immunised with p53-175 cDNA using gene gun. Mice were boosted twice at 7 days interval and spleens were harvested 7 days post last boost. Splenocytes were cultured on the same day of harvest and IFNy ELISpot assay was performed. P53-322-329, and p53-245-253, both class I peptides (A) and p53-108-123, p53-249-264 and p53-258-272, class II peptides (B) at 2µg/well final concentration in ELISpot plate were used for stimulating the splenocytes. Significant difference was observed in the immune response obtained after in vitro stimulation of cells compared to the irrelevant Flu peptide control and unstimulated splenocytes. P53-193-201 (class I) was also used but this peptide did not show any significant IFNy response. Comparisons of the means ( $\pm$  SEM) between groups (T cells pulsed with the peptide or control) are made with an unpaired t test. The experiments were repeated twice with 3 mice per group. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001



**Figure 3.5.** The IFNy response obtained from splenocytes (of the mice immunised with p53-175 cDNA using gene gun) after in vitro stimulation with peptides for 5 days. The IFNy response obtained from the splenocytes  $(0.5x10^5 / \text{ well})$  of the mice immunised with p53-175 cDNA using gene gun. Mice were boosted twice at a 7 day interval and spleens were harvested 7 days after the last boost. Splenocytes were cultured and re-stimulated with p53-322-329, p53-245-253, and p53-193-201, both class I peptides (A) and P53-108-123, p53-249-264 and p53-258-272, class II peptides (B), at 2 µg/well final concentrations in ELISpot plate in vitro. IFNy ELISpot assay was performed after 5 and 7 days of in vitro stimulation with class I and class II peptides respectively. A significant different was observed in the immune response obtained after in vitro stimulation of cells as compared to the irrelevant Flu I/II peptide control and unstimulated splenocyte control. Comparisons of the means ( $\pm$  SEM) between groups (T cells pulsed with the peptide or control) are made with an unpaired t test. The experiments were repeated twice with 3 mice per group. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

The experiment was repeated twice using 3 mice per immunisation group and comparison of the IFNγ response made between peptide-specific responses and controls. It was observed using HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice, that the overall frequency of the T lymphocyte response obtained following immunisation towards the class I and class II HLA-restricted p53 peptides in the *ex vivo* assay was low, especially towards the p53-193-201 (class I) and p53-258-264 (class II) peptides. A summary of the data and frequency of ELISpot response against p53 class I peptides (p53-193-201, p53-322-329, and p53-245-253) and p53 class II (p53-258-283, p53-108-123 and p53-249-264) peptides is given in the table (3.6).

**Table 3.6.** ISummary of the total number of mice responding to p53-specific peptides in *in vitro* ELISpot assays following immunisation with p53-175 cDNA.

p53 peptides <sup>1</sup>	ex vivo IFNy ELISpot	IFNγ ELISpot assay after <sup>3</sup> in vitro
	assay <sup>2</sup>	peptide stimulation
108-123 (class II)	4/9	8/9
249-264 (class II)	3/9	6/6
322-331 (class I)	5/9	5/9
245-253 (class I)	5/9	8/8
193-201 (class I)	0/9	2/9*
258-272 (class II)	0/9	3/9*

<sup>1</sup>p53 class I and class II peptides

 $^{2}$  total no of mice responding in the *ex vivo* IFN $\gamma$  ELISpot assay performed immediately after splenectomy  $^{3}$  total no of mice responded in the IFN $\gamma$  ELISpot assay performed after *in vitro* splenocyte stimulation *with* peptides

\* No statistical significance difference compared to control

3.4.3.2 Assessment of immunogenicity of selected p53 peptides in HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice immunised with p53-273 cDNA

To assess the immunogenicity of wt p53 class I and class II peptides (predicted by syfpeithi algorithm) from the p53-273 mutant of interest, HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice were immunised with p53-273 mutant gene using gene gun immunisation. Mice were boosted twice at 1 week intervals and splenocytes were harvested and cultured 7 days after the second

booster immunisation (method section). Splenocytes were then used to perform *ex vivo* IFNγ ELISpot assays. Selected (on the basis of syfpeithi binding score) p53 class I peptides (p53-193-201, p53-322-329, and p53-245-253) and class II peptides (p53-258-264, P53-108-123 and p53-249-264) were used at  $2\mu g/$  well in ELISpot plates. Figure 3.6 shows the response obtained from the *ex vivo* IFNγ ELISpot assays towards p53 class I and class II peptides. Splenocytes were plated at  $4x10^6$  / well in the 24 well plates together with the respective class I peptides (p53-322-329, p53-245-253, p53-193-201) and class II peptides (p53-108-123, p53-249-264 and p53-258-272,) at  $2\mu g/$  well of final concentration and stimulated for 5-7 days. These stimulated splenocytes were then harvested and the IFNγ ELISpot assay was performed. The IFNγ secretion response obtained is shown in the figure 3.7. Appropriate irrelevant peptide control or unstimulated splenocytes alone was used as control. P53-322-329, p53-193-202, p53=245-253 (all class I) and p53-108-123, p53-249-264 and p53-258-272 peptides (class II), significantly enhanced the IFNγ secretion response in ELISpot assay compared with the Flu I/II and unstimulated cells alone controls.



**Figure 3.6.** The IFNy response obtained ex vivo from the splenocytes from the mice immunised with p53-273 cDNA using gene gun. Mice were boosted twice at 7 day intervals and spleens were harvested 7 days post second boost. Splenocytes were harvested and IFNy ELISpot assays were performed. P53-322, p53-245, and p53-193-201 (class I peptides) (A) and P53-108, p53-249 and p53-258, class II peptides (B), were used at  $2\mu g$ / well final concentration in ELISpot plates for stimulating splenocytes. A significant difference was observed in the immune response obtained after in vitro stimulation of cells with p53 peptides compared with the irrelevant Flu I peptide control and/or unstimulated splenocyte control. Comparisons of means ( $\pm$  SEM) between groups (T cells pulsed with the peptide or control) were made using an unpaired t test. The experiments were repeated twice with 3 mice per group. A response was considered positive if the number of spots for splenocytes stimulated with specific peptides was 2 fold higher than the number of spots in the control wells. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001



**Figure 3.7.** The IFNy response obtained after in vitro stimulation from the splenocytes of the mice immunised with p53-273cDNA using gene gun. Mice were boosted twice at 7 day intervals and spleens were harvested 7 days post second boost. Splenocytes were cultured and restimulated with p3-322-331, p53-245-253 and p53-193-201 class I peptides (A) and with P53-108, p53-249 and p53-258, class II peptides (B) at  $2\mu g$ / well final concentration. IFNy ELISpot assays were performed after 5 days of in vitro restimulation. A significant difference was observed in the ELISpot response obtained following in vitro stimulated splenocytes control. Comparisons of means (± SEM) between groups (T cells pulsed with peptide or control) were made using an unpaired t test. The experiments were repeated twice using 3 mice per group. A response was considered positive if the number of spots obtained with cells stimulated with specific peptides was 2 fold higher than the number of spots in the control wells. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

The overall frequency of the T lymphocyte response obtained towards the class I and class II p53 peptides in the *ex vivo* assay was higher compared to the response obtained from the mice immunised with pcDNA p53-175. The mice immunised with pcmvneoBam p53-273 also responded well towards the p53-193-201 (class I) and p53-258-264 (class II) peptides as opposed to the mice immunised with pcDNA p53-175. A summary of the number of response frequency using p53 class I peptides (p53-193-201, p53-322-329, and p53-245-253) and p53 class II (p53-258-264, P53-108-123 and p53-249-264) peptides is given in the table 3.7.

Influmsation with p53-275 CDNA.		
<i>ex vivo</i> IFNγ ELISpot assay <sup>2</sup>	IFNγ ELISpot assay after <sup>3</sup> <i>in vitro</i> peptide stimulation	
4/9	6/9	
3/9	6/8	
6/9	6/9	
6/9	4/8	
4/9	6/9	
5/9	7/9	
	<i>ex vivo</i> IFNγ ELISpot assay <sup>2</sup> 4/9 3/9 6/9 6/9 4/9 5/9	

**Table 3.7.** Summary of the frequency of IFNγ ELISpot response following immunisation with p53-273 cDNA.

<sup>1</sup>p53 class I and class II peptides.

<sup>2</sup> total no of mice responding in the *ex vivo* IFNy ELISpot assays.

 $^3$  total no of mice responding in the IFN  $\!\gamma$  ELISpot assay performed after 7 day

in vitro splenocyte stimulation with peptides.

## **3.5 Discussion**

P53 is found to be mutated/over-expressed in more than 50% of different types of human cancers (Vogelstein *et al.*, 2000). Mutations in p53 occur at different phases of the multistep process of malignant transformation contributing to tumour initiation, promotion, aggressiveness and metastasis. Mutant p53 protein loses its tumour suppressive properties and is shown to gain oncogenic function leading to enhanced cell growth and survival (Oliver *et al.*, 2010). Different types of genetic mutations of p53 occur leading to inactivation of the

protein that leads to cell transformation. Most frequently found mutations are referred to as "hot spot" mutations, present in the DNA binding domain of which two, p53-175 (conformation mutant) and p53-273 (DNA contact mutant) were selected for the current study. Both types of mutation lead to inactivation of the p53 protein (Joerger and Fersht, 2007) and are expressed in different types of cancer. The first objective of the current study was to identify immunogenic p53 class I and class II peptides *in silico* and secondly to assess the immunogenicity of high binding score peptides (predicted *in silico* by syfpeithi algorithm) by immunising HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice with pcDNA carrying either p53-175 or p53-273 mutation of interest.

The overarching objective was to develop a prostate cancer vaccination strategy against tumours expressing mutant p53 protein by targeting wt p53 peptide sequences expressed by cell surface MHC antigens. This required the identification of MHC class I and class II peptides from the wt p53 sequence that could be used to promote T cell immunity. P53 is found to be conserved among different species including anemone, flies, worms, clams, fish, mice and human (Belyi *et al.*, 2010). In the current study out of 7, first variant was selected, and human (accession number P04637) and murine (accession number P02340) wt p53 sequences (shown in 2.1.6.1 and 2.1.6.2 respectively) were aligned and assessed for sequence homology, which was found to be >80% (figure 3.2-b). this shows that the p53 sequence in human and murine is highly conserved inspte of difference in the species. Subsequently both human and murine wt p53 sequences were analysed using the syfpeithi software to predict class I and class II sequences binding to HLA A-0201 and HLA-DRB1\*0101 respectively. A ranked order of class I and class II peptides was obtained from the *in silico* analysis (www.syfpeithi.de) and the highest binding score peptides were selected and assessed for

immunogenicity *in vitro* by IFNγ ELISpot assays. The selected peptides, listed in the table 3.3 and 3.4 were homologous for human and murine wt p53 peptides sequences and hence studies in mice would have some clinical relevance in humans.

There have been several reports identifying the immunogenic p53 peptides binding to different HLA haplotypes. Some were identified as immunogenic on the basis of their Syfpeithi binding score and in binding assays using, for example, using T2 cell line (Stuber et al., 1994). p53 peptides (Table 1.3) have been used in vaccination trials, for example targeting ovarian cancer in a phase II clinical trial and in metastatic colorectal cancer (Leffers et al., 2009, Speetjens et al., 2009). The p53 peptide vaccines used for these studies were in the form of a pool of overlapping synthetic or long peptides (SLPs) spanning most of the p53 protein (Leffers et al., 2009, Speetjens et al., 2009) but without taking account of the p53 mutational status of the tumour as from the current study it showed that the response obtained was different towards the same p53 peptides by the splenocytes form the mice immunised with two different mutants of p53, 175 and 273. In trials to date, the mutant form of the p53 protein (DNA contact vs conformational) has not been considered. It was hypothesised that these two p53 mutants may give rise to different peptide repertoire. In the current study wt p53 peptides were identified in silico and their immunogenicity was assessed against T cells generated by the two p53 mutant forms of the protein: 175 (conformation mutant) and 273 (DNA contact mutant). To the best of my knowledge this approach to the analysis of mutational status versus immunogenicity has not been previously undertaken.

In order to screen the immunogenic p53 peptides from the p53-175 and p53-273 mutants, HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice were divided into two groups. The first group (n=3) was immunised with pcDNA carrying the p53-175 mutant and the second group (n=3) was

immunised with pcDNA carrying the p53-273 mutant using the gene gun method of immunisation. ELISpot was performed *ex vivo* and after *in vitro* stimulation of splenocytes from immunised mice to assess the immunogenicity of selected p53 class I and class II peptides.

For mice immunised with pcDNA carrying p53-175 mutant, immunity against class I peptides, p53-322-329, p53-245-253, and p53-263-272 (data not shown) was demonstrated. The p53-193-201 (class I) peptide demonstrated a lower IFN $\gamma$  response by ELISpot (figure 3.4). Peptides p53-322-329 and, p53-245-253 demonstrated strong IFN $\gamma$  responses compared to either, unstimulated splenocytes or Flu I peptide stimulated controls (figure 3.4). In parallel, p53 class II peptides were also assessed using *ex vivo* IFN $\gamma$  ELISpot assays performed immediately after splenectomy. Peptides p53-108-123, and p53-249-253, but not p53-258-272 showed significantly high IFN $\gamma$  responses. After *in vitro* stimulation, a comparable T cell activation profile was obtained. In these assays, the IFN $\gamma$  response was considered positive when the number of spots obtained from the test peptides was at least twice that of unstimulated or naïve controls.

In comparison, mice immunised with pcmvneoBam p53-273 mutation, p53-322-329, p53-245-253, p53-193-201 (all class I) showed a significant ELISpot response in the *ex vivo* ELISpot assays and following stimulation in culture prior to ELISpot assay compared with controls. For class II peptides, assessed by *ex vivo* IFN $\gamma$  ELISpot assays and following stimulation, peptides p53-108-123, p53-249-264, and p53-258-272 all demonstrated a strong IFN $\gamma$ ELISpot response. In addition, when splenocytes from the naïve mice were assessed for response to selected p53 class I and class II peptides, no significant T cell responses were observed. This shows that immunity to both p53-322-329 and p53-245-253 class I peptides

occurs in mice immunised with either p53-175 mutant or p53-273 mutant. The mice immunised with the p53-175 mutant failed to generate significant IFNy response towards p53-193-201 class I peptide, while mice immunised with the p53-273 mutant did not show an IFNy response to the p53-263-272 peptide. It is known that the p53-273 mutation abolishes the ability of p53 to bind to DNA and it was reported that this mutant protein was unable to process and present p53-263-272 peptide via MHC class I antigen (Hoffmann et al., 2000), which confirms the results presented here and provides one explanation for the data obtained. It was observed that p53-108-123 and p53-249-264 class II p53 peptides induced a strong IFNy response in ELISpot assays, both in the *ex vivo* assay and assays performed after *in vitro* stimulation of splenocytes with the same peptides; a previous report demonstrated the p53-108-123 class II p53 peptide to be a potent inducer of T cell immunity (Rojas et al., 2005). An immune response to the p53-258-273 class II peptide was generated in mice immunised with p53-273 pcmvneoBam but not p53-175 pcDNA3.1. This differential response and apparent difference in the repertoire of immunogenic class II p53 peptides from the two mutant forms is an important consideration in the design of immunotherapy targeting p53.

Over the past decade several studies have been conducted targeting p53 in various types of human cancers. Peptide based vaccines consisted of either short MHC-restricted peptide vaccines or synthetic long peptide (SLP) vaccines, as shown in Table 1.4. Even though peptide loaded-DCs and SLPs could induce a strong CD4<sup>+</sup> response, they failed to induce a potent anti-tumour response (Vermeij *et al.*, 2011), suggesting that the lack of MHC class I – restricted T lymphocyte responses might be critical in promoting tumour rejection. Several other peptide based vaccine strategies have been trialed. In metastatic colorectal cancer, 10 SLP p53 peptides were assessed in phase I and II clinical trials with Montanide ISA adjuvant

and were shown to successfully induce p53 specific T cell responses without inducing tolerance. In other complementary studies it was shown that 9 out of 10 patients could induce p53- SLP specific immunity. Also, the responses against these SLPs were restricted by multiple HLA class II molecules and no HLA association with patient response (Speetjens et al., 2009). In the current study the peptides were HLA A-0201 and HLA-DRB1\*0101 restricted and were shown to successfully induce both CD4<sup>+</sup> as well as CD8<sup>+</sup> responses. There was a difference observed in the peptide repertoire in the mice immunized with the two p53 mutants. This difference could be due to the two different vectors used to for immunization of the two mutants. In a study conducted on the SaOS cell line transfected with either p53-175 or 273, both cloned in the same plasmid vector pBR322, different rate of the protein processing via DCs was observed (unpublished data) suggesting that the vector may not be responsible for the production of different peptide repertoire from the two mutants of p53. The differences in the peptide repertoire could be analysed using massspectrometry analysis of the cell surface eluted peptides. In the current study, on the basis of the IFNy responses obtained in the ELISpot assay from splenocytes of mice immunised with p53-175 and p53-273 mutants, peptides p53-322-329, p53-245-253 (both class I) and p53-108-123 and p53-249-264 (both class II) were selected for the development of a vaccination strategy for further analysis.

## Chapter 4: p53 as a potential candidate for cancer immunotherapy

### **4.1 Introduction**

Following the first report in 1991 demonstrating that vaccinations with a single MHC class I binding CTL peptide epitope in IFA protected mice against a subsequent challenge, many studies focused on the efficiency of this mode of vaccination for producing tumour immunity (Schulz et al., 1991). The identification of the first human tumour antigen has paved the way for targeted immunotherapy (Boon and Van den Eynde, 2003), with specificity to destroy cancer cells and inducing long lasting immune memory without eliciting lethal side effects. Targeting MHC class I and class II epitopes of the tumour antigen has achieved some clinical success. Cancer immunotherapy and peptide therapeutics especially have demonstrated improved responses over that of the conventional therapies in patient groups where treatment options are limited (Rane et al., 2014). But there are still obstacles to combatting advanced cancer, where the immune system of the host is compromised. Thus implementing ways of overcoming states of immune tolerance, anergy or suppression concomitant with a vaccine strategy to enhance adaptive immunity, offers an attractive route for clinical intervention. Targeted therapies against defined tumour antigens involving the use of peptide-based vaccination therefore offers potential for the future, where novel therapeutics relies on knowledge of peptide epitopes and awareness of how these can be used to activate appropriate anti-tumour immune responses.

4.1.1 Development of a vaccination strategy

P53 HLA-restricted class I and class II peptides were selected using *in silico* analysing (SYFPEITHI algorithm) and screened subsequently to assess their immunogenicity *in vitro* 

by immunising HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice with mutant p53 proteins (p53-175 and p53-273). These peptides, when used alone to immunise mice, failed to show a strong IFNy response by ELISpot assays and it was therefore decided to adopt a peptide delivery system. The peptide incorporated ImmunoBody (IB) vector was the first method used for immunisation alongside peptide immunisation in this study. After the discovery of anti-idiotypic antibodies which can stimulate both antibody and T-cell responses (de Cerio *et al.*, 2007) it was also shown that incorporation of T-cell epitopes within complementarity determining regions (CDRs) can be efficiently presented to DCs in vivo (Pudney et al., 2010). This technology gave rise to the DNA vaccine known as ImmunoBody developed by Scancell technology Ltd. The light and heavy chains of the antibody were replaced by the class I and class II peptides of interest without affecting the DNA integrity or stability of the vector system (Pudney et al., 2010). Figure 4.1 shows the structure of the DNA vaccine and the ImmunoBody in which the light and heavy chains were replaced with the class I p53-322-329 and class II p53-249-264 peptides. It has been shown that DNA encoding CTL antigens from a variety of TAAs within the variable regions of antibody to induce immune responses in different strains of mice including Balb/c, HHD, DR4 and C57BL/6. The responses are mediated by CD8+ T cell subsets (Metheringham et al., 2009). On immunisation the peptide epitopes are known to be taken up by the DCs which get processed and presented on the cell surfaces via MHC. With the Fc receptors present on the cell surfaces they help to elicit and enhance the stronger immune response (Metheringham et al., 2009).

In the current study HHDII/DR1 double transgenic mice were immunised with the IB harbouring p53-322-329 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides, but they failed to induce a strong immune response when assessed *in vitro* using ELISpot assays after co-culture with the same peptides. Similar approach was used to immunise C57BL/6 mice, but

these mice also failed to show a strong immune response when assessed *in vitro* in comparison with the peptide immunisation.



**Figure 4.1.** Schematic representation of the ImmunoBody vector. The double expression vector pDCOring used for vaccination. In the ImmunoBody the light was replaced with the CTL epitope of the p53, p53-320 (LDGEYFTL) and the heavy chain was replaced with the Th epitope of the p53 (RPILTIITLEDSSGN). Once epitope have been incorporated into the VH and VL sites within the single vectors they are transferred into the double expression vector utilizing HindIII/AfeI and BamHI/BsiWI in frame with their respective human constant regions. High-level expression of both the heavy and light chains in mammalian cells is driven from the CMV immediate early promoter. CDR regions of the vector are designed to pen easily for the insertion of T cell epitope. The image is adapted from Metheringham et al., 2009 and <u>www.scancell.co.uk</u>.

Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide (Spio) nanoparticles were the next delivery vector that was used for immunisation. Spios are the nanoparticles and proven to be non-toxic when injected into mice (Dr. Victoria Mundell's PhD thesis, NTU 2013). These nanoparticles possess binding site (-OH) for peptides, and have been shown to have adjuvant-like effects (Dr. Victoria Mundell's PhD thesis, NTU 2013). The p53 peptides attached spios were obtained synthesised. Access to further details about the spios are restricted for disclosure due to patent applied. Spios were used in this study in an attempt as to boost the immunogenicity of the selected p53 peptides. However, spio nanoparticles coupled with p53 peptides also failed to induce strong immune responses and did not show any adjuvant effects. It was subsequently decided to choose an alternative approach using anti-CD40 antibody and CpG TLR agonist in the p53 peptide immunisation with IFA to condition the DCs and boost the immune response.

# 4.1.1.1 Anti-CD40 antibody and CpG agonist combination as an adjuvant for T-cell activation

The CD40 receptor, a transmembrane protein, is a member of TNF super family, and is expressed on different cell types including: B cells, macrophages, DCs, epithelial, stromal and endothelial cells, and platelets (Grewal and Flavell, 1998; Young et al., 1998; van Kooten and Banchereau, 2000, and Quezada *et al.*, 2004; Eliopoulos and Young, 2004; Grewal and Flavell, 1998; van Kooten and Banchereau, 2000; Khalil and Vonderheide, 2007). APC signalling *via* CD40 ligand promotes T-cell activation, B lymphocyte responses and improves the expression of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules on the surface of APCs, increasing cytokine production and T-cell signalling (Vonderheide and Glennie, 2013). CD40 ligand (CD154 or CD40L) that binds to CD40 present on DC surface leads to activation of these professional APCs. The ligand for CD40 is found to be expressed on activated T-cells and platelets (van Kooten and Banchereau, 2000; Armitage *et al.*, 1992). Activation of DC via CD40 binding results in the up-regulation of surface

molecules. The ligation results in enhanced expression of MHCs and co-stimulatory molecules, production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, essential for the complete stimulation and activation of T-cells and induction of potent immune response (Grewal and Flavell, 1998; Young *et al.*, 1998; van Kooten and Banchereau, 2000, Albert *et al.*, 2001, and Mackey *et al.*, 1998). In addition, the magnitude of innate immune responses strongly influences adaptive immunity (Ahonen *et al.*, 2004). Activation of specific immunity is one of the most enticing avenues in immunotherapy of cancer. Induction of maturation of DCs leads to specific downstream T-cell response which reduces the risks arising due to autoimmunity (Banchereau and Steinman, 1998). Studies have shown the potential of agonist CD40 antibodies in overcoming T-cell tolerance in murine tumour models, evoking cytotoxic T-cell response and enhancing the efficacy of cancer vaccines (French *et al.*, 1999, Diehl *et al.*, 1999, and Sotomayor *et al.*, 1999).

Toll-like receptors (TLR) are crucial for the induction of innate immune responses and synergy between TLR and CD40 induces a strong and long lasting immunity, by inducing innate and adaptive immune responses respectively (Ahonen *et al.*, 2004). It has been shown that stimulation of CD40 can generate CD4<sup>+</sup>-independent CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses (Lefrancois *et al.*, 2000, Bennett *et al.*, 1998, Ridge *et al.*, 1998, Schoenberger *et al.*, 1998) and it was shown that CD40 can induce long-term T cell survival (Lefrancois *et al.*, 2000, Sotomayor *et al.*, 1999, Diehl *et al.*, 1999), tumour antigen specific T-cells could be induced when administered in combination with viral or tumour antigens. (Kedl *et al.*, 2001, Mauri *et al.*, 2000, Ahonen *et al.*, 2002). In this study TLR-9 was used as an agonist in combination with anti-CD40 antibody to enhance antigen presentation and to stimulate CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses to p53.

The tumour model was developed in the C57BL/6 syngeneic mice. Although the peptides were selected by the assessment in HHDII/DR1 mice, the selected p53 peptides are similar

in human and mouse. Hence further assessment of efficacy of this vaccination strategy using therapy experiments was performed in the C57BL/6 mice, and this chapter focuses on results obtained using this system.

### 4.2 Rationale of the study

The aim of cancer immunotherapy is to induce long lasting and potent immune responses against cancer by targeting tumour antigens expressed by tumour cells without inducing lethal side effects. This therapy has the potential to be used in combination with conventional cancer treatments such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and surgery. After identifying immunogenic class I and class II p53 epitopes using the syfpeithi algorithm (chapter 3, table 3.3 and 3.4), it was considered important to develop a vaccination strategy using the selected p53 peptides to induce a potent immune response in a pre-clinical model and optimise their potency through the use of adjuvants. In the current study class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264 peptides were used in combination with anti-CD40 antibody and CpG (TLR-9 agonist) to develop an anti-cancer vaccination strategy, effective in causing tumour rejection. To assess the efficacy of the vaccine, an *in vivo* tumour model was developed in C57BL/6 mice.

### 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Development of the tumour model

#### 4.3.1.1 The MC38 murine colon carcinoma as a model for immunotherapy

The MC38 murine colon carcinoma was used as a target for this study, since cells naturally express mutated p53 (242) (Vierboom *et al.*, 2000), are tumourigenic (Pajtasz-Piasecka, *et al.*, 2001), and express H-2K<sup>b</sup> MHC class I antigen, which is required for MHC class I-restricted peptide expression at the cell surface.

The expression of p53 and H-2K<sup>b</sup> in MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells is shown in figure 4.2(A) using flow cytometry (anibody details in table 2.3), compared with unstained cells alone as control. MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells expressed p53 (91.86% of cells) and H-2K<sup>b</sup> (95.9% of cells). *In vitro* cultured cells expressed nuclear p53 as seen in figure 4.2(B) whereas in tumour sections p53 localised to the cytoplasm (figure 4.3). Since the MC38 murine colon carcinoma cell line is known to naturally express mutated p53, this cell line was used to develop the tumour model for the assessment of a p53 peptide-based vaccine. From earlier experiments (data not shown) we found that a 5 fold change in cellular concentration resulted in a halving of tumour uptake. Four different concentrations of cells;  $4x10^3$ ,  $2x10^4$ ,  $1x10^5$ ,  $5x10^5$ ; were injected in C57BL/6 mice and tumour size was recorded twice per week. Tumour size vs time was plotted as shown in (figure 4.4). Mice were euthanised after the tumour reached 100 mm<sup>2</sup> size.  $2x10^4$  number of cells was the dose chosen and ten times the cell number was subsequently used as a challenge dose and to establish tumours in C57 BL/6 mice resulting in 100% tumour take within the 7-15 days allowing enough time for vaccine administration.



**(B)** 



**Figure 4.2.** p53 and  $H-2K^b$  expression in MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells. (A) MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells were assessed for expression murine class I MHC  $H-2K^b$  (i) and p53 (ii) by flow cytometry analysis. 91.86% of cells expressed P53 and 95.9% cells expressed  $H-2K^b$ . (B) MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells were assessed for expression of mutated p53 using immunofluorescence assay. (a), (b),(c) and (d) shows the cells in in vitro culture, nuclei staining with Dapi in blue, mutated p53 expression in red and co-expression of the nuclei and mutated p53 respectively (n=3).



**Figure 4.3.** p53 expression in MC38 murine colon carcinoma tumour sections. MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells induced tumours were harvested and frozen immediately. MC38 murine colon carcinoma tissue sections were stained and assessed using immunofluorescence for the expression of mutated p53 in vivo. The images show the harvested tumour in (a), nuclear staining with Dapi in blue in (b), p53 expression in red in (c) after staining with p53 antibody by immunofluorescence assay and co-localisation (dual staining) in (d) (n=4).

## Tumour size measurement in response to different doses of MC38 murine colon carcinomas



**Figure 4.4.** Determination of the tumour growth rate using MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells in C57BL/6 mice. Four different doses,  $4x10^3$ ,  $2x10^4$ ,  $1x10^5$  and  $5x10^5$ , of the MC38 murine colon carcinoma cell were used to assess the tumour growth rate in C57BL/6 mice. The cells were injected subcutaneously on the right side flank of the mice in serum free media. Tumour size was monitored twice per week. Mice were euthanized after the tumour reached 100 mm<sup>2</sup> size. Tumour sizes were plotted against the number of days. (n=8).

#### 4.3.2 Development of a vaccination strategy

#### 4.3.2.1 ImmunoBody and spio immunisations

Peptide immunisation alone may not induce strong and long lasting T-cell immunity capable of tumour rejection, making it essential to establish a strategy incorporating either an efficient delivery system for peptides or including a potent immune adjuvant to boost the T-cells response. The p53-108-123 class II peptide, which has been reported to be highly immunogenic (Rojas et al., 2005), and p53-245-252 class I peptides were suggested for incorporation in the IB vector. However, due to incompatibility with the IB vector, determined by in silico assessment, p53-322-329 class I and p53-249-264 class II peptides were used as an alternative. The IB vector encoding p53-322-329 class I and p53-249-264 class II peptides were used for immunisation in an attempt to achieve enhanced CD8<sup>+</sup> anti p53 responses. The same IB vector was used in HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice, but the T-cells generated failed to show any significant enhancement in T-cell immunity when assessed in IFN ELISpot assays ex vivo or after in vitro stimulation (figure 4.5, 4.6). The use of Spio nanoparticles has been reported to elicit adjuvant like effects (Dr. Victoria Mundells's PhD thesis, NTU 2013). Therefore spio nanoparticles coupled to murine p53-320-327 class I (holologue of human p53-322-329) and p53-249-264 class II peptides were synthesised and used to immunise C57BL/6 mice. C57BL/6 mice is a syngeneic strain of mice which was used in further studies due to unavailability of the HHDII/DR1 mice. No significant enhancement in the T-cell response to the p53-320-327 class I and p53-249-264 class II peptides was detected using IFNy ELISpot assays (Figure 4.7, 4.8).

Subsequently, the same peptides were used to immunise C57BL/6 mice in combination with anti-CD40 antibody and CpG ODN (TLR 9 agonist). The results demonstrated enhanced immunogenic response of T-cells, as assessed using the IFNγ ELISpot assay and was adopted as a potential immunotherapy for detailed analysis *ex vivo* and after *in vitro* 

stimulation, <sup>51</sup>Cr cytotoxic assay and <sup>3</sup>H incorporation proliferation assay. Figure 4.9 demonstrates the different vaccination strategies used to immunise the selected p53 peptides. Anti-CD40 antibody is a component of TNF receptor family and known to couple with CD40 ligand on APCs/DCs (van Kooten and Banchereau, 2000; Armitage *et al.*, 1992) and boosts CD4<sup>+</sup> mediated immune response. The antibody was obtained from the FGK45 hybridomas. Flow cytometry analysis of the DCs for the expression of the CD11c marker after treating the cells with anti-CD40 antibody was used as an indicator of DC maturation in response to anti-CD40 antibody. Untreated cells alone were used as a negative control and DCs treated with LPS provided as a positive control (Appendix II), indicative of DC maturation.



## **Comparison of peptide and Immunobody immunisations**

**Figure 4.5.** Comparison between two methods of immunisations, peptide and immunobody immunisation. HHDII/DR1 mice were divided into 2 groups. First group received p53-323-331 (classI) and p53-249-264 (class II) (each  $75\mu$ g) in PBS and emulsified in IFA I.M. the other group received same peptides but in the form of IB vector I.P. on the abdominal cavity using gene gun method of immunisation. The figure represents the IFNy response obtained form the splenocytes of the immunised mice stimulated with p53-322-331 (class I) and p53-249-264 (classII) peptides compared with the unstimulated cell alone control from each immunisation group. Stastical significance of the results obtained was calculated using two way Anova. (n=4). The experiment was repeated with 4 mice per group.





**Figure 4.6.** Comparison between two methods of immunistaions, peptide and immunobody immunization after in vitro stimulation of splenocytes. HHDII/DR1 mice were divided into 2 groups. First group received p53-323-331 (class1) and p53-249-264 (class II) (each  $75\mu g$ ) in PBS and emulsified in IFA I.M. the other group received same peptides but in the form of IB vector I.P. on the abdominal cavity using gene gun method of immunistation. The figure represents the IFNy response obtained from the slenocytes of the immunised mice stimulated with p53-322-331 (class I) in vitro (A) for 5 days and p53-249-264 (class II) in vitro for 7 days (B) compared with the unstimulated cell alone control from each immunisation group. Stastical analysi was performed using two way Anova (n=4). The experiment was repeated with 4 mice per group.



## Comparison of peptide and spio immunisations

**Figure 4.7.** Comparison between two methods of immunisations, peptide and spio immunisation. HHDII/DR1 mice were divided into 2 groups. First group received p53-323-331 (classI) and p53-249-264 (class II) (each  $75\mu g$ ) in PBS and emulsified in IFA I.M. the other group received same peptides but in the form of IB vector I.P. on the abdominal cavity using gene gun method of immunisation. The figure represents the IFNy response obtained form the slenocytes of the immunised mice stimulated with p53-322-331 (class I) and p53-249-264 (classII) peptides compared with the unstimulated cell alone control from each immunisation group. Stastical significance of the results obtained was calculated using two way Anova. (n=4). The experiment was repeated with 4 mice per group.





**Figure 4.8.** Comparison of IFNy response obtained from the groups of mice immunized with spio-peptides with/without IFA in PBS after in vitro stimulation of splenocytes. C57 BL/6 mice were divided into 3 groups. First group received spio- p53-323-331 (classI) and p53-249-264 (class II) (each  $75\mu g$ ) in PBS and emulsified in IFA I.M. Second group received same peptides with spio in PBS (no IFA) and third group received same peptides (no spio attcahed) in PBS and IFA I.M. The figure represents the IFNy response obtained from the slenocytes of the immunised mice stimulated with p53-322-331 (class I) in vitro (A) for 5 days and p53-249-264 (class II) in vitro (A) for 5 from each immunisation group (n=4). The experiment was repeated with 4 mice per group.



**Figure 4.9.** *p53* peptide based immunotherapy strategies. P53 peptides, class I p53-320/322-331 and class II p53-249-264, were selected using in silico assessment using syfpeithi algorithm and in vitro screening in HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O murine models. Three approaches were used to develop a therapeutic strategy. (i) These peptides were firstly incorporated in the IB cDNA vector by replacing the variable chains of the antibody. The IB vector possessing p53 peptides failed to induce immune response in the HHDII/DR1, C57BL/6 or HHDII murine models. (ii) The same peptides were then coupled with spio nanoparticles and used in HHDII/DR1 and C57BL/6 murine models. These spio nanoparticles coupled with the p53 peptides also failed to induce enhanced immune response or show adjuvant properties. (iii) An alternative therapy was developed where the p53 peptides, class I p53-320/322-331 and class II p53-249-264, were used for immunisation in combination with anti-CD40 antibody and CpG ODN TLR. This strategy successfully enhanced peptide specific immune responses when assessed using IFNy Elispot assays for class I and class II peptides ex vivo, <sup>51</sup>Cr release cytotoxicity assays and <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation analysis to measure cell proliferation as detailed in this chapter.

4.3.2.2 Development of an immunisation strategy using anti-CD-40 antibody and a TLR agonist: in vitro immune responses

Since IB and spio failed to induce a strong immune response, the combination of anti-CD40 antibody and TLR9 targeting using CpG ODN1826 were used as adjuvants in the development of a vaccination strategy for class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264 peptides. The method was adapted from Ahonen et. al., 2004. C57BL/6 mice were immunised I.P. on the abdominal cavity using anti-CD40 antibody and via the I.M.route with class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264 peptides mixed with the CpG TLR agonist in IFA. In order to assess the efficacy of each of the components ie. peptides in combination with CpG TLR and anti-CD40, peptides with CpG TLR alone or with anti-CD40 alone verses peptides on their own, C57BL/6 mice were separated into groups of 3 mice and were immunised with the peptides in combination with or without CpG and/or anti-CD40 together with IFA and boosted on day 14. Figure 4.10 shows the schematic representation of the immunisation regime and experiments performed ex vivo and after in vitro stimulation. The immunogenicity of the class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264 peptides, as assessed using the IFNy ELISpot assays performed ex vivo is shown in figure 4.11 (A) and (B). In the ex vivo assays performed the IFNy response obtained from all the groups was similar (except for the control group), although higher IFNy response was obtained towards the class II p53-249-264 peptides in the group that was immunised with the anti-CD40 antibody (no CpG). Additionally splenocytes were stimulated with the class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264 peptides in vitro for 5 to 7 days and then assessed using IFN<sub>γ</sub> ELISpot assays (for both class I and class II resposes) <sup>51</sup>Cr cytotoxicity assays (for class I p53-320-327) and <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation assays to measure the proliferative response towards the class II p53-249-264 peptides. The MC38 murine colon carcinoma cell line which expressed mutated p53 was used as the target cell line, and the Transgenic adenocarcinoma of mouse prostate (TRAMP) cell line was used as the control for these assays. TRAMP cells do not express wt or mutated p53 since the cell line was generated by producing a K/O cell for both SV40 large T antigen and p53 (Foster *et al.*, 1997). Figures 4.12 (A), (B), and 4.13 show the responses responses obtained by splenocytes restimulated *in vitro*. The group that received the peptide immunisation in combination with anti-CD40 and CpG demonstrated significantly high response in the form of IFN $\gamma$  secretion (assessed using ELISpot assay and MC38 and p53-320-327 pulsed RMAS as target cells) and cytotoxicity towards the MC38 target cells, performed after p53-320-327 class I peptide stimulation *in vitro*. ELISpot assays and <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation proliferation assays were performed using splenocytes stimulated with p53-249-264 class II peptide and DCs pulsed with the same peptide, as shown in figure 4.14 (A) and (B) where the groups that received the peptides with CpG and with/without anti-CD40 antibody in IFA showed better responses compared to rest of the groups.



**Figure 4.10.** Schematic representation of the immunisation regime and experiments performed ex vivo and after in vitro stimulation. C57BL/6 mice were injected with anti-CD-40 antibody I.P. and immunised with P53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) with CpG TLR agonist and IFA using I.M. route within 4-6 h after giving anti-CD-40. Spleens were harvested and ex vivo Elispot assays were performed to assess the IFNy response towards the p53 peptides. Splenocytes were restimulated with P53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides and Elispot assays were repeated along with <sup>51</sup>Cr cytotoxicity assay and <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation proliferation assay for class I and class II peptide response assessment respectively.



**Figure 4.11.** Comparison of IFNy response obtained using ELISpot assay performed ex vivo immediately after splenectomy for mice immunised with different immunisation strategies. Four groups of C57BL/6 mice were immunised with p53 peptides, p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) in combination with anti-CD-40 antibody and CpG TLR agonist. The first group received anti-CD-40 antibody I.P. and p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides admixed with CpG and IFA. The second group received p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides amixed with CpG and IFA. The third group received anti-CD-40 antibody I.P. and p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides in IFA; a fourth group received only p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides in IFA; a fourth group received only p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides in IFA. (A) represents the IFNy response obtained against the p53-320-327 class I peptide in the ELISpot assay performed ex vivo imediately after splenectomy. (B) represents the IFNy response obtained against the p53-249-264 class II peptide in the ELISpot assay performed ex vivo imediately after splenectomy. Statistical significance was assessed using two way Anova. The experiments were repeated twice with 3 mice per group. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.



**Figure 4.12.** Comparison of IFNy response obtained using the ELISpot assay performed after in vitro peptide stimulation of splenocytes from mice immunised with p53 peptides and/or immune adjuvants. Four groups of C57BL/6 mice were immunised with selected p53 peptides, p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) in combination with anti-CD-40 antibody and a CpG TLR agonist. The first group received anti-CD-40 antibody I.P. and p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides admixed with CpG and IFA; the second group received p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides admixed with CpG and IFA. The third group received anti-CD-40 antibody I.P. and p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides in IFA, and the fourth group received only p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides in IFA. (A) Represents the IFNy response obtained against the p53-320-327 class I peptide (ELISpot assay) using splenocytes stimulated in vitro with the p53-320-327 class I peptide and then co-cultured with MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells. (B) Represents the IFNy response obtained against the p53-320-327 class I peptide in the ELISpot assay performed with the splenocytes stimulated in vitro with the p53-320-327 class I peptide then subsequently co-cultured with RMAS cells pulsed with p53-320-327 class I peptide. Statistical significance of the results obtained was calculated using two way Anova. The experiments were repeated on three separate occasions with 3 mice per group. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001


Cytotoxicity assay

**Figure 4.13.** Comparison of percent cytotoxicity assay performed after in vitro peptide stimulation of the splenocytes from the group of mice immunised with anti-CD-40 and CpG TLR agonist with p53 peptides strategy. The splenocytes from the group of mice immunised with anti-CD-40 and CpG TLR agonist with p53 peptides (class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264) were stimulated in vitro for 5 days with class I p53-320-327 peptide and sytotoxicity assay was performed using MC38 murine colon carcinoma and TRAMP cells as targets. The targets cellls were labelled with  $^{51}$ Cr on the day of assay and co-cultured with stimulated splenocytes at varying effector:target ratios. The percent cytotoxicity was measured after 4 h using the formula given in the methods section. The experiments were repeated twice with 3 mice per group. Percentage cytotoxicity was considered specific when maximum to spontaneous release was <20%.



Immunisation regime

**Figure 4.14.** Comparison of IFNy response obtained using ELISpot assay and counts per minute using the <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation proliferation in response to in vitro peptide stimulation of the splenocytes from the groups of mice immunised with different immunisation/treatment strategies. Four groups of C57BL/6 mice were immunised with selected p53 peptides, p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) in combination with anti-CD-40 antibody and/or a CpG TLR agonist. The first group received anti-CD-40 antibody I.P. and p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptide admixed with CpG and IFA; the second group received p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides admixed with CpG and IFA; a fourth group received anti-CD-40 antibody I.P. and p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides alone in IFA. (A) Represents the IFNy response obtained against the p53-249-264 (class II) peptides pulsed procytes co-cultured with p53-249-264 (class II) peptide pulsed DCs. (B) Represents the counts per minute obtained against the p53-249-264 (class II) peptide pulsed DCs in the proliferation assay performed with the splenocytes stimulated in vitro with the splenocytes stimulated in vitro with p53-249-264 (class II) peptide pulsed DCs. (B) Represents the counts per minute obtained against the p53-249-264 (class II) peptide pulsed DCs in the proliferation assay performed with the splenocytes stimulated in vitro with 3 mice per group. \*p<0.5, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

#### 4.3.3 *In vivo* immunotherapy model

#### 4.3.3.1 Boost can be detrimental in the therapy model

On the basis of the results obtained by in vitro assessment of the ELISpot and proliferative response obtained by combining CpG TLR and anti-CD40 with class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264 (as shown in the section 4.3.2.1), it was observed that the class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264 peptides when used to immunise in combination with anti-CD40 antibody and CpG TLR as adjuvants elicited a strong immune response in vitro. The same strategy was chosen to assess the efficacy of these treatments on *in vivo* tumour growth in C57BL/6 mice using the MC38 murine colon carcinoma model. C57BL/6 mice were divided into two groups, the first group received developed vaccination therapy (p53-320-327 and p53-249-264 peptides with CpG and IFA within 4-6 h after injection of anti-CD40 antibody I.P.) on the same day of MC38 murine colon carcinoma cell injection S.C. on the right flank for tumour induction as described in section 4.3.1 The second group mice were injected with the MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells S.C. and tumour size was monitored. Once tumours reached the 2-4 mm in size, mice received therapy using CpG TLR and anti-CD40 with class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264 peptides in IFA. Each group was further divided into two groups where one group was boosted on day 14 with same therapy regime; the other group did not receive any further therapy. Figure 4.15 gives the schematic representation of the experimental design and figure 4.16 and 4.17 shows the results obtained from the experiment using survival analysis and percent of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) of tumour bearer mice following treatment. Tumour infiltrating lymphocytes were also assessed in tumour cells isolated from the tumour bearer mice that received the developed vaccination therapy. A clear CD3+, CD8+ and CD4+ population was observed in the TIL. The developed vaccination strategy did successfully reduce tumour growth in a therapeutic setting i.e. when the vaccine was

administered when tumours were 2-4 mm in size, the therapy showed efficacy by slowing the tumour growth, compared with mice that received MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells alone or p53 peptide vaccination at the same time as tumour cell injection, although no statistical significance was observed when two groups were compared.



#### **Monitor Tumour size**

**Figure 4.15.** Schematic representation of the therapy experiment with immunisations at different time points. C57BL/6 mice were divided into two groups and both the groups received MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells S.C. First group received the developed therapy (anti-CD-40 antibody I.P. and p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides with CpG TLR and IFA I.M.) on the same day of MC38 murine colon carcinoma injection. This group was further divided into two groups, one of which received the boost with the same therapeutic regime on day 14. For the second group that received the MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells S.C., the tumour were monitored. These tumour bearer mice received the therapy once the tumours reached the size of 2-4 mm. These mice were also divided into two groups and one of which received boost with the same treatment on day 14.



**Figure 4.16.** The survival curves obtained from the mice treated with the developed vaccine given at different time points. (A) Represents the results obtained from the mice which were given therapy on the same day of MC38 murine colon carcinomas cell injection in (i), and the mice that received booster on day 14(ii). (B) Represents the results obtained from the mice which were given therapy after the MC38 carcinomas were  $2-4mm^2$  in size, and were compared to the control mice which did not receive any therapy. This group of mice were primed after the tumours were  $2-4 mm^2$  (iii) and other group received booster on day 14 (iv). (C) represents the comparison between the groups of mice that received the treatment and the MC38 murine colon carcinoma cell injection on the same day and the group that received the therapy after the MC38 carcinomas were  $2-4 mm^2$  in size. A group of mice that did not receive any treatment was used as a control (n=5). The data was analysed using Kaplan Meier analysis. In (A.ii), (B.ii) and (C), p value shows the oveall statistical significance between the comparison groups. No statistical significance was found between group 1 and 2, 3 and 4 or group 1 and 3. Experiment was performed on two different occasions.



#### Flow cytometry TIL assessment

**Figure 4.17.** The percentage of the tumour infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). Tumour cell suspension were prepared (dissociated mechanically) from excised tumours from C57BL/6 mice of the therapy [anti-CD-40 antibody and p53-320-327(class I)+ p53-249-264 (class II) peptides with CpG and IFA], and the percent TILs infiltration was assessed for  $CD3^+CD8^+$  and  $CD4^+$  expression. (A) shows the TIL form the mice which received the therapy and (B) is the control. The TILs were assessed of 5 mice per group.

4.3.3.2 Comparison of the p53 peptide therapy with/without CpG and/or anti-CD40 antibody in the in vivo tumour models

Extending to include all the control groups used in the *in vitro* analysis (as shown in the section 4.3.2.1) the same combinations (CpG TLR and anti-CD40 with class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264) were assessed in the developed MC38 murine colon carcinoma tumour model established in C57BL/6 mice. C57BL/6 mice were injected with the 2x10<sup>5</sup> MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells (10x optimum tumour dose chosen). Tumour growth was monitored and when tumours reached 4-16 mm<sup>2</sup> in size, C57BL/6 mice received therapy with the class I p53-320-327 and class II p53-249-264 peptides with/without anti-CD40 antibody and/or CpG in IFA. Group of tumour bearer mice immunised with peptides only (without anti-CD40 and/or CpG) and group of tumour bearing mice without any peptide and/or peptide combined with anti-CD40 and CpG were used as the controls for the experiment. Figure 4.18 shows the results obtained using the MC38 murine colon carcinoma model. Of all the therapy groups of mice, the group that received peptides in combination with anti-CD40 and CpG in IFA showed better survival compared to rest of the groups.Tumour size was also recorded for the four therapy groups where the group that received the p53 peptides along with anti-CD40 and CpG and the group that received the peptides with CpG (no anti-CD40) showed slower tumour growth.

#### (A) Percent survival







## Therapy given when tumours reached 2-4mm<sup>2</sup>

**Group 1**- anti CD-40 I.P. and p53 320-331 + p53-249-264 + CpG TLR in IFA I.M. **Group 2**- anti CD-40 I.P. and p53 320-331 + p53-249-264 in IFA I.M. **Group 3**- p53 320-331 + p53-249-264 + CpG TLR in IFA I.M. **Group 4**- p53 320-331 + p53-249-264 in IFA I.M.

Group 5- Control, no therapy given





**Figure 4.18.** Comparison of tumour growth in the groups of mice treated with different immunisation regimes. MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells were implanted subcutaneously in the right hand side flank of the C57BL/6 mice which were divided into five groups. Tumours were allowed to grow to the size of 2-4mm<sup>2</sup> and were subsequently immunised with selected p53 peptides [p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II)] in combination with/without anti-CD-40 antibody and/or CpG TLR agonist. The percent survival from each group is shown in (A) and the data was analysed using Kaplan Meier analysis. The p value in (v) indicates the overall statistical significance of all the graphs. The groups that received the therapy in the combinations with/without anti-CD-40 and/or CpG were compared with the group 5 control and are shown in (i)-(v). (v) shows the overall statical significance of among all the groups compared. The tumour growth curve is shown in (B). Group 1 received anti-CD-40 antibody I.P. and p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides admixed with CpG and IFA. Group 2 received p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides in a mixture with CpG and IFA. Group 4 received p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides admixed if A. Group 5 was a control group and did not receive any therapy. Experiment was performed twice with n=5.

#### 4.4 Discussion

With the maturing understanding of tumour biology and immunological mechanisms, we are now well equipped to rationally develop immunotherapy approaches against cancer. The identification of human tumour antigens (TA) has provided the basis for tumourtargeted immunotherapy (Boon and Van den Eynde, 2003), especially that mediated by Tlymphocytes recognising MHC-associated target peptides (Rane *et al.*, 2014). The aim of a cancer vaccine therapy is the induction of T cell responses (stimulation of cellular immunity) capable of destroying tumour cells, causing tumour regression. For vaccines to stimulate cellular immunity, APCs, such as DCs, are required to process the antigen and present class I and/or class II peptides on their surfaces via class I and class II MHCs respectively to engage with the T cells receptors (TCRs). The CD8 T-cell effectors are potent effectors that target cancer cells directly, while CD4 T-cells act as amplifiers of the induced immune response (Metheringham et al., 2009). Cancer vaccines therefore act as "biological modifiers" which stimulate the immune system, which is designed to control infections and disease (http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/Therapy/cancervaccines). There are two types of immunisation strategies, prophylactic or preventive vaccines (given to healthy individuals to prevent the disease occurrence) and therapeutic or treatment vaccines (given to patients suffering with the disease) (Lollini et al., 2006). Three cancer vaccines have already been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Two of which are prophylactic vaccines, Gardasil (manufactured by Merck & Company) and Cervarix (manufactured by Glaxosmithkline), that use Viruslike particles or VLPs to target Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) types 6, 11, 16 and 18, the cause of cervical cancer (http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/Therapy/cancervaccines). In 2010, the FDA approved a therapeutic prostate cancer vaccine, Sipuleucel-T or PROVENGE<sup>(R)</sup> (developed by Dendreon). This vaccine is designed to induce an immune response against an antigen which is commonly found on the prostate cancer cells called as Prostatic Acid Phosphatase (PAP) and prolonged overall survival was observed in the men (castration-resistant metastatic PrCa patients) who received the Sipuleucel-T vaccine in the phase III trial (Kantoff *et al.*, 2010).

In the current study a vaccination strategy has been developed targeting the tumour suppressor gene p53, which is present in all cell types and controls cell division and repairs DNA damage. Any damage or mutation to p53 can alter the function of tumour suppression, which in turn leads to uncontrolled cell proliferation and mutations in p53 are common genetic events in human cancer (Levin and Oren, 2009). p53 is found to be expressed in more than 50% of different types of cancers making it an ideal target and following the *in silico* identification of two immunogenic p53 peptides (chapter 3) and demonstrating their immunogenicity it was important to develop a vaccination strategy to deliver those two p53 peptides using an effective delivery mechanism and adjuvant regime to promote a peptide specific immune response.

Two delivery systems were used in this study, IB and Spio, however neither system promoted effective immunogenic responses when assessed in the pre-clinical models. IB is an antibody vector which on incorporation of T-cell epitopes within complementarity determining regions (CDRs) can efficiently presented to DCs *in vivo via* Fc receptors (Pudney *et al.*, 2010). In the current study the p53 peptides incorporated IB vector failed to generate immunogenic response in the HHDII/DR1 mice and HHDII (data not shown, performed by Scancell). This might be due to failure of the presentation of the peptides on the DCs and/or Fc receptor binding. Another vector used was the spios attached to the peptides which also failed to generate immunogenic response. Spios were reported to be non toxic in the murine models and reported to act as adjuvant in the immunisation mixture and enhance the immunogenicity of the peptides (Dr. Mundell thesis, Nottingham Trent

University). In the current study, the spio-peptides neither showed adjuvant like effects nor enhanced the immunogenecity of the peptides. As reported, they were safe to use in preclinical models for immunistaion (did not show any side effects/anaphylaxis). The same p53 peptides when given in combination with anti-CD40 antibody with CpG TLR and IFA however induced strong immune responses and a tumour model was developed to assess the efficacy of the vaccine *in vivo*. Optimum dose of MC38 murine colon carcinomas cells were used to establish the tumour model, which naturally expressed mutated p53 (Pajtasz-Piasecka, *et al.*, 2001), as shown here. The vaccination strategy using p53 peptides in combination with anti-CD40 antibody and CpG TLR targeting p53 in MC38 murine colon carcinomas has not been previously reported.

The selected p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides administered in IFA were first assessed in combination with anti-CD40 antibody and a CpG TLR agonist in the C57BL/6 murine model. The mice were divided into four groups which received peptides in varying combinations of anti-CD40 antibody and/or with CpG TLR in IFA. Mice treated with p53 peptides with CpG TLR and IFA within 4-6 h after injecting anti-CD40 antibody showed stronger immune response, assessed using ELISpot, Cytotoxicity and proliferation assays performed *ex vivo* and after subsequent *in vitro* restimulation of splenocytes with the p53 peptides p53-320-327 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) (as shown in 4.3.2.1). This strategy was further used in the therapy experiment using the MC38 tumour model.

It has been observed in several studies that TLR agonists possess the potential to be potent agonists of immunity. There are several TLRs which are located in the different cellular compartments and can be expressed in different types of the cancer cells. CpG ODN associated with TLR9 (Akira, 2003) which has been used as an agonist in vaccine trials in combination with CTLA-4 mAb (Draftarian *et al.*, 2004). Depending on the cell type,

TLRs are known to act in concert with various cytokines and chemokines. The induction of innate immune response by TLRs is mirrored by the acquired immune response to antigen induced by CD40 (Ahonen *et al.*, 2004). CD40 agonist was first used in the clinical trial for advanced squamous cell cancer patients in the form of CD40L which showed long term complete remission (Vonderheide, 2001). Similarly, CP-870,893 have also shown clinical efficacy in advanced cancers (Vonderheide, 2007). Due to potential synergy between the chemotherapy (to release tumor antigen) and CD40 agonists (to activate APC), CP-870,893 has been tested in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel and gemcitabine. Objective tumor regressions were observed in about 20% of patients in each study (Beatty *et al.*, 2011). It has been shown in 2012, that different TLR agonists when combined with CD40 in a C57BL/6 mice model induce CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion to immunisation with ovalbumin protein and/or the SIINFEKL peptide (Ahonen *et al.*, 2004). Different TLRs were compared in this study (Ahonen *et al.*, 2004), which also showed to generate antigen specific T cells.

To validate the hypothesis and to assess the efficacy of p53 peptide based vaccination, the C57BL/6 mice were injected with MC38 tumour cells and divided into four groups. After careful assessment of the percent survival and the tumour growth it was shown that the group that did not receive a "booster" injection showed better response and reduced tumour growth compared to mice receiving the p53 peptide vaccine "booster" injection on d14. It has been shown that a vaccine boost can be detrimental to immunotherapy (Ricupito *et al.*, 2013). In the study, DC-based vaccine was used in the prophylactic and therapeutic setting using transplantable and spontaneous tumour models. It was observed that the necessity and/or efficacy of the booster dose is dependent on and should be determined on the basis of the status of the disease (Ricupito *et al.*, 2013). It was shown in the study that the booster immunisation has direct correlation with the CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T-

cells and in the therapeutic setting the booster immunisation proved detrimental (Ricupito Similarly, in the current study the group that did not receive a "booster" et al., 2013). injection showed better response and reduced tumour growth compared to mice receiving the p53 peptide vaccine "booster" injection on d14. There was a longer survival observed in the group of mice that received the MC38 murine colon carcinoma injection and therapy on the same day, compared to the control group (no therapy), or the group that received a "booster" injection on d14. Tumour infiltrating lymphocytes were also assessed in tumour cells isolated from the tumour bearer mice that received the developed vaccination therapy. A clear CD3+, CD8+ and CD4+ population was observed in the TIL. The developed vaccination strategy did successfully reduce tumour growth in a therapeutic setting i.e. when the vaccine was administered when tumours were 2-4 mm in size, the therapy showed efficacy by slowing the tumour growth, compared with mice that received MC38 murine colon carcinoma cells alone or p53 peptide vaccination at the same time as tumour cell injection, although no statistical significance was observed when two groups were compared. More number of mice per group might be helpful in determining the statistical significance. Of all the therapy groups of mice, the group that received peptides in combination with anti-CD40 and CpG in IFA showed better survival compared to rest of the groups. Tumour size was also recorded for the therapy groups where the group that received the p53 peptides along with anti-CD40 and CpG and the group that received the peptides with CpG (no anti-CD40) showed slower tumour growth implying that the synergistic effect of the anti-CD40 antibody and CpG TLR agonist along with peptide is responsible for the prolonged survival of the recipient group with CpG TLR playing key role. After careful consideration it also seems to be important to have an additional control group which would receive the developed peptide vaccine with anti-CD40 and CpG but without IFA. It has been reported that replacing water-based, short-lived formulation with gp100 peptide vaccine in the presence of immunostimulatory molecules allowed T-cells to traffic to tumors, causing their regression (Hailemichael and Overwijk, 2014). This strategy with the selected p53 peptides has been reported for the first time in the MC38 murine colon carcinoma in syngeneic model.

After assessing the immune responses in the pre-clinical models it is important to assess the immunogenicity of the peptides in the patients in order to make it a translational study. The peptides were assessed in prostate cancer patient PBMCs, as shown in next chapter.

## Chapter 5: Assessment of immunogenicity of the selected p53 peptides in the prostate cancer patient PBMCs

### **5.1 Introduction**

In the current study the p53 peptides identified in pre-clinical studies (chapter 4) were used to assess whether PrCa patient PBMCs processed pre-existing T-cell immunity. The assessment of immune reactivity was based on the potential of the p53 peptides to generate a specific response (IFNy production in this instance) upon stimulation *in vitro*. Several cancer vaccine trials, targeting different tumour antigens, have been undertaken (Johnson et al., 2006; Small et al., 2006; Higano et al., 2009) to demonstrate safety and efficacy of immunotherapy and in some cases prolonged survival has been described (Kantoff et al., 2010; Schwartzentruber et al., 2011; Schuster et al., 2011). A phase II randomized controlled trial of a pox-viral-based PSA-targeted immunotherapy in metastatic castrationresistant PrCa study showed that PROSTAVAC-VF was well-tolerated and was associated with reduction in death rate and improved overall survival (Kantoff et al., 2010). To be eligible for clinical evaluation, the candidate antigen needs to have demonstrated a beneficial response in pre-clinical assessment and/or the ability to generate an immune Tcell response from PBMCs (Timothy et al., 2001). This may include in vitro stimulation of PBMCs from cancer patients and/or benign/healthy donors of the appropriate HLA haplotype in order to expand T-cells with the potential to recognise and lyse the cancer cells expressing the appropriate tumour antigen target (Viatte et al., 2006). It is essential to use immune-assays that assess CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell activity or helper T-cell responses and reflect the true frequency and functional activity of immune response generated together with the optimum assay condition (Arthur et al., 2005). The immunological assay should be sensitive, reproducible, and more importantly accurate (Zhang et al., 2009). The ELISpot assay has been shown to be reliable for detecting antigen specific T-cells in PBMCs

(Zhang et al., 2009), and the accuracy of the assay has been improved and with the aid of computerised plate readers and dual colour development kits to assess more than one cytokine per cell type (Quast et al., 2005). The assay discriminates T-cell specific responses from the background (Fadi et al., 2012, Okamato et al., 1998) and has proved to be a most suitable assay to assess the immune response and the cytokine production profile of T-cells. Alongside the ELISpot assay, the <sup>51</sup>Cr release (cytotoxicity) assay and <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation to assess cell proliferation are also useful in assessing immune function/reactivity *in vitro*. In the immune mechanism the key player against body's toxic invaders is the Cytotoxic T-cell which can identify the antigens presented at the surface of the foreign cells and altered self *via* cell surface receptors and on activation are capable of killing them. The activated CTLs do not require co-stimulation for induction of cytotoxicity. The methods developed, such as chromium release assay, allows to quantify the cytotoxicity phenomena which helps to determine the number of lymphocytes being produced after infection and the efficiency of the cytotoxic T-cells in killing the foreign presenting cells. In the chromium release assay the target cells are pre-labelled with <sup>51</sup>Cr and co-incubated with effector cells. Cytotoxic T-cells kill their targets by disrupting the cell membrane integrity, allowing <sup>51</sup>Cr release, which is used as the indicator of the amount of specific lysis (Lavie al., 2000; Mickel al., 1988; et et mcb.berkeley.edu/courses/mcb150/Lecture16/Lecture16(6).pdf,

http://www.perkinelmer.co.uk/resources/). Human leukocyte proliferation has traditionally been assessed using <sup>3</sup>H incorporation proliferation assay to evaluate the ability of the stimuli (p53 peptides at this instance) to encourage or inhibit the cell proliferation. <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation proliferation assays measure the incorporation of a <sup>3</sup>H-radiolabeled DNA precursor into the replication strands of DNA produced during cell division on stimulation with the peptide (Lee-Hoeflich *et al.*, 2008; Munier *et al.*, 2009).

Here, PBMCs from PrCa patients, were assessed for immunogenic responses towards p53 MHC restricted peptides.

## 5.2 Rationale of the study:

P53-322-329 (class I) and p53-249-264 (class II) peptides were found to be immunogenic when assessed using HHDII/DR1 double transgenic K/O mice (chapter 4) and C57BL/6 mice were subsequently used to develop a pre-clinical therapeutic vaccination strategy. It was proposed therefore, that these p53 peptides were suitable candidates for assessing T-cell responses in PrCa patients expressing HLA-A2 antigen. The immunogenicity of p53 class I and class II peptides was therefore assessed using IFNγ ELISpot, <sup>51</sup>Cr release cytotoxicity and <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation to assess proliferation.



**Figure 5.1.** Schematic representation of the experimental design using PrCa patient PBMCs. PBMCs were isolated from PrCa patient blood and frozen. The PBMCs were thawed and immune assays were performed, by ELISpot assay, <sup>51</sup>Cr release cytotoxicity assay (after stimulation with peptides in vitro) and <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation proliferation assay (after stimulation with peptides in vitro) to assess the immune response against p53 class I and class II peptides.

### 5.3 Patient details

All of the patients selected for this study were HLA-A2 positive (assessed using flow cytometry) and the p53 class I peptides selected were HLA-A2 restricted. The clinical details of the patients were recorded on the day of diagnosis and the stage of disease determined according to the D'Amico classification and Gleason grade scores. The disease status was determined for all the selected patients using Transrectal Ultra Sound (TRUS) and Transperineal (TP) biopsy samples and pathological assessment. The prostate specific

antigen (PSA) test and TRUS biopsy examination are routinely used for the diagnosis of patients suspected of having prostate cancer (Sharial *et al.*, 2008). The TRUS method has limitations, and can only be taken from the posterior aspect of the prostate. Thus if the cancer is present on the anterior side of the prostate gland (which is not examined) it will not be detected by TRUS biopsy. On the other hand the TP pathology has proven to be a more accurate and reliable method (Nafie *et al.*, 2013), where biopsies from the posterior and anterior of the prostate gland are taken for pathological assessment. Patients were divided into four groups: benign, low grade, intermediate and high grade, on the basis of their disease status and pathology, according to the Gleason grading (GG) system.

A prostate cancer risk classification system was proposed by D'Amico in 1998 (D'amico *et al.*, 1998). According to this criteria prostate carcinomas are categorised into low, intermediate and high risk cancers on the basis of the PSA, GG score or clinical stages of the disease (Loeb *et al.*, 2010). The stages of the cancer are determined using the TNM system detailed in chapter 1 (http://www.nhsinform.co.uk/Health-Library/Articles/C/cancer-of-the-prostate/staging).

Table 5.1 gives details of the patients including their age at diagnosis, observations of the Digital Rectal Examination (DRE), Gleason grade, D'Amico classification, TRUS and TP pathology and figure 5.1 gives the details of the experimental design. The anonymised clinical data was provided by Prof. Masood Khan at Leicester General Hospital (Consultant Urologist, University Hospitals of Leicester, NHS Trust). The PBMC samples were obtained from two cohorts (depending on TRUS and TP examination) and were collected under ethics codes: NRES: 09/H0401/92 and local R&D: UHL10856 and NRES: 11/EM/0312 and local R&D: UHL11068.

Patient ID <sup>2</sup>	Age at	PSA	DRE	Histology	Gleason	D'Amico	TRUS pathology		TPTP pathology	
<b>.</b>	diagnosis					classification				
Benign	~ 7	20	<b>D</b> :	<b>D</b> '			<b>D</b> .	<b>D</b> .		
LE-0040	67	28	Benign	Benign			Benign	Benign		
LE-0044	64	3.6	Τ2	Benign			Benign	Benign		
TP0024	67	7.8		Benign			Benign	Atypia	Benign	Atypia
TP0034	70	6.5		Benign			Benign	Atypia	Benign	Atypia
TP0047	67	15		Benign			Benign	Atypia	Benign	Benign
TP0055	66	14.4		Benign			Benign	High PIN	Benign	Benign
Low										
LE-0059	67	7.6	Benign	3+3	6	Low	Cancer	3+3		
LE-0078	66	7.1	Benign	3+3	6	Low	Cancer	3+3		
LE-0079	71	9.4	Benign	3+3	6	Low	Cancer	3+3		
TP0040	66	8.8		3+3	6	Low	Benign	ASAP	Cancer	3+3
TP0022	64	4.7		3+3	6	Low	Cancer	3+3	Cancer	3+3
Intermediate										
LE-0048	76	16	Benign	3+4	7	intermediate	Cancer	3+4		
LE-0050	72	3	T2	3+4	7	intermediate	Cancer	3+4		
LE-0052	81	11	T2	3+4	7	intermediate	Cancer	3+4		
LE-0053	70	8.4	Benign	3+4	7	intermediate	Cancer	3+4		
LE-0071	86	13	T2	3+4	7	intermediate	Cancer	3+4		
LE-0072	78	14	Benign	3+3	6	intermediate	Cancer	3+3		
LE-0084	70	11	Benign	3+3	6	intermediate	Cancer	3+3		
High			Demgi	0.0	0	internetatute	Cuncor	010		
LE-0043	88	52	Т3	4+5	9	High	Cancer	4+5		
LE-0061	84	118	T4	5+4	9	High	Cancer	5+4		
LE-0067	71	54	- · T3	4+5	9	High	Cancer	4+5		
LE-0068	67	27	T3	4+5	9	High	Cancer	4+5		
LE 0000	73	21	Renion	4+3	7	High	Cancer	4+3		
LE-0005	73	40	T3	4+5	ý	High	Cancer	4+5		

**Table 5.1.** Clinical data of the prostate cancer patients used in this study<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The anonymised clinical data was provided us Prof. M Khan, consultant Urologist at Leicester General Hospital (University Hospitals of Leicester, NHS Trust). The two cohorts were collected under 2NRES: 09/H0401/92 and local R&D: UHL10856 and 3NRES: 11/EM/0312 and local R&D: UHL11068.<sup>2</sup>LE- patient cohort with TRUS diagnosis, TP- patient cohort with diagnosis

#### 5.4 Assessment of PSA

PSA is a serine protease produced by epithelial cells in prostate tissue (Tan, 2005), including benign and malignant (Duskova and Vesely, 2014). PSA helps in liquefying the semen which increases sperm motility (Lilja and Abrahamsson, 1988). Elevated PSA was correlated with progressing PrCa in 1987 by Stamey *et al.* and was approved as a marker to monitor PrCa in 1986 by FDA and is correctly used to detect PrCa in men older than 50 years since 1994 (Duskova and Vesely, 2014). Although used routinely worldwide, the PSA test has its limitation and hence is not a conclusive measure of disease. It has been observed that the level of PSA can vary over time, it is prostate dependent and the level of PSA can be elevated by malignant and well as non-malignant conditions, including benign hypertrophy and prostatitis (Oesterling *et al.*, 1988; Oesterling *et al.*, 1991). The assessment of PSA levels and aggressive treatments have increased the survival rates of patients with prostate cancer. Assessment of PSA alone is insufficient for accurate diagnosis and more precise ways of assessment, such as TRUS and TP pathology, are proving more reliable (Cooperberg et al., 2011). The initial PSA threshold was proposed to be 4.0 ng/mL (Fitzpatrick et al., 2009) which has recently been reduced to 2.5 ng/mL by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), USA to improve the sensitivity and detection rate (Oesterling et al., 1988). Figure 5.2 shows the PSA levels (ng/ mL) of the patients at varying stages of the disease.



**Figure 5.2.** The PSA level of the patients selected for the study. The patients were separated in four groups of benign, low, intermediate and high grade cancer on the basis of the Gleason grade score and D'amico classification. The level of PSA (ng/mL) was assessed on the day of first examination and is shown on the Y axis for individual patient.

# 5.5 ELISpot performed with freshly thawed PBMCs stimulated with class I and class II p53 peptides

The PBMCs (from HLA-A2 positive patients) were thawed as per the method described in the chapter 2. These cells were then plated at  $5 \times 10^5$  cells/well and assessed by ELISpot. To assess the T-cell response against class I p53 peptides, T2 cells were labelled (pulsed) with the p53-320-327(class I) peptide, co-cultured with the PBMCs for 24 h and assessed for IFN $\gamma$  response using ELISpot. Additionally, the IFN $\gamma$  response was assessed for p53-249-264 class II peptide by co-culturing the PBMCs with the peptide for 48 h. Figure 5. 3 shows the IFN $\gamma$  response obtained towards the class I p53-322-329 peptides in (A) and class II p53-249-264 peptide in (B). 6 patients from intermediate and high grade cancer showed significant IFN $\gamma$  response, and low levels of responses were obtained from some of the benign patients. For the class II p53-249-264 peptide, 7 patients, spanning all the groups, showed significant IFN $\gamma$  response including one benign patient. Three patients from the intermediate group showed high background over that of the response obtained from the p53-249-264 peptide stimulation.



**Figure 5.3.** Represents the IFNy response obtained using ELISpot assay. (A) represents the IFNy response obtained after stimulating the PBMCs with p53-322-329 class I peptide for 24 h. (B) represents the IFNy response obtained after stimulating the PBMCs with p53-249-264 class II peptide for 48h. Comparisons of ( $\pm$  SEM) means between peptide stimulated and unstimulated PBMCs were made and paired student t test was used to determine the statistical significance. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

## 5.6 Stimulation of PBMCs *in vitro* and assessment of immune response: <sup>51</sup>Cr release (cytotoxicity), <sup>3</sup>H Thymidine incorporation assays

Cryopreserved PrCa patient PBMCs were thawed (see methods section) and stimulated with p53-322-329 class I peptide for 1 week *in vitro*. A <sup>51</sup>Cr release cytotoxicity assay was performed using targets LnCap and DU145 target cells, which represent HLA-A2 positive and HLA-A2 negative cell lines respectively, assessed using geometric mean in comparison with the control [Figure 5.4 (A)]. The percent specific lysis is shown in figure 5.4 (B). Cytotoxicity was observed in all the groups of patients towards LnCap target cells, with higher percent specific killing by T-cells by PBMC's from intermediate and high grade cancer patients. 3 benign patients also showed significant, more than 10% cytotoxicity, towards LnCap cells, whereas low or no cytotoxicity was observed towards DU145 cells. <sup>3</sup>H incorporation (proliferation assay) was performed with PBMCs stimulated *in vitro* with p53-249-264 peptide for 48 h. Counts per minute obtained on stimulation with the peptide are shown in the figure 5.4 (C). 11 patients from low, intermediate and high groups showed significant response towards p53-249-264 peptide in the proliferation assay. No peptide specific proliferation was observed in the patients with benign diagnosis.









**(C)** 



**Figure 5.4.** The immune responses obtained following the in vitro stimulation of PrCa patient PBMCs. (A) shows the HLA-A2 status of the LnCap and DU145 cells which were used as target cells in the <sup>51</sup>Cr release cytotoxicity assay. (B) represents the percent specific lysis of LnCap and DU145 respectively, by peptide stimulated PBMCs from the PrCa patients. The PBMCs were stimulated in vitro with p53-322-329, PAP and T21 peptides. (C) represents the proliferation of the PBMCs (counts per minute) after in vitro stimulation of the PBMCs with p53-249-264 class II peptide in comparison with the unstimulated cells alone (control) assessed using <sup>3</sup>H Thymidine incorporation.. Comparisons of percent specific lysis of LnCap and DU145 was done for 4h cytotoxicity assay and ( $\pm$  sem) means between peptide stimulated and unstimulated PBMCs (control) for proliferation assay. Student t test was used to determine the statistical significance. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

#### 5.7 Assessment of regulatory T-cells in PrCa patient PBMCs

PrCa patients PBMC samples selected for the current study were stained with CD3, CD4, CD25 and Fox P3 antibodies. CD3 is the generic marker for T lymphocytes (Clevers *et al.*, 1988; Alvadori *et al.*, 1994; Vernau *et al.*, 1999), and CD4, CD25 and Fox P3 positive cells represent the population of regulatory T-cells (TRegs) (Wolf *et al.*, 2003). Figure 5.5 shows the percent TRegs present in the PBMC population of benign and cancer patients' blood.

Patient PBMCs were thawed and stained for cell surface (CD3, CD4, CD25) and intracellular (FoxP3) markers for flow cytometry analysis (method explained in chapter 2). For individuals with a benign diagnosis, classification was based on TRUS and/or TP pathology. The cancer cohort of patients included those with varying disease status, including low grade (n = 5), intermediate (n = 7) and high grade (n = 6) cancer. It was observed that the percent TRegs increases in cancer patients compared to the benign. Table 5.2 gives the summary of responses obtained from the PrCa patients in different immune-assays.

**(A)** 



Patient groups

one way ANOVA with Fisher's LSD test

**(B)** 



**Figure 5.5.** The percentage of regulatory T-cells present in the PrCa patient PBMCs. The percentage of regulatory T cells was assessed by staining PBMCs with CD3, CD4, CD25 and FoxP3 antibodies and the cells were assessed using flow cytometry. The patients were grouped into benign and cancer. The data represents the median of the two groups of PBMCs. The cancer group was then split into low, intermediate and high grade disease status in (II). The benign cohort contain 5 patients with diagnosis as Benign depending on the TRUS and/or TP examination. The Cancer cohort contains patients with different disease status (low grade = 5, Intermediate = 7 and High grade = 6). (B) gives an example of the gating used for the analysis of the TRegs in patient cohort. The groups with varying disease status were compared with the benign group for presence of percent TRegs using One way ANOVA. \*p<0.0249

#### Chapter 5: Assessment of immunogenicity of the selected p53 peptides in PrCa patient PBMCS

	<sup>51</sup> Cr cytotoxicity	ELISpot Class I	ELISpot Class II	<sup>3</sup> H Thymidine incorporation proliferation assay	% TRegs CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD25 <sup>+</sup>	
	assay	p53-322-329	p53-249-264	p53-249- 264	Foxp3 <sup>+</sup>	
Benign						
TP0024	+				2.99	
TP0034					5.04	
TP0047	+	+	+		3.69	
TP0055					2.43	
LE0040		+			2.79	
LE0044	+	+			3.34	
Low						
LE0059			+	+	5.19	
LE0078	+				6.15	
LE0079					3.03	
TP0022	+	+	+	+	3.77	
TP0040	+			+	4.46	
Intermediate						
LE0048	+		+	+	6.11	
LE0050	+		+		2.66	
LE0052					5.37	
LE0053	+	+	+		6.92	
LE0071	+	+			5.32	
LE0072	+	+		+	3.47	
LE0084				+	10.28	
High						
LE0043	+	+	+	+	5.09	
LE0061		+		+	7.82	
LE0067					5.76	
LE0068	+	+		+	3.7	
LE0069	+	-		+	6.27	
LE0086	+			+	3.52	
Responders	15/24	10/24	7/24	11/24		

**Table 5.2.** Summary of the immune assays performed using PrCa PBMCs stimulated with p53 class I and class II peptides<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The table represents the summary of all the patients responded to the immune assays performed.

#### **5.8 Discussion**

Pre-clinical trials are required to assess the immunogenicity of peptides, derived from tumourassociated antigens, as a potential target antigen for clinical evaluation. The potential immune response in the patients can be predicted by stimulating PBMCs from cancer patients or normal subjects with the peptides of interest *in vitro* (Nastke *et al.*, 2012; Kim *et al.*, 2014). In the previous chapter, p53 HLA class I and class II peptides (p53-320-327 and p53-249-264 respectively) were identified and a vaccination strategy was developed using a pre-clinical murine model. To further evaluate their potential as target antigen, the immunogenicity of these peptides were assessed using HLA-A2 positive PrCa patient PBMCs. Patients were further divided into benign, low grade, intermediate and high grade cancer on the basis of the disease status and pathology. TRUS biopsies are widely used as "Gold standard" for prostate cancer diagnosis (Nafie *et al.*, 2014), although it has recently been shown that the TP/TP method of assessment of prostate is more accurate than TRUS/TRUS assessment for establishing the status of the disease (Nafie *et al.*, 2014) and reduces risk of infection and patient mortality.

In this study, all patients were diagnosed (grade and stage of disease) according to defined pathological criteria. Patient details, disease status/grading performed on the basis of the D'Amico classification, Gleason grade, and PSA level were recorded at the time of biopsy. In the cohort of patients selected for the current study, the PSA levels were assessed at the time of biopsy and which ranged from 3 to118 ng/mL. Increased level of PSA was observed in the patients with high grade disease compared to the other groups. Although important, PSA assessment has limitations. In the current study although higher PSA level was observed in the high grade cancer group, no significant difference in the PSA was observed in the internediate

and low grade cancer group compared to that in the benign patient group, giving rise to the need of more accurate diagnostic methods. To overcome these hurdles new technologies are emerging to assess the status of the prostate cancer such as using Dynamic contrast-enhanced (DCE)-MRI in conjunction with PSA assessment. DCE-MRI is a multi-parametric strategy and is an emerging technology useful in evaluating severity, location, extent of primary and recurrent prostate cancer (Verma *et al.*, 2012).

Sipuleucel-T, a DC based prostate cancer vaccine targeting Prostatic Acid Phosphatase (PAP), developed by Dendreon, has been approved by FDA which successfully prolonged the patient survival (Kantoff et al., 2010). Although approved for clinical use, a rational evaluation of the vaccine has raised questions about the underlying immunologic mechanism involved, and the prolonged time period taken in the vaccine preparation (as it's a DC-based vaccine) which results in it being an expensive form of therapy (Chambers *et al.*, 2011). The cost per vaccine cycle is US\$93,000 (Gupta et al., 2011), the vaccine proved ineffective in patients younger than 65 of years age (http://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/CellularGeneTherapyProducts/Appr ovedProducts/UCM214543.pdf). Due to these limitations, there is a need for further development of a more robust assessment to define immunogenic PAP peptides and immunity to other cancer antigens such as p53 for developing defined immunotherapy approaches to

In order to assess the immunogenicity of p53 peptides in PrCa patients, cryo-preserved PBMCs were thawed and stimulated with the p53 class I and class II peptides prior to IFN $\gamma$  ELISpot assay to determine the level and specificity of T-cell responses; 8/24 and 7/18 PrCa patients showed significantly positive responses towards the class I p53-322-329 and class II

treat prostate cancer patients, especially those patients with castration-resistant disease.

p53-249-264 peptides respectively when compared with cells alone (control). Although this chapter presents the results obtained using p53 peptides, these patients were also assessed for ELISpot, cytotoxicity and proliferation responses to PAP (Saif et al., 2014) and T21 (Miles et al., 2006) peptides (data not shown). In these experiments PBMCs co-cultured with unstimulated T2 cells were used as a control. More controls such as PBMCs from healthy individuals or HLA-A2 negative patients needed to be added to study. In order to assess killing in a <sup>51</sup>Cr release cytotoxicity assay, PBMCs were stimulated with class I p53-322-329, PAP and T21 peptides *in vitro* (due to limitation of available PBMCs, assays were sometimes only performed once; data not shown for PAP and T21) and LnCap (HLA-A2 positive and shown to naturally express p53 antigen) and DU145 (negative control: HLA-A2 negative cell line) cells were used as the target cells. LnCap specific lysis was observed after stimulating PBMCs with peptide; 12 PrCa patients out of 24 showed enhanced positive cytotoxic response against p53 class I peptides, with no or low cytotoxicity against DU145 cells. The non-specific lysis observed in the benign cohort may be due to killing mediated by natural killer (NK) cells rather than T-cells. NK cells are known to induce anti-tumour immune responses independent of the HLA status of the patient. It was also observed while performing this study that resting PBMCs in the *in vitro* culture leads to loss of PBMCs. Similar results were observed and published earlier by Kuerten et al. in 2012.

11 out of 24 patients showed p53-249-264 peptide (HLA DR class II peptide) specific proliferation when assessed using <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation. It was observed that PBMCs stimulated with selected p53 class I and class II peptides showed peptide specific immunogenic responses and release of IFN $\gamma$ , specific lysis of the targets and proliferation. From the responses observed in all three assays, it was concluded that the patient response

increased with progression of the disease when assessed using <sup>3</sup>H thymidine incorporation proliferation assay, <sup>51</sup>Cr release cytotoxicity assay and ELISpot assay for class I p53 321-331 peptide. In addition, the percentage of regulatory T-cells was assessed in this HLA-A2 cohort, which showed that more TRegs percentage in PBMCs of cancer patients compared to patients with benign disease. Similar enhancement of TRegs was observed in a study performed by Clarke *et al.*, 2006 in the colorectal cancer. It has also been shown that peripheral TReg are increased in PrCa patients as compared to individuals with no prostate disease pathology or patients with benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) patients (Akin et al., 2011). From these results and others, it has also been suggested that PSA may have a role in the induction/maintenance of the increased TRegs (Koksoy et al., 2009; Akin et al., 2011). In contrast to these findings, a study conducted by Yokokawa et al. (2008) showed no differences in the TReg population in context of the PrCa disease stage/grade. In another independent analysis performed in our group on the larger cohort of all the PrCa (mix HLA haplotypes) patients diagnosed using TP biopsy showed no significance difference in TRegs in the patients with varying disease status. If the percent TRegs observed is truly associated with the disease stage/grade still remains to be determined.
### **Chapter 6: Discussion**

The main objectives of this study were to assess the peptide repertoire of two mutant forms of the p53 protein, 175 and 273, identify the immunogenic peptide regions and to develop a vaccination strategy to enhance the immunogenicity of selected p53 peptides. A mouse tumour model was developed to assess the efficacy of the developed vaccination strategy using therapy experiments in the pre-clinical setting. Following the assessment of immunogenic peptides in the tumour model, these peptides were assessed for their immunogenicity using Prostate Cancer (PrCa) patient PBMCs in order to gain insight into their clinical relevance.

# **6.1 Immunotherapy for prostate cancer: general considerations and current status**

Cancer immunotherapy has emerged as a promising therapy alongside/in combination with traditional therapies (chemotherapy, radiotherapy and surgery) (Mishra *et al.*, 2012). The lack of significant side-effects of immunotherapy, allows patients to continue with a good quality of life while undergoing treatment (Wolf *et al.*, 2011). Cancer immunotherapy targets tumour specific antigens and tumour associated antigens (TAAs) which are not present on any other organs of the body with a few exceptions, and can therefore be considered to be a cancerspecific mode of treatment (Disis *et al.*, 2009; Reuschenbach *et al.*, 2009). In considering tumour specific antigens as therapeutic targets, several points require consideration. Cancer cells can express various types of antigens, and most of them are specific to the tumour with few exceptions (Romero and Coulie, 2014). However, not all "antigens" are "immunogenic" (Romero and Coulie, 2014), in part due to the impact of the tumour microenvironment on the antigen expression, priming, immune suppression, lytic T-cell activation and re-stimulation of T lymphocytes (Gajewski *et al.*, 2006). Some tumour antigens are mutated during cancer

initiation or their expression is lost (Segal et al., 2008; Gajewski et al., 2006). It was shown that immunogenicity is still retained, in spite of loss of some antigens, as cancer cells may carry more than one tumour antigen as is the case with melanoma (Germeau *et al.*, 2005; Lennerz et al., 2005; Romero and Coulie, 2014). The T-cell response to tumour antigens is considered essential for effective immunotherapy and in some instances T-cell activation elicits auto-immune reactions to the same antigen expressed on normal cells (Romero and Coulie, 2014). It has also been shown that with careful selection, the immunogenicity of the TAA peptides can be improved with either "agretopic" substitution (amino acid substitution to increase HLA binding, resulting in refined antigenicity and immunogenicity) or "epitopic" substitution which directly improved the binding affinity of the T-cell receptor (TCR) for the peptide (Romero and Coulie, 2014). Immunotherapy, combining the use of TLR agonists together with chemotherapy or radiotherapy seems to be a promising approach; chemotherapy especially promotes the potential of immunotherapy, for example, the use of cyclophosphamide to control regulatory T-cells (TReg) (Audia et al., 2007), anti-androgens that enhance T–cell infiltration into the tumour and anthracyclines that appear to increase the potential for antigen presentation within the tumour environment (Unadkat, 2005; Krishnamurthy, 2006). It is also recognised that monoclonal antibody (mAb) therapy, directed towards cell surface antigens on tumour cells, promotes T-cell responses via tumour destruction and increased tumour antigen processing and presentation by DCs. This indirect mechanism, combined with targeted vaccine therapy represents a promising approach to immunotherapy (Rane et al., 2014).

PrCa is the most prevalent cause of morbidity and mortality in UK males (www.cancerresearchuk.org) and it is therefore important to develop new therapies to treat

patients with castration-resistant cancer and improve the overall survival and quality of life of patients suffering from the disease. Sipuleucel-T (PROVENGE<sup>(R)</sup>, a DC-based vaccine developed by Dendreon) for the treatment of PrCa has been shown to increase the life expectancy of the PrCa patients (Kantoff et al., 2010). Although approved for clinical use, a rational evaluation of the vaccine has raised questions about the underlying immunologic mechanism involved, and the prolonged time period taken in the preparation of this vaccine which results in it being an expensive form of therapy (Tombal, 2011). The cost per vaccine cycle is US\$93,000 (Gupta *et al.*, 2011), and the vaccine appears to be ineffective in patients younger 65 of than years age (http://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/CellularGeneTherapyProducts/Appr ovedProducts/UCM214543.pdf). However, these studies have shown the clinical efficacy of antigen targeted immunotherapy in PrCa. Several other vaccine strategies have been or are being developed, including adoptive immunotherapy (infusion of tumour specific T cells) (Bellone *et al.*, 2014). There are various PrCa clinical vaccine trials currently registered and undergoing evaluation, for example, GVAX which was engineered allogeneic tumour cell lines that secrete GM-CSF (Rigamonti and Belloni, 2012). There are several other trials using  $CD8^+$  and  $CD4^+$  specific TAA peptides or viral vectors encoding TAA alone or in combination with co-stimulatory molecules (for examples, PROSTVAC), using a monoclonal antibody against CTLA-4 or combination therapy incorporating TLR agonist (Bellone et al., 2014). Another mode of immunotherapy is to adoptively transfer T lymphocytes, which has shown some benefit in treating early stage PrCa patients (Granziero *et al.*, 1999 supported by recent finding that SV-40-specific redirected T-cells when adoptively transferred in transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate (TRAMP) mice bearing mPIN lesions inhibit tumour

growth (de Witte *et al.*, 2008). In addition, the adoptive transfer of autologous T-cells that target PSMA is undergoing trials at present (http://www.clinicaltrial.gov). Although cancer immunotherapy faces many challenges, there appears to be patient benefit (better quality of life, less side effects compared to conventional cancer treatments) when this form of therapy is used in combination with the chemotherapeutic agents (Ramkrishanan *et al.*, 2010). It was shown that with upregulation of mannose-6-phosphate receptors on tumour cells, chemotherapy enhances tumour cell susceptibility to CTL mediated cytotoxicity. The CTLs also showed a bystander effect on neighbouring tumour cells that did not express the specific antigen (Ramkrishanan *et al.*, 2010).

### 6.2 p53 peptide-based immunotherapy

Loss of the tumour-suppressive activity of p53 is a frequent event in human cancer, occurring in more than 50% of all types of human cancers (Petitjean *et al.*, 2007b; Rivlin *et. al.*, 2011; Wang Y *et al.*, 2013). P53, the "guardian of genome", acts to suppress tumour development by various mechanisms, including, cell cycle arrest, DNA repair, senescence and apoptosis (Aylon Y *et. al.*, 2011) and is inactivated through missense mutations caused by alteration of a single amino acid in the DNA binding domain of the p53 protein. Carcinogenesis however requires the concomitant loss of tumour suppression and gain of oncogene activity. In prostate cancer p53 is reported to be expressed in small percentage however the expression increases with the progression of disease and patient age. In an imunohistochemical study conducted by Al-Nuaimi *et al.* (2011), expression of p53 was detected in 29% of the patients with age ranged between 41 to 90 years. It was shown that expression of p53 has statistically significant relationship between patients' age and Gleason score with highest expression found in the Gleason score 9 and 10 (Al-Nuaimi *et al.*, 2011). A statistically significant inverse relationship was found between p53 expression and tumour differentiation with higher expression in poorly differentiated prostate adenocarcinoma (Al-Nuaimi *et al.*, 2011).

Speetjens et al., (2009) first reported on a vaccine targeting p53 and consisting of synthetic long peptides in IFA. It comprised of 10 overlapping peptides (25-30 amino acid long), spanning 70-248 amino acids of the wt p53 protein sequence. The vaccine trial was performed in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (Speetjens et al., 2009) and ovarian cancer as a phase II clinical trial (Leffers et al., 2012). Interestingly in vaccinated patients, both Th1 and Th2 specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells were observed, but not CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, possibly due to the inhibitory effect of Th2 cytokines on CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell activation (Yamada *et al.*, 2013). A study by Rahma et al., (2012), showed that p53 specific CTL epitopes when co-injected with Montanide and IL-2 showed a similar progression-free and overall survival when compared with peptide-pulsed DCs given with IL-2. In the current study two mutations of p53 were selected, mutationspecific p53 peptides were identified and a vaccination strategy was developed for the treatment of PrCa. This approach of selecting mutation specific peptides for the development of PrCa therapy is reported here for the first time with p53-322-329 class I and p53-249-264 class II peptides in combination with the TLR agonist. The results demonstrate that mutation 175 and 273 mutation specific class I and class II peptides demonstrate enhanced immunity when used in combination with anti-CD40 antibody and TLR agonist. Currently there are no patient clinical trials registered targeting p53 peptide-based PrCa vaccine in combination with TLR agonist.

### 6.3 The p53 peptide repertoire is dependent on the site of mutation

P53 mutations in cancer progression are associated with trans-dominant suppression of wt p53 or gain of oncogenic function independent of wt p53. These two characters may be

simultaneous events and their effects can be difficult to separate (Sigal and Rotter, 2000). P53 "hot-spot" mutations are frequently found within the conserved regions of the central DNA binding domain of the protein and are categorised into class I and class II types depending on the L3 loop or loop-sheet-helix motif of the p53 protein (either support the DNA-binding surface structure or sustain conformational stability of the protein involving the L2 loop in the zinc region) (Attardi and Jacks 1999; Wong et al., 1999; Cho et al., 1994; Joerger et al., 2007). The majority of mutations are clustered in the central most conserved region of the p53 gene (Freed-Pastor et al., 2012) and the mutant p53 protein thereby loses its tumour suppressive properties and gains oncogenic function, thus leading to enhanced cell growth and survival as a consequence (Olivier *et al.*, 2010). P53 mutants showing mutations at 273 and 175, were selected for the current study as they represent the two categories of mutants, class I and class II, demonstrating the two extreme conformational alterations in p53 structure and function, that leads to protein inactivation in cancer (Joerger and Fersht, 2007). The immune response was assessed in the splenocytes from the mice immunised with either DNA encoding 175 or 273 p53 mutant proteins. On the basis of the results obtained it was indicated for the first time that the p53 peptide T-cell response was different towards the two mutant forms of the protein, suggesting that the two mutants give rise to different peptide repertoires and a differential T-cell response. Using the SaOS cell lines (SaOS-175 mutant and SaOS-273 mutant) differential cell morphology, rate of proliferation (unpublished data, Appendix I) and gene profile changes have been observed (Vadakekolathu et al., unpublished data) and it was suggesting from previous studies conducted in this laboratory (unpublished data) that when DCs were cultured with supernatants from the SaOS-175 and SaOS-273 cell cultures, they showed a difference in the rate of protein processing (McArdle *et al.*, unpublished data). These

findings substantiate the results indicating that the mutation site determines the peptide repertoire generated from the p53 protein and hence qualitative and quantitative differences in T-cell responses may occur. This would influence the strategy that should be adopted for patients whose tumour express the p53 mutations.

#### 6.4 Enhancing the immunogenicity of the peptides

Following the first report in 1991 demonstrating that vaccination with a single MHC class I binding CTL peptide epitope in IFA protected mice against a subsequent tumour challenge, many studies have focused on the efficiency of this mode of vaccination for inducing tumour immunity (Schulz et al., 1991). The identification of human tumour antigens has paved the way for developing targeted immunotherapy (Boon and Van den Eynde, 2003), with specificity to destroy cancer cells and induce long lasting immune memory without eliciting lethal side effects. Targeting MHC class I and class II epitopes of the tumour antigen has achieved moderate clinical success and cancer immunotherapy and peptide therapeutics have demonstrated improved responses over that of the conventional treatments in patient groups where treatment options are limited (Rane et al., 2014), but there are still obstacles to combatting advanced cancer, where the immune system of the host is compromised. Thus, implementing ways of overcoming states of immune tolerance, anergy or suppression concomitant with a vaccine strategy to enhance adaptive immunity, offers an attractive route for clinical intervention. Targeted therapies against defined tumour antigens involving the use of peptide-based vaccination, offers a potential for the future, which relies on knowledge of peptide epitopes and awareness of how these can be used to activate appropriate anti-tumour immune responses.

The aim of any cancer vaccine is, in most cases, the induction of T cell responses *via* stimulation of cellular immunity. In order to deliver and optimise vaccination, several protocols have been adopted, for example, the use of immunobodies to deliver peptide coding sequences within a DNA vector (Metheringham *et al.*, 2009) and encompassing helper peptides that promote CD4 as well as CD8 T-cell responses (Metheringham *et al.*, 2009) or using nanoparticles delivery systems. However in the present study none of these strategies were able to enhance the immunogenicity of selected p53 peptides. It has been demonstrated in 2012 by Ahonen *et al.*, that different TLR agonists when combined with anti-CD40 antibody in a C57BL6 mice induced CD8<sup>+</sup>T cell expansion to immunisation with ovalbumin protein and/or the SIINFEKL peptide. In the present study it was demonstrated for the first time that, class I and class II p53 peptides (specific for 175 and 273 mutations I p53) in combination with anti-CD-40 antibody and TLR agonist combination, moderately enhanced the immunogenicity of the peptides.

## 6.4.1 Agonists as efficient mediators to enhance the immunogenicity of the peptides in vaccination

The half-life of the antigen can be significantly extended, to several hundreds of days in some instances, when emulsified in the adjuvant in comparison with antigen injection alone (Rane *et al.*, 2014) and TLR agonists act as potent adjuvants, activating DCs, augmenting T cell responses and down regulating the suppressive effects of regulatory T cells. They promote both adaptive and innate anti-tumour immunity and affect the tumour microenvironment. TLR 3, 4, 7, 8 and 9 are the most promising TLR agonists for use alongside vaccination strategies (Cheever, 2008). Several other examples exist such as; the demonstration of the growth of transplanted and viral tumours can be prevented by co-administration of attenuated Bacillus

Calmette–Guérin (BCG) (Sjogren and Ankerst, 1969; Bekierkunst, 1971) and when inoculated into established tumours leads to tumour regression and prevention of metastasis (Zbar and Tanaka, 1971). BCG is being used in phase I and II clinical trials, targeting melanoma, colorectal and breast cancers and neuroblastoma. It is also involved in phase III clinical trials targeting melanoma, colon and lung cancer (Vacchelli *et al.*, 2012). Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) is a chemical derivative of *S. minnesotta* endotoxin, which acts as a potent TLR4 agonist and has been incorporated into Cervarix<sup>(R)</sup> (Human Papilloma Virus [HPV] associated cervical cancer vaccine) in the form of AS07 (MPL + aluminium salts) (Schiffman and Wacholder, 2012) and several other TLR agonists have been reported, including Imiquimod and CpG ODN (Drobits, 2012; Akira, 2003).

The induction of innate immune responses by TLRs is mirrored by the acquired immune response induced by the CD40 activation and different TLR agonists when combined with anti-CD40 antibody induces CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell expansion in response to ovalbumin and/or the SIINFEKL peptide (Ahonen *et al.*, 2004). In the current study anti-CD-40 antibody was used to prime DCs and TLR 9 was used in combination with the p53 class I and class II peptides in the immunisation mixture to boost the CD4 and CD8 T-cell responses. When peptide immunisation with/without anti-CD-40 and/or CpG TLR was compared, the combination of anti-CD-40 antibody and TLR agonist in the peptides mixture showed comparatively strongest immune response suggesting the synergistic effect of the antibody and TLR agonist when used together with peptide. This developed vaccination strategy also successfully prolonged the survival of mice bearing MC38) induced tumour (naturally expressing mutated p53).

# **6.5** Booster immunisation can be detrimental for overall survival in a therapeutic setting

It has been observed that in general vaccination against infectious diseases or cancer aims to boost the CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cell ( $T_{CM}$ ) population to protect or irradicate disease (Seden and Hill, 2000). In the current study, a moderately prolonged survival was observed in the tumour bearing mice receiving therapy designed to promote p53 class I (322-331) and class II (249-264) peptide specific T-cell immunity using a vaccine combined with a TLR agonist and anti-CD40 antibody. The mice that received only one vaccination showed (statistically significant) longer survival compared to the group that received the vaccine plus a booster immunisation on day 14. The ability of homologous and heterologous prime and boost regimes to enhance immunity has been investigated previously using a DC-based vaccine strategy for sustaining anti-tumour immunity (Ricupito et al., 2013). It was found that vaccination with further booster injection or multiple injections at short time intervals did not sustain the T<sub>CM</sub> cells in the spleen, whereas a booster injection 6 weeks apart improved immune mediate protection against B16BL6-D5 melanoma (Ricupito et al., 2013). It was further observed that vaccination was important for increasing disease-free survival, but repeated homologous vaccination was found to be detrimental for the maintenance of the tumour-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Ricupito et al., 2013). In a similar study, it was shown that multiple booster immunisations with D5G6 irradiated tumour cells in reconstituted-lymphopenic mice at short intervals, reduced the efficacy of adoptively transferred CTLs in a B16BL6-D5 melanoma model (LaCelle et al., 2009). It has also been suggested that the death of cancer cells, as a result of therapy, may release TAAs (Bellone, 2000) which may provide a boost to immune system and that additional booster immunisations may lead to exhaustion of the immune cells or tolerance (Sallusto *et al.*, 2010). From these studies it can be concluded that booster immunisations are

important in a prophylactic setting to sustain the antigen specific  $CD8^+$  T-cell immunity but may be inappropriate or even detrimental in a therapeutic setting due to exhaustion of the  $CD8^+T_{CM}$  cells. Hence it is important to optimise the immunisation schedule depending on the status of the patient and their treatment history. The results obtained in the present study support this promise, showing that improved T-cell responses and prolonged survival in mice which were primed once with the developed p53 peptide-based vaccine (in combination with anti-CD-40 and TLR agonist) compared to the mice which received the booster vaccination. Optimisation of vaccine therapy is essential to maximise and sustain anti-tumour immunity.

### 6.6 Peptide specific PrCa patient immune responses to p53

Pre-clinical investigations are required to assess the immunogenicity of peptides, derived from tumour-associated antigens, as potential target antigens for clinical evaluation. The immune responses of patients to tumour antigens can be assessed by stimulating PBMCs from patients with the peptides of interest *in vitro* (Nastke *et al.*, 2012; Kim *et al.*, 2014). In the final results chapter of this thesis, p53 HLA class I and class II peptides (p53-320-327 and p53-249-264 respectively) were evaluated for their ability to stimulate T-cell responses using PBMCs from HLA-A2 positive PrCa patients at varying stages of disease: benign, low grade, intermediate and high grade cancers.

Routinely trans-rectal ultrasound (TRUS) biopsies are widely used as a "gold standard" for prostate cancer diagnosis, but it has recently been shown that the Transperineal (TP) method of assessment of prostate is more accurate for assessment of disease status (Nafie *et al.*, 2014) and additionally reduces the risk of sepsis and patient mortality. All patients evaluated for their immune status to p53 were diagnosed (grade and stage of disease) according to defined pathological criteria using TP and TRUS biopsies. It was observed in this cohort of patients

that the level of PSA increases with progression of the disease to advanced stages. Although important, PSA levels are organ specific, not disease specific, and so this assessment has its limitations when used alone or together with TRUS biopsy pathology. To overcome the obstacles of current diagnostic tests, new technologies are emerging to assess the status of the prostate cancer, such as using dynamic contrast-enhanced (DCE)-MRI in conjunction with PSA assessment. DCE-MRI is a multi-parametric strategy and is emerging as a useful method in evaluating severity, location, extent of primary cancer and recurrent prostate cancer (Verma *et al.*, 2012). In assessing immunity to p53, it was important to have an accurate patient diagnosis of stage and grade of disease.

Various functional assays were performed to assess pre-existing T-cell immunity and/or T-cell activation to p53 peptides, including ELISpot, <sup>51</sup>Cr release cytotoxicity and <sup>3</sup>H incorporation (proliferation) assays. It was also observed while performing this study that resting PBMCs, reconstituted from frozen stocks and cultured *in vitro*, decreased in number with time and this observation is similar to the results previously reported (Kuerten *et al.*, 2012). This however, seems to occur with all PBMC samples. From the responses observed, using the three immune assays, it was concluded that the patient's response increased with progression of the disease, demonstrating that the frequency of p53 alteration increases with progression of disease. The presence of TRegs was also assessed in this cohort of the patients where an increasing percent TRegs with progressing disease was observed. A statistically significant increase in the CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> cell population was observed with intermediate stage PrCa compared to the benign population, as has been previously reported by Clarke *et al.* (2006) in the colorectal cancer. It has also been shown that peripheral TReg are increased in PrCa

prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) patients (Akin *et al.*, 2011). From these results and others, it has also been suggested that PSA may have a role in the induction/maintenance of the increased TRegs (Koksoy *et al.*, 2009; Akin *et al.*, 2011). In an independent study in our lab (with no defined HLA stuatus of the patients) showed no difference in the TRegs population.

In the current study it was demonstrated for the first time that p53 class I and class II peptides (p53 175 and 273 mutation specific) when immunised with anti-CD-40 and TLR agonist, enhanced the immunity of the peptides and also showed moderately prolonged survival of tumour bearing mice. High population of patients demonstrated pre-existing immunity to p53 peptides which would be beneficial to subsequent p53 directed immunotherapy. Further to this study it is important to assess the tumour tissues from these patients to assess the overexpression of the p53 antigen and also to determine the mutation status in order to provide more precise and patient specific immunotherapy. Unfortunately it was not possible to assess p53 mutational status and protein expression within individual tumours from this patient cohort. This is an important aspect of the study and is under current investigation.

### 6.7 Conclusion and future work

In the current study it was observed that the peptide repertoire produced by the two mutant forms of p53 (leading to extreme functional and conformational changes in the protein) is different and this has implications for vaccine-based immunotherapy. The immunogenicity of the peptides can be boosted by combining them with TLR agonist and anti-CD40 antibody at the time of immunisation and synergy was observed using this adjuvant treatment. Furthermore, it is crucial to establish the optimum prime-boost regime which will be dependent on the presence of disease (or absence in the prophylactic setting), disease status and previous treatment history. From the results obtained in this study, the selected p53 class I and class II peptides were immunogenic in the pre-clinical models and showed the ability to stimulate PrCa patient PBMCs *in vitro*. As reported in previous studies p53 is over-expressed or mutated in high proportion of PrCa patients. Time did not permit the assessment of p53 over-expression by immunohistochemistry in this cohort of PrCa patients, in order to correlate p53 mutational/tissue expression with pre-existing immunity and T-cell functional activity. This is possibly the most important "follow up" study required to fully evaluate the significance of the findings given here. Which form of p53 mutation associates with immune response to immunogenic p53 peptides will be necessary to assess and comparison with pre-clinical observations established using the 175 and 273 mutant forms will be of significance.

### References

Abrahamsson, P.A., Lilja, H., Falkmer, S., Wadstro, L.B. Immunohistochemical distribution of the three predominant secretory proteins in the parenchyma of hyperplastic and neoplastic prostate glands *.The Prostate*, **12(1)**: 39-46.

Adams, J.M., Cory, S. 2007. The Bcl-2 apoptotic switch in cancer development and therapy. *Oncogene*, **26(9)**: 1324-37.

Ahonen, C. L., Doxsee, C. L., McGurran, S. M., Riter, T. R., Wade, W. F., Barth, R. J., Vasilakos, J. P., Noelle, R. J. & Kedl, R. M. 2004. Combined TLR and CD40 triggering induces potent CD8+ T cell expansion with variable dependence on type I IFN. *J Exp Med.*, **199:** 775-84.

Ahonen, C., Manning, e., Erickson, L. D., O'Connor, B., Lind, E.F., Pullen, S. S., Kehry, M. R. & Noelle, R. J. 2002. The CD40-TRAF6 axis controls affinity maturation and the generation of long-lived plasma cells. *Nat Immunol.*, **3**: 451-6.

Akin, Y., Koksoy, S., Yucel, S., Erdogru, T., Baykara, M. 2011. Increased peripheral CD4+CD25high Treg in prostate cancer patients is correlated with PSA. *Saudi Med J.*, 32(10): 1003-8.

Akira, S. 2003. Mammalian Toll-like receptors. Curr Opin Immunol., 15: 5-11.

Akira, S. and Takeda, K. 2004. Toll-like receptor signaling. Nat Reviews Immunol. 4:499-511.

Albert, M.L., Jegathesan, M., Darnell, R.B. 2001. Dendritic cell maturation is required for the cross-tolerization of CD8+ T cells. *Nat Immunol.*, **2:** 1010–7.

Alvadori, S. *et al.* 1994. Abnormal signal transduction by T cells of mice with parental tumors is not seen in mice bearing Il-2 secreting tumors. *J Immunol.*, **153**, 5176-82.

Andersen, M.H., Junker, N., Ellebaek, E., Svane, I.M., Straten, P.T. 2010. Therapeutic cancer vaccines in combination with conventional therapy. *J Biomed Biotechnol.*, 237623.

Anthony, P., Marie-Louise, M., Nicolas, F., Ve' roniquePancre', Claude, A., Ojcius, D. M., Franc, Lemonnier, O. A. and Lone, Y. C. 2004. A mouse model of human adaptive immune functions: HLA-A2.1-/HLA-DR1-transgenic H-2 class I-/class II-knockout mice *Eur J Immunol.*, **34**: 3060–3069.

Antonarakis, E.S.; Drake, C.G. 2010. Current status of immunological therapies for prostate cancer. *Curr. Opin. Urol.*, **20**: 241–246.

Antonia, S.J., Mirza, N., Fricke, I. *et al.* 2006. Combination of p53 Cancer Vaccine with Chemotherapy in Patients with Extensive Stage Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.*, **12:** 878-887.

Arlen, P.M.; Gulley, J.L.; Madan, R.A.; Hodge, J.W.; Schlom, J. 2007. Preclinical and clinical studies of recombinant poxvirus Vaccines for carcinoma therapy. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.*, **27**: 451–462.

Armitage, R.J., Fanslow, W.C., Strockbine, L., *et al.* 1992. Molecular and biological characterization of a murine ligand for CD40. *Nature*, **357**: 80–2.

Arthur, M., Adrian, P., Eerez, B., Ofir, G., Eran ., Boaz, T., Ilan, V., Ezra, V., Gilles, L., Shmuel, C., Francois, L., Esther, T., and Lea, E. 2005. Human CTL Epitopes Prostatic Acid Phosphatase-3 and Six-Transmembrane Epithelial Antigen of Prostate-3 as candidates for PC immunotherapy. *Cancer Res.*, **14**: 6435-42.

Asatiani, E., Huang, W., Wang, A. *et al.* 2005. Deletion, Methylation, and Expression of the NKX3.1Suppressor Gene in Primary Human Prostate Cancer. *Cancer Res.*, **65**: 1164-73.

Attardi, L. D. & Jacks, T. 1999. The role of p53 in tumour suppression: lessons from mouse models. *Cell Mol Life Sci.*, **55**: 48-63.

Audia, S., Nicolas, A., Cathelin, D., *et al*.2007. Increase of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in the peripheral blood of patients with metastatic carcinoma: a Phase I clinical trial using cyclophosphamide and immunotherapy to eliminate CD4+CD25+ T lymphocytes. *Clin Exp Immunol.* **150(3)**: 523–530.

Aylon, Y. & Oren, M. 2011. New plays in the p53 theater. Curr Opin Genet Dev., 21: 86-92.

Balachandran, V.P., Cavnar, M.J., Zeng, S. *et al.* 2011. Imatinib potentiates antitumor T cell responses in gastrointestinal stromal tumor through the inhibition of Ido. *Nat. Med.* **17**: 1094-00.

Balistreri, C.R., Candore, G., Lio, D., Carruba, G. 2014. Prostate cancer: form the pathophysiologic implications of some genetic risk factors to translation in personalized cancer treatments. *Cancer Gene Ther.*, **21**: 2-11.

Banchereau J., Steinman R.M. 1998. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature*, **392**: 245–52.

Barbacid, M. 1987. Ras genes. Annu Rev Biochem., 56: 779-827.

Baylin, S.B., AND Jones, P.A. 2011. A decade of exploring the cancer epigenome - biological and translational implications. *Nat. Rev. Cancer*, **11**:726–734.

Bekierkunst, A., Levij, I.S., Yarkoni, E. 1971. Suppression of urethan-induced lung adenomas in mice treated with trehalose-6,6-dimycolate (cord factor) and living bacillus Calmette Guerin. *Science*, **174**(**4015**): 1240–2.

Bellone, M. 2000. Apoptosis, cross-presentation, and the fate of the antigen specific immune response. *Apoptosis*. **5**: 307–14.

Bellone, M., Parigi, S.M., and Jachetti, E. 2014. Pre-clinical evaluation of immunotherapy: the case for prostate cancer and the tramp model. *Tumour immunol and Immunother.*, **1**: 1-13.

Belpomme, D., Irigaray, P., Hardell, L., Clapp, R., Montagnier, L., Epstein, S., Sasco, A.J. 2007. The multitude and diversity of environmental carcinogens. *Environ Res.* **105**(**3**):414-29.

Belyi, V. A., Prashantha, A. K., Markert, E., Wang, H., Hu, W., Puzio-Kuter, A., and Levine, A. 2010. The origins and evolution of the p53 family of genes. *old Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* **2(6):** a001198.

Benitez, R., Godelaine, D., Lopez-Nevot, M.A. *et al.* 1998. Mutations of the beta2microglobulin gene results in a lack of HLA class I molecules on melanoma cells of two patients immunised with MAGE peptides. *Tissue Anti.*, **52**: 520-529.

Bennett, S. R., Carbone, F. R., Karamalis, F., Flavell, R. A., Miller, J. F. & Heath, W. R. 1998. Help for cytotoxic-T-cell responses is mediated by CD40 signalling. *Nature*, **393:** 478-80.

Bertram, J.S. 2000. The molecular biology of cancer. Mol Aspects Med., 6: 167-223.

Beatty GL, Chiorean EG, Fishman MP, Saboury B, Teitelbaum UR, Sun W, *et al.* 2011. CD40 agonists alter tumor stroma and show efficacy against pancreatic carcinoma in mice and humans. *Science*, **331**: 1612–6.

Berzofsky, J.A., Terabe, M. 2009. The contrasting roles of NKT cells in tumor immunity. *Curr Mol Med.*, **9**(**6**): 667-72.

Bevan, M.J. 1976. Minor H antigens introduced on H-2 different stimulating cells cross-react at the cytotoxic T cell level during *in vivo* priming. *J Immunol*. **117**(**6**):2233-8.

Bickers, D.R. and Lowy, D.R. 1989. Carcinogenesis: a fifty-year historical perspective. J Invest Dermatol., 92: 121S-131S.

Birch, J.M., Alston, R.D., McNally, R.J, Evans, D.G., Kelsey, A.M., Harris, M., Eden, O.B., Varley, J.M. 2001. Relative frequency and morphology of cancers in carriers of germline TP53 mutations. *Oncogene*, **20**: 4621–28.

Bishop, J.M. 1985. Viral oncogenes. Cell, 42: 23-38.

Bishop, J.M. 1991. Molecular themes in oncogenesis. Cell, 64: 235-248.

Blandino, G., Levine, A. J. & Oren, M. 1999. Mutant p53 gain of function: differential effects of different p53 mutants on resistance of cultured cells to chemotherapy. *Oncogene*, **18**: 477-85.

Boon, T. & Van Den Eynde, B. 2003. Tumour immunology. Curr Opin Immunol., 15: 129-30.

Bowen, C., Gelmann, E.P. 2010. NKX31 activates cellular response to DNA damage. *Cancer Res.*, **70(8)**: 3089-97.

Brahmer, J. R., S. S. Tykodi, L. Q. Chow, W. J. Hwu, S. L. Topalian, P. Hwu, C. G. Drake, L. H. Camacho, J. Kauh, K. Odunsi, et al. 2012. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **366**: 2455–65.

Bronte, V. 2007. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer. J. Immunother., 30: 878.

Bubendorf, L., Schöpfer, A., Wagner, U., Sauter, G., Moch, H., Willi, N., & Mihatsch, M. J. 2000. Metastatic patterns of prostate cancer: an autopsy study of 1,589 patients. *Human pathol.*, **31(5):** 578-583.

Bullock, A. N., Henckel, J. & Fersht, A. R. 2000. Quantitative analysis of residual folding and DNA binding in mutant p53 core domain: definition of mutant states for rescue in cancer therapy. *Oncogene*, **19**, 1245-56.

Cao, Y., Gao, Q., Wazer, D. E. & Band, V. 1997. Abrogation of wild-type p53-mediated transactivation is insufficient for mutant p53-induced immortalization of normal human mammary epithelial cells. *Cancer Res*, **57**: 5584-09.

Carlo, C. 2008. Molecular origins of cancer Oncogenes and Cancer. J Med., 358: 502-11.

Caux, C., Massacrier, C., Vanbervliet, B. *et al.* 1994. Activation of human dendritic cells through CD40 cross-linking. *J Exp Med.*, **180:** 1263–72.

Cella, M., Scheidegger, D., Palmer-Lehmann, K., Lane, P., Lanzavecchia, A., Alber, G. 1996. Ligation of CD40 on dendritic cells triggers production of high levels of interleukin-12 and enhances T cell stimulatory capacity: T-T help via APC activation. *J Exp Med.*, **184:** 747–52.

Cerny, A., Mchutchison, J. G., Pasquinelli, C., Brown, M. E., Brothers, M. A., Grabscheid, B., Fowler, P., Houghton, M. & Chisari, F. V. 1995. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to hepatitis C virus-derived peptides containing the HLA A2.1 binding motif. *J Clin Invest.*, **95:** 521-30.

Chambers, J.D., and Peter J. Neumann, P.J. 2011. Listening to Provenge — What a Costly Cancer Treatment Says about Future Medicare Policy. *N Engl J Med.*, **364:**1687-89.

Chang Y, Cesarman E, Pessin MS, et al. 1994. Identification of herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma. Science, **266**: 1865-9.

Cheever, M.A. 2008. Twelve immunotherapy drugs that could cure cancers. *Immunol Rev.*, **222:** 357–68.

Chen, H.L., Gabrilovich, D., Virmani, A. *et al.* 1996. Structural and functional analysis of beta2-microglobulin abnormalities in human lung and breast cancer. *Int J Cancer*, **67**: 756-763.

Chi, S.G., White, R.W., Meyers, F.J., Diders, D.B., Lee, F., Gumerlock, P.H. 1994. P53 in prostate cancer: frequent expressed transition mutations. *J Natl Cancer Inst.*, **86(12)**: 926-933.

Chiaradonna, F., Balestrieri, C., Gaglio, D., Vanoni, M. 2008. RAS and PKA pathways in cancer: new insight from transcriptional analysis. *Front Biosci.*, **13**: 5257-78. Cho, Y., Gorina, S., Jeffrey, P. D. & Pavletich, N. P. 1994. Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. *Science*, **265**: 346-55.

Clarke, S., Betts, G., Plant, A., Wright, K., El-Shanawany, T., Harrop, R., Torkington, J., Rees, B., Williams, G., Gallimore, A., Godkin, A. 2006. CD4CD25FOXP3 regulatory T cells suppress anti-tumor immune responses in patients with colorectal cancer. *PLoS ONE*, **1**: e129.

Clay, M. T., Hobeika, A. C., Mosca, P. J., Kimlyerly, H., and Morse, M. A. 2001. Assays for Monitoring Cellular Immune Responses to Active Immunotherapy of Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Res.*, **7**: 1127–35.

Clevers, H.C., Dunlap, S., Wileman, T.E., Terhorst, C. 1988. Human CD3-epsilon gene contains three miniexons and is transcribed from a non-TATA promoter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, **85(21):** 8156-60.

Coffman, R.L., Sher, A., Seder, R.A. 2010. Vaccine adjuvants: putting innate immunity to work. *Immunity*, **33(4)**: 492–503.

Coley, William B. 1893. A Preliminary Note on the Treatment of Inoperable Sarcoma by the Toxic Product of Erysipelas. *Post-graduate*, **8:** 278-86.

Cooperberg, M.R., Carroll, P.R., Klotz, L. 2011. Active surveillance for prostate cancer: progress and promise. *J Clin Oncol.* **29(27)**: 3669-76.

Cristina iclozan, C., Antonia, S., Chiappori, A., Chen, D.T., Gabrilovich, D. 2013. Cancer Immunol. *Immunother.*, **62**(5): 909-918.

Curran, M. A., W. Montalvo, H. Yagita, and J. P. Allison. 2010. PD-1 and CTLA- 4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, **107**: 4275–80.

Daftarian, P., Song, G. Y., Ali, S., Faynsod, M., longmate, J., Diamond, D. J., Ellenhorn, J. D. 2004. Two distinct pathways of immuno-modulation improve potency of p53 immunization in rejecting established tumors. *Cancer Res.*, **64(15)**: 5407-14.

D'Amico, A. V., Whittington, R., Malkowicz, S. B., Schultz, D., Broderick, G. A., T., Renshaw, A. A., K. ,Beard, C. J. 1998. Biochemical outcome after radical prostatectomy, external beam radiation therapy, or interstitial radiation therapy for clinically localized prostate cancer. *JAMA*, **280**(11): 969-74.

Das, R., Verma, R., Sznol, M. et al. 2015. Combination Therapy with Anti–CTLA-4 and Anti–PD-1 Leads to Distinct Immunologic Changes In Vivo. J Immunol., **194:** 950-959.

De Cerio, A. L., Zabalegui, N., Rodriguez-Calvillo, M., Inoges, S. & Bendandi, M. 2007. Anti-idiotype antibodies in cancer treatment. *Oncogene*, **26**: 3594-602.

Der, C.J., Krontiris, T.G., and Cooper, G.M. 1982. Transforming genes of human bladder and lung carcinoma lines are homologous to the ras genes of Harvey and Kirsten sarcoma viruses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, **79(11):** 3637-40.

De-The, G., Ho, J.H.C., Muir, C.S. 1991. Nasopharyngeal carcinoma. In: Viral Infections in Humans: Epidemiology and Control. 3rd ed (Evans AS, ed). *New York:Plenum Press*, 737-768.

De Witte, M.A., Bendle, G.M., Van Den Boom , M.D. 2008. TCR gene therapy of spontaneous prostate carcinoma requires in vivo T cell activation. *J Immunol.*, 181: 2563-71. Diehl, L., Den Boer, A. T., Schoenberger, S. P., van der Voort, E. I., Schumacher, T. N., Melief, C. J., Offringa, R. & Toes, R. E. 1999. CD40 activation in vivo overcomes peptide-induced peripheral cytotoxic T-lymphocyte tolerance and augments anti-tumor vaccine efficacy. *Nat Med.*, **5**: 774-9.

Diehl, L., Den Boer, A.T., Schoenberger, S.P. *et al.* 1999. CD40 activation in vivo overcomes peptide-induced peripheral cytotoxic T-lymphocyte tolerance and augments anti-tumor vaccine efficacy. *Nat Med.*, **5**(7): 774–9.

DiLillo, D.J., Yanaba, K., Tedder, T.F. 2010. B cells are required for optimal CD4+ and CD8+ T cell tumor immunity: therapeutic B cell depletion enhances B16 melanoma growth in mice. *J Immunol.*, **184**(7): 4006-16.

DiPaola, R.S., Plante, M.; Kaufman, H., Petrylak, D.P., Israeli, R., Lattime, E., Manson, K., Schuetz, T. 2006. A phase I trial of pox PSA vaccines (PROSTVAC (R)-VF) with b7-1, ICAM-1, and LFA-3 co-stimulatory molecules (TRICOM (TM)) in patients with prostate cancer. *J. Transl. Med.*, **4**: 1.

Disis, M.L., Bernhard, H., AND Jaffee, E.M. 2009. Use of tumour-responsive T cells as cancer treatment. *Lancet.*, **373(9664):** 673–683.

Dong, H.P., Elstrand, M.B., Holth, A., Silins, I., Berner, A., Trope, C.G., Davidson, B., Risberg, B. 2006. NK- and B-cell infiltration correlates with worse outcome in metastatic ovarian carcinoma. *Am J Clin Pathol.*, **125**(3):451-8

Drobits, B., Holcmann, M., Amberg, N. *et al.* 2012. Imiquimod clears tumors in mice independent of adaptive immunity by converting pDCs into tumor-killing effector cells. *J Clin Invest.*, **122(2):** 575–85.

Dubensky, Jr. T.W., Reed, S.G. 2010. Adjuvants for cancer vaccines. *Semin Immunol.*, **22(3)**: 155–61.

Dunn, G.P., Old, L.J., Schreiber, R.D. 2004. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. *Annu Rev Immunol.*, **22**: 329-60.

Dunn, G.P., Bruce, A.T., Ikeda, H., Old, L.J., and Schreiber, R.D. 2002. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nat. Immunol.*, **3**: 991–998.

Duskova, K., Vesely, S. 1987. Prostate Specific Antigen. Current clinical application and future prospects. *N Engl J Med.*, **317(15):** 909-16.

Eliane C.M., Zeestraten, E.C.M., Speetjens, F.M. *et al.* 2013. Addition of interferon-a to the p53-SLPVR vaccine results in increased production of interferon-c in vaccinated colorectal

Eliopoulos, A. G. & Young, L. S. 2004. The role of the CD40 pathway in the pathogenesis and treatment of cancer. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, **4:** 360-7.

Enam, S., Sweet, T., Amini, S., Khalili, K., Del Valle, L. 2004. Evidence for involvement of transforming growth factor  $\beta 1$  signaling pathway in activation of JC virus in human immunodeficiency virus-1-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.*, **128**: 282–291.

Eslick, G.D., Lim, L.L., Byles, J.E., Xia, H.H., Talley, N.J. 1999. Association of *Helicobacter pylori* infection with gastric carcinoma: a meta-analysis. *Am J Gastroenterol.* **94**(9):2373-9.

Esrig, D., Spruck, C.H., Nichols, P.W., Chaiwun, B., Steven, K., Groshen, S., Chen, S.C., Skinner, D.G., Jones, P.A., AND Cote, R.J. 1993. p53 nuclear protein accumulation orrelates with mutations in the p53 gene, tumor grade, and stage in bladder cancer. Am. *J. Pathol.* **143**: 1389–1397.

Evan, G. and Littlewood, C. 1998. A matter of life and cell death. Science, 58(9):1779-84

Fadi, S., Stacey, A., and Nikolai P. 2012. Pushing the frontiers of T-cell vaccines: accurate measurement of human T-cell responses. *Expert Rev Vaccines*, **12**: 1459–70.

Fearon, D.T., Locksley, R.M. 1996. The Instructive Role of Innate Immunity in the Acquired Immune Response. *Science*, **272**(**5258**): 50-54.

Fearon, E.R., Vogelstein, B. 1990. A genetic model for colorectal tumourigenesis. *Cell*, **61**(5): 759-767.

Ferlay, J., Shin, H.R., Bray, F., Forman, D., Mathers, C.D., Parkin, D. 2010. Globo¬can 2008, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC Cancer¬Base No.10 [Internet]. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. Available from: <u>http://globocan.iarc.fr</u>.

Fitzpatrick, J.M., Banu, E., Oudard, S. 2009. Prostate-specific antigen kinetics in localized and advanced prostate cancer. *BJU Int.*, **103(5):** 578-87.

Fong, L., Ruegg, C.L., Brockstedt, D., Engleman, E.G., Laus, R. 1997. Induction of tissuespecific autoimmune prostatitis with prostatic acid phosphatase immunization—Implications for immunotherapy of prostate cancer. *J. Immunol.*, **159:** 3113–17.

Foster, B.A., Gingrich, J.R., Kwon, E.D., Madias, C., Greenberg NM. 1997. Characterization of prostatic epithelial cell lines derived from transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate (TRAMP) model. *Cancer Res.*, **57**(16): 3325-30.

Freed-Pastor, W. A. & Prives, C. 2012. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. *Genes* Dev., **26(12):** 1268-86.

Freeman, G.J., Long, A.J., Iwai, Y. *et al.* 2000. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. *J. Exp. Med.*, 192: 1027–34.

French, R.R., Chan, H.T., Tutt, A.L., Glennie, M.J. 1999. CD40 antibody evokes a cytotoxic T-cell response that eradicates lymphoma and bypasses T-cell help. *Nat Med.*, **5**(5): 548–53.

Friend, S.H., Bernards, R., Rogelj, S., Weinberg, R.A., Rapaport, J.M., Albert, D.M., Dryja, T.P. 1986. A human DNA segment with properties of the gene that predisposes to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. *Nature*, **323**(6089): 643-6.

Gabrilovich, D. 2004. Mechanisms and functional significance of tumour-induced dendriticcell defects. *Nat Rev Immunol.*, **4**(12):941-52.

Gajewski, T.F., Meng, Y., Blank, C., Brown, I., Kacha, A. *et al.* 2006. Immune resistance orchestrated by the tumor microenvironment . *Immunol rev.* **213**: 131-145.

Galli, G., Medini, D., Borgogni, E. *et al.* 2009. Adjuvanted H5N1 vaccine induces early CD4+ T cell response that predicts long-term persistence of protective antibody levels. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **106(10):** 3877–82. Galloway, D.A. 1994. Papillomavirus capsids: a new approach to identify serological markers of HPV infection. *J Natl Cancer Inst.*, **86:** 474-475.

Garcia-Lora, A., Algarra, I., Gafario, J.J., Ruiz-Cabello, F., Garrido, F. 2001. Immunoselection by T lymphocytes generates repeated MHC class I-deficient metastatic tumor variants. *Int J Cancer*, 91: 109-119.

Garrido, F., Cabrera, T., Aptsiauri, N. 2010. "Hard" and "soft" lesions underlying the HLA class I alterations in acnecr cells: implications of immunotherapy. *Int J Cancer*, 127: 249-256.

Garrido, F., Ruiz-Cabello, F., Cabrera, T. *et al.* 1997. Implications for immunosurveillance of altered HLA class I phenotypes in human tumours. Immunol Today, 18: 89-95.

Germeau, C., Ma, W., Schiavetti, F. *et al*.2005. High frequency of antiyumor T cells in the blood of melanoma patients before and after vaccination with tumor antigens. *J. Exp Med.*, **201**: 241-248.

Ghiringhelli, F.; Larmonier, N.; Schmitt, E.; Parcellier, A.; Cathelin, D.; Garrido, C.; Chauffert, B.; Solary, E.; Bonnotte, B.; Martin, F. CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells suppress tumor immunity but are sensitive to cyclophosphamide which allows immunotherapy of established tumors to be curative. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **2004**, *34*, 336–344.

Gonzalez, K.D., Noltner, K.A., Buzin, C.H. *et al.* 2009. Beyond Li Fraumeni Syndrome: clinical characteristics of families with p53 germline mutations. *J Clin Oncol.*, **27**: 1250–56.

Green, D.R.; Ferguson, T.; Zitvogel, L.; Kroemer, G. 2009. Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, 9: 353–363.

Grewal, I. S., and Flavell, R. A. 1998. CD40 and CD154 in cell-mediated immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol*, **16**: 111-35.

Gualberto, A., Aldape, K., Kozakiewicz, K. & Tlsty, T. D. 1998. An oncogenic form of p53 confers a dominant, gain-of-function phenotype that disrupts spindle checkpoint control. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **95:** 5166-71.

Gulley, J.L., Christopher, R.H., Ravi, A. M., Beatriz, A. W., Maria, J. M., William L. D., Kwong-Yok, T., Jeffrey, S., Peter, A. P. 2013. Phase I Study Of Intraprostatic Vaccine Administration In Men With Locally Recurrent Or Progressive PC Cancer Immunol. *Immunother.*, (62): 1521-31.

Gupta, S., Carballido, E., and Fishman, M. 2011. Sipuleucel-T for therapy of asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic, castrate-refractory prostate cancer: an update and perspective among other treatments. *Onco Targets Ther.*, **4**: 79–96.

Gustafson, M.P., Lin, Y., League, S.C., Bulur, P.A., Abraham, R.S., Vuk-Pavlovic, S., Gastineau, D.A., Dietz, A.B. 2010. Loss of HLA-DR Expression on CD14+Cells; a common marker of immunosuppression in cancer patients. *J. Immunother.*, **33**: 869–870.

Hailemichael, Y and Overwijk, W. W. 2014. Cancer vaccines: Trafficking of tumor-specific T cells to tumor after therapeutic vaccination. *Int J Biochem & Cell Biol.*, **53**: 46-50.

Hamanishi, J., Mandai, M., Iwasaki, M. *et al.* 2007. Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumour infiltrating CD8 T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer. *PNAS*, **104(9)**: 3360-65.

Hammerich, K.H., Ayala, G. E., Wheeler, T.M. 2009. Anatomy of prostate gland and surgical pathology of prostate. Prostate cancer. **1:** 1-14.

Hamid, O., C. Robert, A. Daud, F. S. Hodi, W. J. Hwu, R. Kefford, J. D. Wolchok, P. Hersey, R. W. Joseph, J. S. Weber, et al. 2013. Safety and tumor responses with lambrolizumab (anti-PD-1) in melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **369**: 134–144.

Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R.A. 2011. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*. **144(5)**:646-74.

Hawkins, W.G., Gold, J.S., Blachere, N.E., Bowne, W.B., Hoos, A., Lewis, J.J., Houghton, A.N. 2002. Xenogeneic DNA immunization in melanoma models for minimal residual disease. *J. Surg. Res.*, **102**: 137–143.

Heldin, C.H., Westermark, B. 1984. Growth factors: Mechanism of action and relation to oncogenes. *Cell*, **37**: 9-20.

Higano, C.S., Schellhammer, P.F., Small, E.J., Burch, P.A., Nemunaitis, J., Yuh, L., Provost, N., Frohlich, M.W. 2009. Integrated data from 2 randomized, double-blind, placebo-173 controlled, phase 3 trials of active cellular immunotherapy with sipuleucel-T in advanced PC. *Cancer*, **115**: 3670–79.

Hirano, F., Kaneko, K., Tamura, H. *et al.* 2005 Blockade of B7-H1 and PD-1 by monoclonal antibodies potentiates cancer therapeutic immunity. *Cancer Res.*, **65**: 1089–96.

Hoffmann, T. K., Nakano, K., Elder, E. M., Dworacki, G., Finkelstein, S. D., Appella, E., Whiteside, T. L. & Deleo, A. B. 2000. Generation of T cells specific for the wild-type sequence p53(264-272) peptide in cancer patients: implications for immunoselection of epitope loss variants. *J Immunol*, **165**: 5938-44.

Hodi, F. S., S. J. O'Day, D. F. McDermott, R. W. Weber, J. A. Sosman, J. B. Haanen, R. Gonzalez, C. Robert, D. Schadendorf, J. C. Hassel, *et al.* 2010. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **363:** 711–723

Holtmeier, W., Kabelitz, D. 2005. Gammadelta T cells link innate and adaptive immune responses. *Chem Immunol Allergy.*, **86**:151-83.

Horn, H.F. & Vousden, K.H. 2007. Coping with stress: multiple ways to activate p53. *Oncogene*, **9**: 1306-16.

Huebner, R.J. and Todaro, G.J. 1969. Oncogenes of rna tumor viruses as determinants of cancer. *PNAS*, **64(3)**: 1087-94.

Humphrey, P. A. 2004. Gleason grade and prognistic factors in carcinoma of the prostate. *Mod Path.*, **17:** 292-306.

Hung, C.F., Wu, T.C., Monie, A., AND Roden, R. 2008. Antigen-specific immunotherapy of cervical and ovarian cancer. *Immunol Rev.*, **222**: 43–69.

Hurwitz, A.A., Foster, B.A., Kwon, E.D., Greenberg, N.M., Allison, J.P. 1999. Immunotherapy for prostate cancer in the TRAMP model using a GM-CSF-expressing vaccine and CTLA-4 blockade. *FASEB J.*, 13: A300.

Iarc. Hepatitis Viruses. 1994. In: IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Lyon:International Agency for Research on Cancer, 59.

Imler, J.L. and Hoffman, J.A. 2001. Toll receptors in innate immunity. *Trends in cell Biol.*, **11(7)**: 304-311.

Intlekofer, A. and Thompson, C. 2013. At the Bench: Preclinical rationale for CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade as cancer immunotherapy. *J L Biol.*, **94**: DOI: 10.1189/jlb.1212621.

Iwasaki, A., Medzhitov, R. 2004. Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. *Nat. Immunol.*, **5:** 987–995.

Iwasaki, A., Medzhitov, R. 2010. Regulation of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. *Science*, **327**, 291–295.

J. Wade Harper, J.W., Elledge, S.J., Keyomarsi, K., Dynlacht, B., Tsai, L.H., Zhang, P., Dobrowolski, S., BAI, C., Connell-Crowley, L., Swindell, E., Foxii, M.P., Wei, N. 1995. Inhibition of Cyclin-dependent Kinases by p21. *Mol. Biol. of the Cell*, **6**: 387-400.

Jackson, A.L., Loeb, L.A. 2001. The contribution of endogenous sources of DNA damage to the multiple mutations in cancer. *Mutat Res.*, **477**(1-2):7-21.

Jakóbisiak, M., Lasek, W., Gołąb, J. 2003. Natural mechanisms protecting against cancer. *Cell*, **90**(2–3): 103–122.

Jemal, A., Bray, F., Center, M.M., Ferlay, M.E., Ward, E., Forman, D. 2011. Global cancer statistics. *CA.*, **61(2)**: 69-90.

Jemal, A., Simard, E. P., Dorell, C., Noone, A. M., Markowitz, L. E., Kohler, B., Edwards, B. K. 2013. Annual report to the Nation on the Status of cancer, 1975–2009, Featuring the Burden and trends in Human Papillomavirus (HPV)–Associated cancers and HPV Vaccination coverage levels. *Journal of the National Cancer Insti.*, djs491.

Jenner, E. 1798. An inquiry into the causes and effects of variolae vaccinae, a disease discovered in some western counties of England.

Joerger, A. C. & Fersht, A. R. 2007a. Structural biology of the tumor suppressor p53 and cancer-associated mutants. *Adv Cancer Res.*, **97:** 1-23.

Joerger, A. C. & Fersht, A. R. 2007b. Structure-function-rescue: the diverse nature of common p53 cancer mutants. *Oncogene*, **26**: 2226-42.

Johnson, L.E., Frye, T.P., Arnot, A.R., Marquette, C., Couture, L.A., Gendron-Fitzpatrick, A., McNeel, D.G. 2006. Safety and immunological efficacy of a PC plasmid DNA vaccine encoding prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP). *Vaccine*, **24**: 293–303.

Johnson, L.E., Frye, T.P., Chinnasamy, N., Chinnasamy, D., Mcneel, D.G. 2007. Plasmid DNA vaccine encoding prostatic acid phosphatase is effective in eliciting autologous antigenspecific CD8+ T cells. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.*, **56**: 885–895.

Joske, R.A., Laurence, B.H., Matz, L.R. 1972. Familial active chronic hepatitis with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology*, **62**: 441-444.

Jung, Y., Kim, J. K., Shiozawa, Y., Wang, J., Mishra, A., Joseph, J.& Taichman, R.S. 2013. Recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells into prostate tumours promotes metastasis. *Nature communi.*, **4:** 1795.

Kalyan, S., Kabelitz, D. 2013. Defining the nature of human  $\gamma\delta$  T cells: a biographical sketch of the highly empathetic. *Cell Mol Immunol.*, **10**(1):21-9.

Kantarjian, H., Issa, J.P., Rosenfeld, C.S. et al. 2006. Decitabine improves patient outcomes in myelodysplastic syndromes: results of a phase III randomized study. *Cancer.* **106(8)**: 1794-803.

Kantoff, P.W., Higano, C.S., Shore, N.D., *et al.* 2010. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **363**(5): 411–422.

Kao, J.Y., Zhang, M., Chen, C.M., Pierzchala, A., Chen, J.J. 2006. Aberrant T helper cell response in tumor-bearing mice limits the efficacy of dendritic cell vaccine. *Immunol Lett.*, **105**(1):16-25

Kasai, M., Kominami, E., Mizuochi, T. 1998. The antigen presentation pathway in medullary thymic epithelial cells, but not that in cortical thymic epithelial cells, conforms to the endocytic pathway. *Eur J Immunol.*, **28**(6):1867-76.

Kaufman, H.L., Dipaola, R., von Mehren, M., Marshall, J., Lyerly, H.K., Streicher, H., Schlom, J., Panicali, D., Schuetz, T. 2004. Safety profile of therapeutic pox virus-based vaccines for cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.*, **22:** 166S.

Kedl, R. M., Jordan, M., Potter, T., Kappler, J., Marrack, P. & Dow, S. 2001. CD40 stimulation accelerates deletion of tumor-specific CD8(+) T cells in the absence of tumor-antigen vaccination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U. S. A.*, **98**: 10811-6.

Kenter, G.G., Welters, M.J., Valentijn, A.R., *et al.* 2008. Phase I immunotherapeutictrial with long peptides spanning the E6 and E7 sequences of high-riskhuman papillomavirus 16 in end-stage cervical cancer patients shows lowtoxicity and robust immunogenicity. *Clin Cancer Res.*, **14** (1): 169–77.5

Khurana, S., Chearwae, W., Castellino, F. *et al.* 2010. Vaccines with MF59 adjuvant expand the antibody repertoire to target protective sites of pandemic avian H5N1 influenza virus. *Sci Transl Med.*, **2**(**15**): 15ra5.

Kim, R,, Emi, M,, Tanabe, K. 2007. Cancer immunoediting from immune surveillance to immune escape. *Immunology*, **121**(1): 1-14.

Kim, S., Chung, H.W., Lee, K.R., and Lim, J.B. 2014. Identification of novel epitopes from human papillomavirus type 18 E7 that can sensitize PBMCs of multiple HLA class I against human cervical cancer. *J Transl Med.*, **12(1)**: 229.

King, M.C., Marks, J.H., Mandell, J.B., New York breast cancer study group. 2003. Breast and ovarian cancer risks due to inherited mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Science*, **302(5645):** 643-6.

Kleihues, P., Schäuble, B., Hausen, A.Z., Estève, J., Ohgaki, H. 1997. Tumors associated with p53 germline mutations: a synopsis of 91 families. *Am J Pathol.*, **150**(1): 1–13.

Klimek VM, Fircanis S, Maslak P, Guernah I, Baum M, Wu N, Panageas K, Wright JJ, Pandolfi PP, Nimer SD. (2008) Tolerability, pharmacodynamics, and pharmacokinetics studies of depsipeptide (romidepsin) in patients with acute myelogenous leukemia or advanced myelodysplastic syndromes. *Clin Cancer Res.* **14**(**3**):826-32

Knudson, A.G. jr. 1971. Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, **68(4)**: 820-3.

Koksoy, S., Nilüfer Cicek, N., Akin, Y., Erdogru, T., Baykara, M., Ciftcioglu, M.A. and Yucel, S. 2009. Increased peripheral natural Tregs in prostate cancer patients is correlated with PSA. *The J of Immunol.*, **182**: 40:13.

Kotlan, B., Simsa, P., Teillaud, J.L., Fridman, W.H., Toth, J., McKnight, M., Glassy, M.C. 2005. Novel ganglioside antigen identified by B cells in human medullary breast carcinomas: the proof of principle concerning the tumor-infiltrating B lymphocytes. *J Immunol.* **175**(**4**):2278-85.

Kozin, S.V., Kamoun, W.S., Huang, Y.H., Dawson, M.R., Jain, R.K., Duda, D.G. 2010. Recruitment of myeloid but not endothelial precursor cells facilitates tumor regrowth after local irradiation. *Cancer Res.*, **70**, 5679–85.

Krishnamurthy, P., Schuetz, J.D. 2006. Role of ABCG2/BCRP in biology and medicine. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.*, **46:** 381–410.

Kuball, J., Schuler, M., Ferreira, E.A. *et al.* 2002. Generating p53-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes by recombinant adenoviral vector-based vaccination in mice, but not man," *Gene Therapy*, **9(13)**: 833–843.

Kuerten, S., Batoulis, H., Recks, M.S., Karacsony, E., Zhang, W., Subbramanian, R.A., Lehmann, P.V. 2012. Resting of Cryopreserved PBMC Does Not Generally Benefit the Performance of Antigen-Specific T Cell ELISPOT Assays. *Cells*, **1**(3): 409-27.

Kushwah, R. and Hu, J. 2011. Complexity of dendritic cell subsets and their function in host immune system. *Immunol.*, **133(4):** 409-419.

Lacelle, M.G., Jensen, S.M., Fox, B.A. 2009. Partial CD4 depletion reduces regulatory T cells induced by multiple vaccinations and restores therapeutic efficacy. *Clin Cancer Res.*, **15**: 6881–90.

Lai, C.L. and Yuen, M.F. 2013. Prevention Of Hepatitis B Virus–Related Hepatocellular Carcinoma With Antiviral Therapy. *Hepatology*, **57**: 399–408.

Lane, D.P., Crawford, L.V. 1979. T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40-transformed cells. *Nature*, **278**(**5701**): 261-3.

Langerød, A., Zhao, H., Borgan, O., Nesland, J.M., Bukholm, I.R.K., Ikdahl, T., Kåresen, R., Børresen-Dale, A.L., Jeffrey, S.S. 2007. TP53 mutation status and gene expression profiles are powerful prognostic markers of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res.*, **9**(3): R30.

Lavie, G., Meruelo, D., Aroyo, K., and Mandel, M. 2000. Inhibition of the CD8+ T cellmediated cytotoxicity reaction by hypericin: potential for treatment of T cell-mediated diseases. *Int. Immunol.*, **12**: 479-486.

Lee-Hoeflich, S.T. *et al.* 2008. A central role for HER3 in HER2-amplified breast cancer: implications for targeted therapy. *Cancer Res.*, **68:** 5878-87.

Leffers, N., Lambeck, A. J., Gooden, M. J. *et al.* 2009. Immunization with a P53 synthetic long peptide vaccine induces P53-specific immune responses in ovarian cancer patients, a phase II trial. *Int J Cancer*, **125**: 2104-13.

Leffers, N., Vermeij, R., Hoogeboom, B.N. *et al.* 2012. Long-term clinical and immunological effects of p53-SLP® vaccine in patients with ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer.*, **130** (1): 105–12.

Lefrancois, L., Altman, J. D., Williams, K. & Olson, S. 2000. Soluble antigen and CD40 triggering are sufficient to induce primary and memory cytotoxic T cells. *J Immunol*, **164**: 725-32.

Lennerz, V., Fatho, M., Gentilini, C., Frye, R.A., Lifke, A. et al. 2005. The response of autologous T cells to a human melanoma is dominated by mutated neoantigen. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A., **102**: 1603-18.

Levine, A.J. & Oren, M. 2009. The first 30 years of p53: growing ever more complex. *Nat Rev Cancer*, **10**: 749-58.

Levy, D.E.; Darnell, J.E. STATs: Transcriptional control and biological impact. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2002**, *3*, 651–662.

Li, G., Miles, A., Line, A., Rees, R.C. 2004. Identification of tumour antigens by serological analysis of cDNA expression cloning. Cancer Immunol. *Immunother.*, **53**(3): 139-143.

Lin, M.Z., Teitell, M.A. and Schiller, G.J. 2005. *Imaging, Diagnosis, Prognosis: The Evolution Of Antibodies Into Versatile Tumor-Targeting Agents Clin Cancer Res.*, (11): 129-138.

Linja, H., Abrahamsson, P.A. 1988. Three predominant proteins secreted by the human prostate gland. *Prostate*, **12**(1): 29-38.

Linzer, D.I. & Levine, A.J. 1979. Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. *Cell*, **1**: 43-52.

Liu, D.P., Song, H. and Xu, Y. 2010. A common Gain of function of p53 cancer mutants in inducing genetic instability. *Oncogene*, **29**(7): 949–956.

Liu, Y.J. 2001. Dendritic cell subsets and lineages, and their functions in innate and adaptive immunity. *Cell.*, **106**: 259.

Loeb, S., Schaeffer, E.M., Trock, B.J., Epstein, J.I., Humphreys, E.N. and Walsh, P.C. 2009. What Are the Outcomes of Radical Prostatectomy for High-risk Prostate Cancer? Pros Can., **76(3)**:710-4.

Lollini, P.L., Cavallo, F., Nanni, P., Forni, G. 2006. Vaccines for tumour prevention. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, **6**(3):204–216.

Mackey, M.F., Barth, R.J. jr., Noelle, R.J. 1998. The role of CD40/CD154 interactions in the priming, differentiation, and effector function of helper and cytotoxic T cells. *J Leukoc Biol.*, **63**: 418–28.

Madan, R.A., Arlen, P.M., Mohebtash, M., Hodge, J.W., Gulley, J.L. 2009. Prostvac-VF: A vector-based vaccine targeting PSA in prostate cancer. *Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs* 18: 1001–11.

Mahadevan, V., Hart, I.R. 1990. Metastasis and angiogenesis. Acta Oncol., 29: 97-103.

Mao, Q., Unadkat, J.D. 2005. Role of the breast cancer resistance protein (ABCG2) in drug transport. *AAPS J.*, **7**: E118–E133.

Marks, P.A., Breslow, R. 2007. Dimethyl sulfoxide to vorinostat: development of this histone deacetylase inhibitor as an anticancer drug. *Nat Biotechnol.*, **25**(1):84-90.

Marsh, D., Zori, R. 2002. Genetic insights into familial cancers- update and recent discoveries. *Cancer Lett.*, **181(2)**:125-64.

Mauri, C., Mars, L. T. & Londei, M. 2000. Therapeutic activity of agonistic monoclonal antibodies against CD40 in a chronic autoimmune inflammatory process. *Nat Med.*, **6**: 673-679.

McCartney, S., Vermi, W., Gilfillan, S. *et al.* 2009. Distinct and complementary functions of MDA5 and TLR3 in poly(I:C)-mediated activation of mouse NK cells. *J Exp Med.*, **206(13)**: 2967–76.

McCoy, K. and Gros, G. 1999. The role of CTLA-4 in the regulation of T cell immune responses. *Immunol and Cell Biol.*, **77:** 1-10.

McNeel, D.G., Nguyen, L.D., Disis, M.L. 2001. Identification of T helper epitopes from prostatic acid phosphatase. *Cancer Res.* **61**, 5161–67.

Medzhitov, R. 2001. Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.*, **1**(2): 135-45.

Melief, C.J., Welters, M.J.P., Lowik, M.J.G., Vloon, A.P.G., Drijfhout, J.W., Valentijn A.R.P.M., Wafelman, A.R., Offringa, R., van der Burg, S.H. & Kenter, G.G. 2007. Long peptide vaccine-induced migration of HPV 16-specific type 1 and 2 T cells into the lesion of VIN III patients associated with complete clinical responses. *Canc Imm.*, **7** (1): 20.

Menon, A.G., Kuppen, P. J. K., van der Burg, S.H. *et al.* 2003. Safety of intravenous administration of a canarypox virus encoding the human wild-type p53 gene in colorectal cancer patients. *Cancer Gene Therapy*, **10**(7): 509–517.

Merrimen, J. l., Evans, A. j., Srigley, Jr. Preneoplasia. 2013. In The Prostate Gland With Emphasis On High Grade Prostatic Intraepithelial Neoplasia. *Pathology.*,**45**(3): 251-63.

Metheringham, R. L., Pudney, V. A., Gunn, B., Towey, M., Spendlove, I. & Durrant, L. G. 2009. Antibodies designed as effective cancer vaccines. *MAbs.*, **1**: 71-85.

Michael, A., Relph, K., Annels, N., Pandha, H. 2013. Prostate cancer vaccines. *Vaccines*, 53-262.

Michalek, M.T., Grant, E.P., Gramm, C., Goldberg, A.L., Rock, K.L. 1993. A role for the ubiquitin-dependent proteolytic pathway in MHC class I-restricted antigen presentation. *Nature*. **363**(6429): 552-4

Mickel, R.A., Kessler, D.J., Taylor, J.M, and Licktenstein, A. 1988. Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity in the Peripheral Blood, Cervical Lymph Nodes, and Tumor of Head and Neck Cancer Patients. *Cancer Res.*, **48**: 5017-22.

Miller, A.M., Lundberg, K., Ozenci, V., Banham, A.H., Hellstrom, M., Egevad, L., Pisa, P. 2006. CD4(+)CD25(high) T cells are enriched in the tumor and peripheral blood of prostate cancer patients. *J. Immunol.*, **177**: 7398–05.

Mishra, J., Dromund, J., Quazi, S.H., Karanki, S.S., Shaw, J.J., Chen, B., AND Kumar, N. 2013. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.*, **86(3):** 232–250.

Moll, U.M. and Petrenko, O. 2003. The MDM2-p53 interaction. Mol. Cancer Res., 1: 1001.

Moretta, L., Moretta, A. 2004. Unravelling natural killer cell function: triggering and inhibitory human NK receptors. *EMBO J.*, **23**(2): 255-9.

Moul, J.W. 1999. Angiogenesis, p53, bcl-2 and Ki-67 in the progression of prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy. *Eur. Urol.*, **35**:399–407.

Mueller, N. 1991. The epidemiology of HTLV-1 infection. *Cancer Causes Control.*, 2: 37-52.

Mulholland, D.J., Dedhar, S., Wu, H., Nelson, C.C. 2006. PTEN and GSK3beta: key regulators of progression to androgen-independent prostate cancer. *Oncogene*. **25**(**3**):329-37. Munier, C.M.L., Zaunders, J.J., Ip, S., Cooper, D.A. & Kelleher, A.D. 2009. A culture amplified multi-parametric intracellular cytokine assay (CAMP-ICC) for enhanced detection of antigen specific T-cell responses. *J. Immunol. Methods.*, **345:** 1-16.

Nafie, S., Mellon, J. K., Dormer, J. P. and Khan M. A. 2014. The role of transperineal template prostate biopsies in prostate cancer diagnosis in biopsy naïve men with PSA less than 20 ng ml(-1.). *Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis.*, **17**(2):170-3.

Nastke, M.D., Becerra, A., Yin, L., Dominguez-Amorocho, O., Gibson, L., Stern, L.J., AND Calvo-Calle, J.M. 2012. Human CD4+ T Cell Response to Human Herpesvirus 6. *J Virol.*, **86(9)**: 4776–92.

Nayersina, R., Fowler, P., Guilhot, S., *et al.* 1993. HLA A2 restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses to multiple hepatitis B surface antigen epitopes during hepatitis B virus infection. *J Immunol.*, **150**: 4659-71.

Neil H. Segal, N.H., Parsons, D.W., Peggs, K.S., Velculescu, V., Kinzler, K.W., Vogelstein, B., and Allison, J.P. 2008. Epitope Landscape in Breast and Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer Res.*, **68(3)**: 889–92.

Nesslinger, N.J.; Ng, A.; Tsang, K.Y.; Ferrara, T.; Schlom, J.; Gulley, J.L.; Nelson, B.H. A viral vaccine encoding prostate-specific antigen induces antigen spreading to a common set of self-proteins in prostate cancer patients. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2010**, *16*, 4046–4056.

Nishio, Y.; Yamada, Y.; Kokubo, H.; Nakamura, K.; Aoki, S.; Taki, T.; Honda, N.; Nakagawa, A.; Saga, S.; Hara, K. Prognostic significance of immunohistochemical expression of the HER-2/neu oncoprotein in bone metastatic prostate cancer. *Urology* **2006**, *68*, 110–115.

Noeile, R.J., Ledbetter, J.A and Aruffo, A. 1992. CD40 and its ligand, an essential llgand-receptor pair for thymusdependent B-cell activation. Immunol. *Today.*, **13**: 431.

Nzula, S., Going, J.J., Stott, D.I. 2003. Antigen-driven clonal proliferation, somatic hypermutation, and selection of B lymphocytes infiltrating human ductal breast carcinomas. *Cancer Res.*, **63**(12): 3275-80.

Oesterling, J.E. 1991. Prostate specific antigen: a critical assessment of the most useful tumor marker for adenocarcinoma of the prostate. *Oncology (Williston Park)*. **5(4)**: 107-22; discussion 122, 125-6, 128.

Oesterling, J.E., Chan, D.W., Epstein, J.I., Kimball, A.W. Jr, Bruzek, D.J., Rock, R.C., Brendler, C.B., Walsh, P.C. 1991. Prostate specific antigen in the preoperative and

postoperative evaluation of localized prostatic cancer treated with radical prostatectomy. *J Urol.* **145(5):** 907-23.

O'Keefe, K., Li, H., Zhang, Y. 2003. Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of p53 is essential for MDM2-mediated cytoplasmic degradation but not ubiquitination. *Mol Cell Biol.*, **23(18)**: 6396-05.

Olivier, M., Goldgar, D.E., Sodha, N., Ohgaki, H., Kleihues, P., Hainaut, P., Eeles, R.A. 2003. Li-Fraumeni and related syndromes: Correlation between tumor type, family structure, and TP53 genotype. *Cancer Res.*, **63**: 6643–50.

Olivier, M., Hollstein, M. & Hainaut, P. 2010. TP53 mutations in human cancers: origins, consequences, and clinical use. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.*, **2**: a001008.

Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., Sinha, P. 2009. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. *J Immunol.*, **182**(8):4499-06.

Ouyang, X., Deweese, T.L., Nelson, W.G., Abate-shen, C. 2005. Loss-of-function of Nkx31 promotes increased oxidative damage in prostate carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.*, **65**(15): 6773-9.

Ozao-Choy, J., Ma, G., Kao, J. *et al.* 2009. The novel role of tyrosine kinase inhibitor in the reversal of immune suppression and modulation of tumor microenvironment for immune-based cancer therapies. *Cancer Res.*, **69**: 2514–22.

Pajtasz-Piasecka, E., Kuúnierczyk, H., Krawczyk, K., Piasecki, E., Elas, M., Radzikowski, C. 2001. The effects of peritumoral therapeutic vaccination with IL-2-secreting cells on growth of MC38 colon tumors, local NO production and sentinel lymph node cells activation. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.*, **495**: 385-388.

Parada, L.F., Tabin, C.J., Shih, C., and Weinberg, R.A. 1982. Human EJ bladder carcinoma oncogene is homologue of Harvey sarcoma virus ras gene. *Nature*, **297**: 474–479.

Pardoll, D.M. 2012. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer.*, **12**(**4**): 252-64.

Parham, P. 1999. Virtual reality in the MHC. Immunol. Rev. 167(1): 5-15.

Park, D. J., Nakamura, H., Chumakov, A. M., Said, J. W., Miller, C. W., Chen, D. L. & Koeffler, H. P. 1994. Transactivational and DNA binding abilities of endogenous p53 in p53 mutant cell lines. *Oncogene*, **9**: 1899-06.

Paschen, A., Mendez, R.M., Jimenez, P. *et al.* 2003. Complete loss of HLA class I antigen expression on melanoma cells: a result of successive mutational events. *Int J Cancer*, 103: 759-767.

Pavlenko, M., Roos, A.K., Lundqvist, A. *et al.* 2004. A phase I trial of DNA vaccination with a plasmid expressing prostate-specific antigen in patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Br. J. Cancer*, **91:** 688–694.

Perry, M.E., Levine, A.J. 1993. Tumor-suppressor p53 and the cell cycle. *Curr Opin Genet Dev.*, **3**: 50-54.

Petitjean, A., Achatz, M. I., Borresen-Dale, A. L., Hainaut, P. & Olivier, M. 2007. TP53 mutations in human cancers: functional selection and impact on cancer prognosis and outcomes. *Oncogene*, **26**: 2157-65.

Pinchuk, L. M. and Filipov, N. M. 2008. Differential effects of age on circulating and splenic leukocyte populations in C57BL/6 and BALB/c male mice. *Immun Ageing*, 11:5:1.

Praveen, P.V., Yaneva, R., Kalbacher, H., Springer, S. 2010. Tapasin edits peptides on MHC class I molecules by accelerating peptide exchange. *Eur J Immunol.*, **40**(1):214-24.

Preston-Martin, S., Pike, M.C., Ross, R.K. *et al.* 1990. Increased cell division as a cause of human cancer. *Cancer Res.*, **50**: 7415-21.

Pudney, V. A., Metheringham, R. L., Gunn, B., Spendlove, I., Ramage, J. M. & Durrant, L. G. 2010. DNA vaccination with T-cell epitopes encoded within Ab molecules induces high-avidity anti-tumor CD8+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol.*, **40**: 899-910.

Quast, S., Zhang, W., Shive, C., Kovalovski, D., Ott, P.A., Herzog, B.A., Boehm, B.O., Tary-Lehmann, M., Karulin, A.Y., Lehmann, P.V. 2005. IL-2 absorption affects IFN-gamma and IL-5, but not IL-4 producing memory T cells in double color cytokine ELISPOT assays. *Cell Immunol.*, **237**: 28.

Quezada, S.A., Jarvinen, L.Z., Lind, E.F., Noelle, R.J. 2004. CD40/CD154 interactions at the interface of tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol.*, **22:** 307–28.

Rabinovich, G.A., Gabrilovich, D., Sotomayor, E.M. 2007. Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells. *Ann Rev Immunol.*, **25**: 267–296.

Rahma, O., Achtar, M., Czystowska, C. *et al.* 2010. Comparable effect of p53 peptide vaccine in adjuvant or pulsed on dendritic cells in ovarian cancer patients: a gynaecologic oncology group study," in Proceedings of the American Society of Clinical Oncology Annual Meeting.

Rahma, O.E., Ashtar, E., Czystowska, M. *et al.* 2012. A gynecologic oncology group phase II trial of two p53 peptide vaccine approaches: subcutaneous injection and intravenous pulsed dendritic cells in high recurrence risk ovarian cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.*, **61:** 373–84.

Ramakrishnan, R., Assudani, D., Nagaraj, S., Hunter, T., Cho, H., Antonia, S., Altiok, S., Celis, E. and Gabrilovich, D.I. 2010. Chemotherapy enhances tumor cell susceptibility to CTL-mediated killing during cancer immunotherapy in mice. *J Clin Invest.*, **120(4)**: 1111–24.

Rammensee, H., Bachmann, J., Emmerich, N. P., Bachor, O. A. & Stevanovic, S. 1999. SYFPEITHI: database for MHC ligands and peptide motifs. *Immunogenetics*, **50**: 213-9.

Rane, S.S., Saif, J., Rees, R.C. 2014. Tumor Antigen and Epitope Identification for Preclinical and Clinical. Evaluation Translational medicine from bench to bedside, (in press).

Read, A.E., Sherlock. S., Harrison. C.V. 1963. Active "juvenile" cirrhosis considered as part of a systemic disease and the effect of corticosteroid therapy. *Gut*, **4**: 378-393.

Reuschenbach, M., Doeberitz, M.V.K., AND Wentzensen, N. 2009. A systematic review of humoral immune responses against tumor antigens. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.*, **58(10)**: 1535–44.

Richardson, E.P. 1961. Progressive multifocal leukoencelphalopathy. *N Engl J Med.*, **265**: 815–823.

Ricupito, A., Grioni, M., Calcinotto, A., Hess Michelini, R., Longhi, R., Mondino, A., Bellone, M. 2013. Booster vaccinations against cancer are critical in prophylactic but detrimental in therapeutic settings. *Cancer Res.*, **73**(12): 3545-54.

Ridge, J. P., Di Rosa, F. & Matzinger, P. 1998. A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ T-helper and a T-killer cell. *Nature.*, **393:** 474-8.

Rivlin, N., Brosh, R., Oren, M. & Rotter, V. 2011. Mutations in the p53 Tumor Suppressor Gene: Important Milestones at the Various Steps of Tumorigenesis. *Genes Cancer.*, **2:** 466-474.

Robinson, J.H. and Delvig, A.A. 2002. Diversity in MHC class II antigen presentation. Immunology 2002;105:252–62.

Rojas, J. M., McArdle, S. E., Horton, R. B., Bell, M., Mian, S., Li, G., Ali, S. A. & Rees, R. C. 2005. Peptide immunisation of HLA-DR-transgenic mice permits the identification of a novel HLA-DRbeta1\*0101- and HLA-DRbeta1\*0401-restricted epitope from p53. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.*, **54**: 243-53.

Rokhlin, O.W., Vladimir S. Scheinker, V.S., Taghiyev, A.F., Bumcrot, D., Glover, R.A., Cohen, M.B. 2008. MicroRNA-34 mediates AR-dependent p53-induced apoptosis in prostate cancer. *Cancer Biol. & Ther.*, **7:8**, 1288-96.

Romer, P. and Coulie, P.G. 2014. Adaptive T-cell immunity and tumor antigen recognition. *Tumour immunol and Immunother.*, **1:** 1-13.

Romero, J.M., Jimenez, P., Cabrera, T. *et al.* 2005. Coordinated downregulatio of the antigen presentation machinery and HLA class I/beta2-microglobumin complex is responsible for HLA-ABC loss in bladder cancer. *Int J Cancer*, **113**: 605-610. Romero, P. and Coulie, P.G. 2014. Tumor immunology and immunotherapy. **1**: 1-14.

\_ \_\_\_\_

Ross, Michael H., and Wojciech Pawlina. 2010. *Histology*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

Saif, J. M., Vadakekolathu, J., Rane, S. S., McDonald, D., Aahmad, M., Mathieu, M., Pockley, A. G., Durrant, L., Metheringham, R., Rees, R. C. & McArdle, S. E. 2014. Novel prostate acid phosphatase-based peptide vaccination strategy induces antigen-specific T-cell responses and limits tumour growth in mice. *Eur J Immunol.*, **44**: 994-04.

Sakr, W.A. 1999. Prostatic Intraepithelial Neoplasia: A Marker For High-Risk Groups And A Potential Target For Chemoprevention. *Eur Urol.*, **35:** 474–478.

Sallusto, F., Lanzavecchia, A., Araki, K., Ahmed, R. 2010. From vaccines to memory and back. *Immunity.*, **33**: 451–63.

Salvadori, S., Gansbacher, B., Pizzimenti, A.M., Zier K,S. 1994. Abnormal signal transduction by T cells of mice with parental tumors is not seen in mice bearing IL-2-secreting tumors. *Immunol.*,**153**(11): 5176-82.

Sanchez, K.M., Sweeney, C.J., Mass, R., Koch, M.O., Eckert, G.J., Geary, W.A., Baldridge, L.A., Zhang, S.B., Eble, J.N., Cheng, L. 2002. Evaluation of HER-2/neu expression in prostatic adenocarcinoma: A request for a standardized, organ specific methodology. *Cancer*, **95**: 1650–55.

Sandoval, J., AND Esteller, M. 2012. Cancer epigenomics: beyond genomics. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.*, **22:** 50–55.

Saxton, M.L., L., W., T., A., K., Leonard, a.s., Ullmann, c.d., Curti, b.d., Ochoa, a.c. 1997. Adoptive transfer of anti-CD3-activated CD4+ T cells plus cyclophosphamide and liposomeencapsulated interleukin-2 cure murine MC-38 and 3LL tumors and establish tumor-specific immunity. *Blood.*, **89**(7): 2529-36.

Schiffman, M., Wacholder, S. 2012. Success of HPV vaccination is now a matter of coverage. *Lancet Oncol.*, **13(1):** 10–2.

Schlichtholz, B., Legros, Y., Gillet, D., Gaillard, C., Marty, M., Lane, D., Calvo, F., Soussi, T. 1992. The immune response to p53 in breast cancer patients is directed against immunodominant epitopes unrelated to the mutational hot spot. *Cancer Res.*, **52**(**22**): 6380-4.
Schoenberger, S. P., Toes, R. E., van der Voort, E. I., Offringa, R. & Melief, C. J. 1998. T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. *Nature*, **393**: 480-3.

Schulz, M., Zinkernagel, R. M. & Hengartner, H. 1991. Peptide-induced antiviral protection by cytotoxic T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U. S. A.*, **88**: 991-3. Schwartzentruber, D.J., Lawson, D.H., Richards, J.M. 2011. Gp100 Peptide Vaccine And Interleukin-2 In Patients With Advanced Melanoma. *N Engl J Med.*, **364** (**22**): 2119-27.

Schwarz, T.F., Horacek, T., Knuf, M. *et al.* 2009. Single dose vaccination with AS03-adjuvanted H5N1 vaccines in a randomized trial induces strong and broad immune responsiveness responsiveness to booster vaccination in adults. *Vaccine.* **27(45):** 6284–90.

Seder, R.A., Hill, A.V. 2000. Vaccines against intracellular infections requiring cellular immunity. *Nature*, **406**: 793–8.

Segal, N.H., Parsons, D.W., Pegs, K.S., Velculescu, V., Kinzler, K.W. *et al.* 2008. Epitope landscape in breast and colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.*, **68**: 889-892.

Seliger, B., Ruiz-Cabello, F., Garrido, F. 2008. IFN inducibility of major histocompatibility antigens in tumors. *Adv Cancer res.*, **101:** 249-276.

Seong SY, Matzinger P. (2004) Hydrophobicity: an ancient damage-associated molecular pattern that initiates innate immune responses. *Nat Rev Immunol*. **4**(**6**):469-78

Serra, P., Amrani, A., Yamanouchi, J. *et al.* 2003. CD40 ligation releases immature dendritic cells from the control of regulatory CD4+ CD25+ T cells. *Immunity.*, **19:** 877–89.

Shahinian, V. B. 2012. Androgen Deprivation For PC. Cancer, 118: 3232–35.

Shankaran, V., Ikeda, H., Bruce, A.T., White, J.M., Swanson, P.E., Old, L.J., and Schreiber, R.D. 2001. IFN and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature*, **410**: 1107–11.

Shariat, S. F., Roehrborn, C. G. 2008. Using biopsy to detect prostate cancer. *Rev Uro.*, **10(4)**: 262-80.

Sharma, S., Kelly, T.K., and Jones, P.A. 2010. *Epigenetics in cancer. Carcinogenesis.*, **31**: 27–36.

Sheikh, N. A., Petrylak, D., Kantoff, P. W., Dela Rosa, C., Stewart, F. P., Kuan, L. Y., & Urdal, D. L. 2013. Sipuleucel-T immune parameters correlate with survival: an analysis of the randomized phase 3 clinical trials in men with castration-resistant prostate cancer. Cancer Immunol. *Immunother.*; **62(1)**: 137-147.

Shen, L., Rock, K.L. 2006. Priming of T cells by exogenous antigen cross-presented on MHC class I molecules. *Curr Opin Immunol.*, **18**(1): 85-91.

Sherr, C.J. 2004. Principles of Tumor Suppression. Cell, 116(2): 235-246.

Shi, Y., Evans, J.E., Rock, K.L. 2003. Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. *Nature*, **425**(**6957**): 516-21.

Sigal, A. & Rotter, V. 2000. Oncogenic mutations of the p53 tumor suppressor: the demons of the guardian of the genome. *Cancer Res.*, **60**: 6788-93.

Sjogren, H.O., Ankerst, J. 1969. Effect of BCG and allogeneic tumor cells on adenovirus type 12 tumorigenesis in mice. *Nature.*, **221(5183):** 863–4.

Slamon, D.J., Dekernion, J.B., Verma, I.M., Cline, M.J. 1984. Expression of cellular oncogenes in human malignancies. *Science*, **224**(**4646**): 256-262.

Small, E.J., Schellhammer, P.F., Higano, C.S., Redfern, C.H., Nemunaitis, J.J., Valone, F.H., Verjee, S.S., Jones, L.A., Hershberg, R.M. 2006 Placebo-controlled phase III trial of immunologic therapy with sipuleucel-T (APC8015) in patients with metastatic, asymptomatic hormone refractory PC. *J Clin Oncol.*, **24**: 3089–94.

Song, S., Pitot, H.C., Lambert, P.F. 1999. The human papillomavirus type 16 E6 gene alone is sufficient to induce carcinomas in transgenic animals. *J Virol.*,**73**(7): 5887-93.

Sotomayor, E. M., Borrello, I., Tubb, E., Rattis, F. M., Bien, H., Lu, Z., Fein, S., Schoenberger, S. & Levitsky, H. I. 1999. Conversion of tumor-specific CD4+ T-cell tolerance to T-cell priming through in vivo ligation of CD40. Nat Med., **5**: 780-7.

Soussi, T. 2000. P53 antibodies in the sera of patients with various types of cancer: a review. *Cancer Res.*, **60**: 1777-88.

Speetjens, F. M., Kuppen, P. J., Welters, M. J., *et al.* 2009. Induction of p53-specific immunity by a p53 synthetic long peptide vaccine in patients treated for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.*, **15**: 1086-95.

Spriggs, M.K., W.C. Panslow, K.J. Armitage, and J. Behnont. 1993. The biology of the human ligand for CD40. J. *Clin. Imraunol.*, **13:** 373.

Stamey, T.A., Yang, N., Hay, A.R., Mcneal, J.E., Freiha, F.S., Redwine, E. 1988. Prostate-specific antigen as a serum marker for adenocarcinoma of the prostate. *J Urol.*, **139(4)**: 766-72.

Stehelin, D., Varmus, H.E., Bishop, J.M., Vogt, P.K. 1976. DNA related to the transforming gene(s) of avian sarcoma viruses is present in normal avian DNA. *Nature*, **260**:170-173.

Steinman, RM. And Cohn, Z.A. 1973. Identification of novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. *J Exp Med.*, **137(5):** 1142–62.

Stratton, M.R., Campbell, P.J., & Futreal P.A. 2009. The cancer genome. *Nature.*, **458**: 719-724.

Stuber, G., Leder, G. H., Storkus, W. T., Lotze, M. T., Modrow, S., Zzekely, L., Wolf, H., Klein, E., Karre, K. & Klein, G. 1994. Identification of wild-type and mutant p53 peptides binding to HLA-A2 assessed by a peptide loading-deficient cell line assay and a novel major histocompatibility complex class I peptide binding assay. *Eur J Immunol.*, **24:** 765-8.

Sun SC, Xiao G. (2003) Deregulation of NF-kappaB and its upstream kinases in cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* **22**(**4**):405-22

Sung-Gil Chi, S.C., White, R.W., Meyers, F.J., Siders, D.B., Lee, F., Gumerlock, P.H. 1994. p53 in Prostate Cancer: Frequent Expressed Transition Mutations. *JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst.*, **86** (12): 926-933.

Suzuki, E., Kapoor, V., Jassar, A.S., Kaiser, L.R., Albelda, S.M. 2005. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1(+)/CD11b(+) myeloid suppressor cells in tumor-bearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. *Clin. Cancer Res.*, **11**: 6713–21.

Svane, I.M., Pedersen, A.E., Johansen, J.S., 2007. Vaccination with p53 peptide-pulsed dendritic cells is associated with disease stabilization in patients with p53 expressing advanced breast cancer; monitoring of serum YKL-40 and IL-6 as response biomarkers. *Cancer Immunol Immunother.*, **56(9)**:1485-99.

Tan, R. 2005. Prostate Cancer: Controversies and Developments in Screening and Treatments. *Aging man's health.* 

Tang, S., Moore, M.L., Grayson, J.M., Dubey, P. 2012. Increased CD8(+) T-cell function following castration and immunization is countered by parallel expansion of regulatory T cells. *Cancer Res.*, **72**: 1975–85.

Thakur, A., Schalk, D., Sarkar, S.H., Al-Khadimi, Z., Sarkar, F.H., Lum, L.G. 2012. A Th1 cytokine-enriched microenvironment enhances tumor killing by activated T cells armed with bispecific antibodies and inhibits the development of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.*, **61**: 497–509.

Thakur, A., Vaishampayan, U., Lum, L. 2013. Immunotherapy and immune evasion in prostate cancer. *Cancer*, **5**(2): 569-590.

The, B.T., Larsson, C., Nordenskjöld, M. 1999. Tumor suppressor genes (TSG). Anticancer Res., 19(6A): 4715-28.

The, B.T., Larsson, C., Nordenskjöld, M. 1999. Tumor suppressor genes (TSG). Anticancer Res. 19(6A):4715-28.

Tien, A.H., Xu, L.X., Helgason, C.D. 2005. Altered immunity accompanies disease progression in a mouse model of prostate dysplasia. *Cancer Res.*, **65**: 2947–55.

Tjoa, B.A., Simmons, S.J., Bowes, V.A. *et al.* 1998. Evaluation of phase I/II clinical trials in prostate cancer with dendritic cells and PSMA peptides. *Prostate*, **36**: 39–44.

Topalian, S. L., F. S. Hodi, J. R. Brahmer, S. N. Gettinger, D. C. Smith, D. F. McDermott, J. D. Powderly, R. D. Carvajal, J. A. Sosman, M. B. Atkins, *et al.* 2012. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **366**: 2443–54.

Topalian, S. L., M. Sznol, D. F. McDermott, H. M. Kluger, R. D. Carvajal, W. H. Sharfman, J. R. Brahmer, D. P. Lawrence, M. B. Atkins, J. D. Powderly, et al. 2014. Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **32**: 1020–1030.

Tomlins, S. A., Aubin, S. M. J., Siddiqui, J., *et al.* 2011. Urine TMPRSS2:ERG Fusion Transcript Stratifies Prostate Cancer Risk in Men with Elevated Serum PSA. *Sci Transl Med.*, **3(94)**: 94ra72.

Townsend, S.E., Allison, J.P. 1993. Tumor rejection after direct costimulation of CD8+ T cells by B7-transfected melanoma cells. *Science*, **259**(**5093**): 368-70.

Toyoshima, S. 1983. Mammary Carcinoma With Argyrophil Cells. Cancer., 52: 2129-38.

Trombetta, E.S. 2005. Cell biology of antigen processing invitro and in vivo. *Annu Rev Immunol.*, 23: 975-1028.

Tse, B., Jovanovic, L., Nelson, C., Souza, P., Power, C., Rissell, P. 2014. From bench to bedside: immunotherapy for prostate cancer. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/981434</u>.

Vacchelli, E., Galluzzi, L., Eggermont, A. *et al.* 2012. Trial watch: FDA-approved toll-like receptor agonists for cancer therapy. *OncoImmunol.*, **1(6)**: 894–907.

Valmori, D., Dutoit, V., Liénard, D., Rimoldi, D., Pittet, M.J., Champagne, P., Ellefsen, K., Sahin, U., Speiser, D., Lejeune, F., Cerottini, J.C., Romero, P. 2000. Naturally occurring human lymphocyte antigen-A2 restricted CD8+ T-cell response to the cancer testis antigen NY-ESO-1 in melanoma patients. *Cancer Res.*, **60**(16):4499-506.

Van den Eertwegh, A.J.M., Versluis, J., van den Berg, H.P. et al. 2012. Combined immunotherapy with granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-transduced allogeneic

prostate cancer cells and ipilimumab in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: A phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *Lancet Oncol.*, **13**: 509–517.

Van der Burg, S.H., Menon, A. G., Redeker, A. *et al.* 2002. Induction of p53-specific immune responses in colorectal cancer patients receiving a recombinant ALVAC-p53 candidate vaccine. *Cli Cancer Res.*, **8**(5): 1019–27.

van Kaer, L., Parekh, V.V., Wu, L. 2011. Invariant natural killer T cells: bridging innate and adaptive immunity. *Cell Tissue Res.*, **343**(1): 43-55.

van Kooten, C. & Banchereau, J. 2000. CD40-CD40 ligand. J Leukoc Biol., 67(1): 2-17.

Vandepapeliere, P., Horsmans, Y., Moris, P. *et al.* 2008. Vaccine adjuvant systems containing monophosphoryl lipid A and QS21induce strong and persistent humoral and T cell responses against hepatitis B surface antigen in healthy adult volunteers. *Vaccine*, **26(10)**: 1375–86.

Verma, S., Turkbey, B., Muradyan, N., Rajesh, A., Cornud, F., Haider, M. A., Choyke, P. L., Harisinghani, M. 2012. Overview of dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI in prostate cancer diagnosis and management. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.*, **198**(6):1277-88.

Vermeij, R., Leffers, N., Hoogeboom, B.N. *et al.* 2012. Potentiation of a p53-SLP vaccine by cyclophosphamide in ovarian cancer: a single-arm phase II study. *Int. J. Cancer.*, **131:** E670–E680.

Vermeij, R., Leffers, N., van der Burg, S. H., Melief, C. J., Daemen, T. & Nijman, H. W. 2011. Immunological and clinical effects of vaccines targeting p53-overexpressing malignancies. *J Biomed Biotechnol.*, **70**: 21-46.

Vernau, W. *et al.* 1999. An immunophenotypic study of canine leukemias and preliminary assessment of clonality by polymerase chain reaction. *Veterinary Immunol. and Immunopathol.*, **69:** 145-164.

Viatte, S., Pedro, M. A. and Romero, P. 2006. Reverse immunology approach for the identification of CD8 T-cell-defined antigens: Advantages and hurdles. *Immunol and Cell Biol.*, **84:** 318–330.

Vierboom, M.P., Zwaveling, S., Bos, G. M. J., Ooms, M., Krietemeijer, G.M., Melief, C. J., Offringa, R. 2000. High steady-state levels of p53 are not a prerequisite for tumor eradication by wild-type p53-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Cancer Res.*, **60**(19): 5508-13.

Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K.W. 2004. Cancer genes and the pathways they control. *Nature Med.*, **10**: 789 – 799.

Vogelstein, B. & Kinzler, K.W. 2004. Cancer genes and the pathways they control. *Nature Med.*, **10**: 789 – 799.

Vogelstein, B., Lane, D. & Levine, A. J. 2000. Surfing the p53 network. Nature., 408: 307-10.

Vonderheide RH. Prospect of targeting the CD40 pathway for cancer therapy. 2007.*Clin Cancer Res.*, **13**:1083–8.

Vonderheide, R. H. & Glennie, M. J. 2013. Agonistic CD40 antibodies and cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res.*, **19**: 1035-43.

Vuk-Pavlovic, S., Bulur, P.A., Lin, Y., Qin, R., Szumlanski, C.L., Zhao, X.H., Dietz, A.B. 2010. Immunosuppressive CD14(+)HLA-DRlow/-monocytes in prostate cancer. *Prostate*, **70**: 443–455.

Wada, S., Yoshimura, K., Hipkiss, E.L. *et al.* 2009. Cyclophosphamide augments antitumor immunity: Studies in an autochthonous prostate cancer model. *Cancer Res.*, **69**: 4309–18.

Wahda, M., AL- Nuaimy, W.M., Al-Allaf, L.I., Alnaimi, H.A. 2011. P53 Expression in Prostatic Cancer: An Immunohistochemical Study. *J Med J.*, **45** (1): 85-94. Walter, S., Weinschenk, T., Stenzl, A. *et al.* 2012. Multipeptide immune response to cancer vaccine IMA901 after single-dose cyclophosphamide associates with longer patient survival. *Nat Med.*, **18**: 1254–61.

Wang, W., Cheng, B., Miao, L., Mei, Y. & Wu, M. 2013. Mutant p53-R273H gains new function in sustained activation of EGFR signaling via suppressing miR-27a expression. *Cell Death Dis.*, **4**: e574.

Wang, Y., Helland, A., Holm, R., Skomedal, H., Abeler, V.M., Danielsen, H.E., Trope, C.G., Borresen-Dale, A.L., Kristensen, G.B. 2004a. TP53 mutations in early-stage ovarian carcinoma, relation to long-term survival. *Br J Cancer*, **90**:678–685.

Weinberg, R.A. 2007. The biology of Cancer.

Weinstein, I.b. 2000. Disorders in cell circuitry during multi stage carcinogenesis: the role of homeostasis. *Carcinogenesis*, **21** (5): 857-864.

Wolf, A.M., Wolf, D., Steurer, M., Gastl, G., Gunsilius, E., Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. 2003. Increase of regulatory T cells in the peripheral blood of cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res.*, **9(2):**606-12.

Wolf, G.T., Fee, W.L., JR, Dolan, R.W. *et al.* 2011. Novel neoadjuvant immunotherapy regimen safety and survival in head and neck squamous cell cancer. *Head Neck.*, **33(12)**: 1666–74.

Wong, K. B., Dedecker, B. S., Freund, S. M., Proctor, M. R., Bycroft, M. & Fersht, A. R. 1999. Hot-spot mutants of p53 core domain evince characteristic local structural changes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.*, **96:** 8438-42.

Wong, M., Gruber, J. 1994. Viral interactions with the p53 gene in human cancer: NCI workshop. *J Natl Cancer Inst.*, **86:** 177-181.

Wyllie, A.H., Kerr J.F.R., Currie, A.R. 1980. Cell Death: The Significance of Apoptosis. Int. *Review of Cyto.*, **68**: 251-306.

Yamada, A., Sasada, T., Noguchi, M., And itoh, K. 2013. Next-generation peptide vaccines for advanced cancer. *Cancer Sci.*, **104(1)**: 15-21.

Yokokawa, J., Cereda, V., Remondo, C., Gulley, J.L., Arlen, P.M., Schlom, J., Tsang, K.Y. 2008. Enhanced functionality of CD4+CD25(high)FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in the peripheral blood of patients with prostate cancer. *CLin Cancer Res.*,**14**(**4**): 1032-40.

Young, L.S., Eliopoulos, A.G., Gallagher, N.J., Dawson, C.W. 1998. CD40 and epithelial cells: across the great divide. *Immunol Today.*, **19(11):** 502–6.

Zbar, B., Tanaka, T. 1971. Immunotherapy of cancer: regression of tumors after intralesional injection of living Mycobacterium bovis. *Science*, **172(3980)**: 271–3.

Zhang, W., Caspell, R., Karulin, A.Y., *et al.* 2009. ELISPOT assays provide reproducible results among different laboratories for T-cell immune monitoring – even in hands of ELISPOT-inexperienced investigators. J. *Immunotoxico.*, **6**: 227-34.

Zingde, S. 2001. Cancer Genes. Current Science, 81: 508-14.

### Websites

http://globocan.iarc.fr/pages/fact\_sheets\_cancer.aspx

www.who.int/cancer/en

http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic-art/101396/58074/Cancer-causing-retroviruses www.bio.utexas.edu

www.bladdercontrol.com

http://www.nhsinform.co.uk/Health-Library/Articles/C/cancer-of-the-prostate/staging http://www.pcf.org/site/c.leJRIROrEpH/b.5835079/k.FF5F/Staging\_the\_Disease.htm

http://p53.free.fr

http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/Therapy/cancer-vaccines

http://www.perkinelmer.co.uk/resources/

http://www.nhsinform.co.uk/Health-Library/Articles/C/cancer-of-the-prostate/staging

http://www.fda.gov/downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/CellularGeneTherapyProducts/ApprovedProducts/UCM214543.pdf

http://www.clinicaltrial.sgov

www.cancerresearchuk.org

mcb.berkeley.edu/courses/mcb150/Lecture16/Lecture16(6).pdf

## **Appendix I**

# Two mutants of p53 possess the potential of altering phenotype and genotypes of same cells

SaOS Empty Vector SaOS p53-175 SaOS p53-273

Figure II (a). Difference in the cell morphology after transfection with p53-175 and p53-273 mutants. SaOS cell line was transfected with pBR322 plasmid containing empty vector and/or p53-175 mutant and/or p53-273 mutant gene. Cells were cultured using under same conditions using G418 antibiotic (1  $\mu$ g/mL) for selection of plasmid. The images were taken under 10x, 20x and 40x magnification suing inverted microscope.

Rate of cells proliferation changes after transfection with p53 mutants p53-175 and 273 when assessed with MTT assay and (<sup>3</sup>H) incorporation proliferation assay and manual cell count using trypan blue



Figure II(b). SaOS cell proliferation after transfection with pBR322- empty vector and/or pBR322-p53 175 mutant and/or pBR322-p53 273 mutant. Graph (A) shows the difference in the rate of proliferation assessed using thymidine (<sup>3</sup>H) incorporation assay on d 3, d5 and d 7. Graph (B) shows the difference in the absorption of (dye) by SaOS cells transfected with pBR322-empty vector and /or pBR322-p53-175 mutant and/or pBR322-p53-273 mutant when assessed using MTT proliferation assay on d 3, d5 and d 7. Graph (C) shows the number of cells in the 24 well plate when counted using trypan blue in 1:100 ratio on d1, 2, 3, 4, and 5. Comparisons of means (±SEM) between transfected SaOS osteosarcoma cell lines (aOS- empty vector, SaOS-p53-175, and SaOSp63-273) are made with a paired t test. The experiments performed 3 times with 3 triplicates for each cell line.

# Appendix II

### DC maturation using LPS and anti-CD-40 antibody



Figure.Maturation of DCs using anti-CD-40 antibody and LPS. DCs were cultured and matured using LPS and were compared with the ones matured with anti-CD-40 antibody. The maturation was assessed on the basis of the expression CD11c marker expression.

### **Appendix III**



#### Assessment of immune response obtained from the mice fed on different diet

**Figure IV. Immune response obtained from mice fed on different diets.** HHDII/DR1 mice were divided into two groups. First group was fed non-irradiated conventional diet whereas the second group was maintained on irradiated diet. Both the groups of mice received same peptide immunisation ie. p53-108 class II peptide in IFA. *IFNy* response was assessed using ELISpot assay in vitro. The two groups showed different intensities of the immune responses (i) and (iii) with the only variable being food in their housing and maintenance.the ELISpot plate picture is shown in (ii) which shows the clear differences in the IFNg spots obtained form the mice fed on conventional (no-irradiated) or barrier facility (irradiated)diet. All the mice were housed and maintained according to the Home office regulations.the experiment was repeated and similar results were obtained.

Depending on these results obtained diet for all the mice in barrier facility was permanently changed to non-irradiated diet.